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DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors
(the “Directors”, and each a “Director”) of Contel
Technology Company Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the results for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025.

The past fifteen months have been marked by a dynamic
and evolving global semiconductor landscape. Following
a period of inventory correction, the industry has begun
a clear recovery, spurred by rapid advancements in
Artificial Intelligence (Al) which have catalyzed a new
upgrade cycle in consumer electronics. Concurrently, the
sustained momentum in new energy vehicles, industrial
automation, and high-efficiency power applications
has created robust demand for high-performance
semiconductor solutions.

To capitalize on these opportunities, we will continue to
pursue our strategic priorities: enhancing our product
offerings, strengthening our technological capabilities,
optimizing our operational efficiency, and deepening
our customer relationships. We remain committed to
our research and development efforts, ensuring that
our solutions stay at the forefront of technological
advancement.

Throughout this period, we have maintained our
commitment to strengthening our supply chain resilience.
By forging deeper relationships with key suppliers and
diversifying our sourcing channels, we have enhanced
our ability to meet customer demands even amid
ongoing global supply challenges. This approach has
been crucial in supporting our business growth while
managing costs effectively.

As we move forward, we will further expand our
presence in high-growth sectors while maintaining our
strong foundation in established markets. Our diversified
business model, combined with our agile approach
to market developments, positions us well to navigate
potential challenges and seize emerging opportunities.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERKE

The Group is well-positioned to capitalize on
these trends. We will continue to invest in our core
competencies, focusing on the high-growth areas of
mobile intelligence and advanced motor control. Our
commitment is to drive innovation, enhance operational
efficiency, and build a diversified and resilient business
that can navigate market cycles and deliver sustainable,
long-term value to you, our shareholders.

APPRECIATION

| would like to extend my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, customers, and business partners for
their continued trust and support. | also wish to thank
our dedicated management team and all our employees
for their hard work and commitment during this pivotal
period. We are confident in our strategy and look forward
to achieving greater success in the year ahead.

LAM KEUNG
Chairman
30 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB 5T 5w K 5

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December

2025 2023  Changes
B F2025%F  H E2023F
3A318 L 12A31H
+Ea{ER FE S E
UsD’000 USD’000
FET FET
Key financial information TEMHBER
Revenue WA 76,963 66,316 16.1%
Gross profit EH 2,072 2,934 (29.4%)
Loss for the year attributable to KAREB A
the owners of the Company BLHEEERE (12,134) (9,749) (24.5%)
As at/
fifteen As at/
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023  Changes
#2025 R 2023%F
3318,/  12A31B/
sEzZB B E%H
IE+HEA EFE 2E
UsD’000 USsSD’'000
FEIT FET
Total assets BE®E 42,056 54,189 (22.4%)
Total liabilities BERH 30,750 31,592 (2.7%)
Cash and cash equivalents BekReEED 3,682 2,536 45.2%
Total equity B 11,306 22,597 (50.0%)
Key financial ratios TEMBILE
Gross profit margin EH = 2.7% 4.4% (1.7%)
Net loss margin FEHEE (15.8%) (14.7%) 1.1%
Basic and diluted loss per share BREAREE
(HK cents) BB (B (8.56) (6.88) (24.4%)

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 FH
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E IR E et & 5 T

OVERVIEW

The Group primarily engages in the sourcing and sale
of integrated circuit (“ICs”) products and the provisions
of ICs application solutions and value-added services to
suit the needs of our customers. Our business focuses
on fast-growing and emerging market categories, with
an emphasis on providing environmentally-friendly and
energy-saving solutions.

CHANGE OF FINANCIAL YEAR END
DATE

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
8 November 2024, the Board resolved to change
the financial year end date of the Company from
31 December to 31 March. Accordingly, the next
financial year end date of the Company following the
change would be 31 March 2025 and the next audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group to
be published would cover the period of 15 months
commencing on 1 January 2024 and ended on 31 March
2025.

Please refer to the above-mentioned announcement for
details.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS MODEL

We primarily engage in sourcing and sale of IC products
and the provisions of IC application solutions and
value-added services to suit the needs of our customers.
We cater to customers in the consumer and industrial
product sectors who require additional support and
value-added services in addition to standardised
products and logistics services. To help our customers
attain their desired product requirements and functions,
we assist our customers in selecting and sourcing
the most appropriate ICs, and provide IC application
solutions to suit the needs of our customers. This
includes providing the circuitry design and transferring
and fitting the circuitry layout onto printed circuit boards
("PCB”), designing appropriate software where needed,
developing prototype evaluation boards, sourcing and
suggesting the specific brands of ICs required, and
then producing reference designs according to the
customers’ requirements or specifications. We sell to
our customers the ICs that we sourced together with
our reference designs. Our customers then assemble
the relevant parts of their products according to
our reference designs. We also provide after-sales
support and troubleshooting services to help solve our
customers’ problems if there are any technical issues
with the end products.

We do not charge a separate fee for our provisions
of IC application solutions and value-added services
rendered. We derive our revenue from charging a
“mark-up” or a “margin” on top of the ICs that we re-sell
to our customers. This “mark-up” or “margin” factors in,
among others, the cost of our value-added services.
We base our pricing strategy according to a range of
factors, including, but not limited to, the costs of the ICs,
market conditions, market recognition of our customer,
the purchase volume of our customer, technical
requirements of the application solutions and resources
involved.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E IR E et & 5 T

We provide IC application solutions and
value-added services to cater to our customers’
specific needs

We source and sell IC products to our customers and
provide IC application solutions and value-added
services to suit the needs of our customers. Leveraging
on our extensive expertise and knowledge of our various
business categories, we provide value-added services,
including concept consultation, technology feasibility
studies and after sales support to our customers.

Our Directors believe that our innate understanding of
our customers’ requirements and our familiarity with our
suppliers’ IC products enable us to assist our customers
in choosing the most suitable ICs and technology for
their application. We believe that our in-depth knowledge
of our suppliers’ products gained from our direct training
from our IC suppliers aids us in providing genuine
value-added services, such as being able to advise our
customers of the character traits of specific products,
and of certain issues to look out for during production.
We believe that our customers value our capability in
providing IC application solutions and value-added
services that can suit their needs and help to bring their
product manufacturing costs down and to shorten their
design time and efforts.

As an example of the tangible value we add, we assist
in the design of PCB layouts for better Electromagnetic
Interference (EMI) performance. Effective EMI shielding
is critical to prevent signal damage and ensure
system functionality. By helping to optimize the PCB
layout, including the use of ground planes and proper
component shielding, we contribute to the overall
reliability and performance of our customers’ final
products. This level of in-depth technical assistance
distinguishes us from competitors who may only offer
standard products.

1 0 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As part of our commitment to provide value-added
services, we also provide after-sales on-site support
to our customers to ensure that our IC application
solutions effectively bring out the specific functions and
features of our customers’ end products. Our Directors
believe that our ability to provide IC application solutions
bundled with the most suitable ICs, together with our
value-added services to our customers distinguish us
from our competitors. We believe that our provisions of
IC application solutions and value-added after-sales
services enable our customers to bring out the most of
their end products.

We provide essential feedback and contribute
to our IC manufacturer suppliers’ IC product
roadmaps which ultimately facilitate the sales
of our ICs and provision of our IC application
solutions

Our Directors consider that we play a key role in
contributing to our IC manufacturer suppliers’ IC product
roadmaps. Product roadmaps are the strategies in which
manufacturers plan to develop their IC products. In the
course of conceptualising and providing IC application
solutions to our customers, we collate detailed feedback
from our customers on our application solutions and
on the ICs. We make note of the limitations, flaws
and insufficiencies of the ICs, and ensure that such
feedback and comments are communicated to our IC
manufacturer suppliers. Our Directors consider that our
team’s technical expertise, coupled with our in-depth
knowledge of our supplier’s IC products and their
capabilities, allows us to provide specific, technical and
constructive feedback to our IC manufacturer suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E IR E et & 5 T

QOur IC manufacturer suppliers take, among others,
our feedback and suggestions into account and where
suitable, integrate them into the next generation of their
IC products by modifying or improving certain technical
specifications and functions in the ICs. We believe this
process helps our IC manufacturer suppliers to, over
time, manufacture ICs that are more focused towards
satisfying the needs of our customers and the market.
We believe that the availability of these next generation
ICs with modified or improved features allows us to
provide even more focused and enhanced IC application
solutions to our customers. We believe this also benefits
our customers in obtaining ICs that are more closely
suited to their needs and specifications. We believe
that such customers are more likely to return to us to
purchase more of such ICs, resulting in more sales for
our suppliers, and bringing about a virtuous cycle.

We adopt a market-oriented approach with a
responsive business model supported by our
own desigh and research and development
(“R&D’’) capabilities

The industrial electronics industry is fast-paced, and
products are constantly being phased out and replaced
either by newer models and/or newer technology. In
order to stand out from the competition, we strive to
provide fast and technically sophisticated services
to our customers. To stay on the pulse of the market
and to keep abreast of the latest trends, we adopt a
market-oriented approach with a responsive business
model that is focused on application development.
We regularly meet with our suppliers to learn about
their newest products. We also regularly meet with our
customers to keep abreast of the latest market demands,
and we have discussions with our suppliers regularly
to keep apprised on the latest technology on offer. We
believe that working closely with both our suppliers and
customers helps us anticipate market trends, leading to
mutual growth and benefit of our suppliers, customers
and our Group.

1 2 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

QOur design and R&D functions are carried out as a
group effort in close collaboration between our different
teams. We have our own in-house design and R&D team,
the members of which are experienced.

Our Directors believe that our design and R&D team
plays an important role in bridging the functionality gap
between our suppliers’ products and our customers
end product requirements. Our design and R&D team
works closely with our sales and marketing teams to
understand the specific needs of our customers, and
leveraging on our in-depth knowledge of our suppliers’
products as well as their latest product and technology
updates.

From time to time, some of our IC manufacturer suppliers
had referred customers to us. We believe that such
referrals will continue in the future. Further, we believe
that by incorporating our suppliers’ products in our IC
application solutions for our customers’ end products,
we serve a dual purpose of facilitating our suppliers’
demand for customers and developing distribution
channels for them which they would not normally be able
to accommodate on their own.

We believe that, by maintaining a close-knit relationship
with our suppliers, we are able to anticipate future trends
and cycles of the market and to obtain the latest product
and technology information. We believe that we are able
to capitalise on such market intelligence and to assist
our suppliers and customers in determining a particular
product or business category’s feasibility which we
believe is valuable product roadmap information to both
our suppliers and customers.

EEE R RS

HAPIE R AT AT B BB B B R A B X
ZERE LA AN TR TS S BTT ©
HPMEEECH AR EBRE - KE
BHRBELEERLR -

EXERR RMANRKRHAEESRERMARE
EHERNERRTEPRMEMBRZE
NEEZRPHEZBEEER - RFIWERE
MEERREEMNEEREHBRRRAR
DatERTHREFMNARS R THARK
MEftERERRESTERARME
TR AT BR

ZMME TICRE RS K[ 3
BNEP - HARAZRFENETESNK
KRBT o Wo HPIRR - BEBR
PEEENERESIRMA/TPHNKR
EmEHNICERABARTES - HFAMK
—BWE - ARERMNHERREEP
MER bR MREES S BT ELRE
HEDHRE

BB F B RE M RS E
BEOBIE BRI TR R A 8 %
KA - LIRS BHNESR RN A -
BNRARMENHARSHBBEL
1589 70 1P 6 8 R 5 P A 2
EHBAMATHE - BNBHERYRA
R RE P A B ENERE R E A
G

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 FH

13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E IR E et & 5 T

We have an experienced management team with
industrial knowledge and technical knowhow

We believe that our management team members are
crucial to our continued success. Our management
team comprises members with experience and
specialist knowledge and professional skills to deliver
IC application solutions services to our customers.
We believe that through the active involvement in our
Group’s day-to-day operations, our management team
has developed an in-depth knowledge of the technology
and industrial markets, which has been one of the key
factors to our success.

OUR BUSINESS STRATEGIES

We aim to strengthen our market position within the IC
application solutions industry by increasing our market
share and enhancing the quality of our services. We
believe that this will bring sustainable growth to our
business and create long-term value in our Group for our
Shareholders.

Our Group aims to achieve the abovementioned
objectives through the following principal business
strategies:

Seeking and establishing further authorised
distributorship relationships with our current
and new suppliers

QOur suppliers are either IC manufacturers or IC
distributors.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We believe that most IC manufacturers have stringent
requirements in selecting their authorised distributors.
We believe that an authorised distributorship status
serves as a recognition of our value and capabilities.
Such status is also accompanied by palpable
advantages highly valued by the authorised distributor,
namely customer referrals. It is a known industry
practice that IC manufacturers may from time to time
refer ultimate customers to its authorised distributors,
and such referrals by the IC manufacturers are only
limited to their authorised distributors. We believe
that such referrals are made by the IC manufacturers
in recognition and in confidence of the value and
capabilities, in particular the capability in providing IC
application solutions to suit the needs of our customers,
of the authorised distributor. Furthermore, an authorised
distributor of recognised brand names enjoys the
benefits of enhanced visibility and profile in the industry,
which our Directors believe has a positive impact on new
business generation.

Our Directors confirm that, during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2025, we received invitations from not
less than four of our suppliers to become their authorised
non-exclusive distributors. We believe this to be a
testament towards the confidence of our suppliers in
us and their satisfaction with our value-added services
in providing IC application solutions to suit the needs
of our customers. Our Directors consider that our IC
manufacturers wish to engage us as their authorised
non-exclusive distributor due to our ability to offer both
distribution and services in customising IC application
solutions simultaneously.
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This strategic focus is the cornerstone of our future
growth. Achieving authorized distributorship is a formal
recognition of our technical expertise and the value-
added services we provide. It is a testament to the trust
and confidence our suppliers place in our ability to
extend their market reach effectively. This official status
is pivotal, transforming our supplier relationships into
strategic alliances that are fundamental to mitigating risk
and reinforcing our role as a critical partner in the value
chain. By strengthening these partnerships, we ensure a
more stable and reliable supply chain, which is essential
for meeting production deadlines and maintaining a
competitive edge.

An authorized distributorship provides a multitude of
strategic advantages that directly address the evolving
needs of our customers and the market. This formal
endorsement by IC manufacturers enhances our
capabilities, secures our position, and ensures that we
continue to offer unparalleled value. The benefits derived
from these relationships are manifold, directly supporting
our mission to provide innovative and effective IC
application solutions.

To the best knowledge of our Directors, it is an
industry norm that only authorised distributors of IC
manufacturer suppliers are able to purchase ICs directly
from IC manufacturer suppliers in general. All other
non-authorised distributors and customers are generally
required to purchase ICs from authorised distributors
of IC manufacturer suppliers. Our IC manufacturer
suppliers include renowned manufacturers which
specialise in ICs for applications in specific sectors.

Benefits of being an authorised distributor of IC
manufacturer suppliers

As an authorised distributor of our IC manufacturer
suppliers, we believe we have benefited and will
continue to benefit from (i) having more customer
referrals from our IC manufacturer suppliers which
increase our overall business volume; (ii) having direct
access to the IC manufacturers, which our Directors
consider would increase our customers’ confidence
in the authenticity and quality of our products; (iii)
enhancing our opportunities in receiving regular
first-hand training from our suppliers on their latest
products; and (iv) giving us better net unit purchase
prices for ICs from our IC manufacturer suppliers by
removing the middle man.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

We believe that our status as the authorised distributors
of these suppliers serves as a testament of our technical
capability, the quality of our services provided and our
reputation and goodwill within the industry.

We believe that most IC manufacturers, in particular
those of international renown, have stringent
requirements in selecting their authorised distributors.
An authorised distributorship status comes with certain
benefits, for instance, we have the privilege of receiving
regular first-hand training from our suppliers on their
latest products which helps to increase our familiarity
and knowledge of our suppliers’ IC products, and
therefore enhance our capabilities when providing IC
application solutions for our customers. As an authorised
distributor, we also benefit from more customer referrals
from the IC manufacturer suppliers. From time to time,
we received customer referrals from our IC manufacturer
suppliers. We believe that it is a market practice that
most IC manufacturers would only refer customers, if
considered appropriate and suitable, to their authorised
distributors. We believe that this provides our customers
with security and peace of mind in the knowledge that
they are trading with an entity who has an official seal
of approval from the IC manufacturer. In addition, our
status as authorised distributors or value-added resellers
provides us with an official channel to communicate
feedback to our suppliers, who, as large-scaled
corporate entities with global presence, would normally
be too distant for end customers to reach. We believe
our suppliers are able to benefit from such feedback
and effectively develop next-generation products to
suit customer needs. We believe that this positive cycle
further strengthens our relationship with our suppliers.

RECENT DEVELOPMENT

Subsequent to the our listing date and up to the date of
this annual report, there was no change to our business
model, revenue stream and cost structure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERET RS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group sources and sells ICs products, focusing
on the consumer and industrial product sectors. We
also provide ICs application solutions and value-added
services to suit the needs of our customers. While our

% 5 [0 BA

AEERBMEEICER  AIENHER
MIZEEMBR - HFTIEHRICER R
RAEIIEERBARREPL TR - #R
BAMNERBATRABRBZEANETE

application solutions can be utilised in a wide range of &% @ B Fﬁﬁ**TﬁlJﬂﬁﬁcﬁ:%ﬁ Al (i)
electronic products, we specialise in the following five @7@] SEREEE  (IBHEIZES (i) E
major product categories: (i) mobile devices and smart  RXES & B B)IEH) : (iv) LEDERAA : K (v) 5758
charging; (ii) motor control; (iii) sensors and automation; BIR

(iv) LED lighting; and (v) RF power.

Breakdown of our revenue generated by product
category for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025
and year ended 31 December 2023 is set forth below:

H E2025F3A3IHIE+TEBARE =
2023F12A31B I FERERERE A
W AR S T

Fifteen months ended Year ended
31 March 2025 31 December 2023
# F£202563A31H & =2023%F12H318
IF+#H@EAR HFEE
UsD’000 %  USD'000 %
FET % FET %
Mobile devices and smart RERERESETE

charging 44,231 575 32,271 48.7
Motor control = 29,253 38.0 26,612 40.1
Sensors and automation BRE LB 1,334 1.7 5,110 7.7
LED lighting LED & #H 810 1.1 1,146 1.7
RF power 5158 B R 1,335 1.7 1,177 1.8
Total revenue LU A 76,963 100 66,316 100

As a stable supplier of sourcing and sale of IC products
and the provisions of ICs application, the Group’s results
were challenged by the contraction in industry demand
in 2024 and 1st quarter of 2025. However, the Group
has been proactive in addressing market challenges
and continues to explore new growth areas to build up
strength for future development.

During the past financial year, the IC industry navigated
a uniquely challenging economic environment, a period
characterized by significant shifts and increased
competitive intensity. While our gross profit and gross
profit margin reflect these broader market dynamics, we
view this as a testament to our strategic resilience and a
foundation for sustained, robust growth.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The semiconductor industry, in its entirety, has
experienced a period of adjustment. Following a decline
in 2023, the global semiconductor sales rebounded
in 2024, yet certain sectors continue to grapple with
investment downturns, demonstrating that the challenges
we faced were not isolated but systemic across the
industry. This widespread trend indicates a collective
recalibration, rather than a specific issue with our
operational efficiency or market position.

Despite these headwinds, our focus remains steadfast
on long-term value creation. We have proactively
responded to the market’'s demands by optimizing
our operational expenditures and doubling down
on research and development. This period of lower
gross profit and gross profit margin has allowed us to
reinforce our foundational strengths: enhancing supply
chain resilience, streamlining internal processes, and
fostering a culture of agile adaptation. We believe that by
navigating these industrywide pressures and embracing
the competitive environment, we are not just weathering
the storm but emerging stronger, more efficient, and
better prepared to seize the significant opportunities that
lie ahead in the evolving semiconductor landscape.

Mobile devices and smart charging

The mobile devices category focuses on products
utilising low power radio frequency connectivity and
signal transmissions. ICs in the mobile devices category
are antennae-centric products, which enable and
improve the wireless functions (such as 2G/3G/4G/
LTE/5G and wifi connectivity) of the antennae of cars,
mobile phones and tablets, smart watches and other
wifi-enabled devices. The Group assist customers in
developing the application solutions for such ICs to
match their product requirements and restrictions.
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This can logically organized into a robust,
hardware-based security and connectivity solutions
for an increasingly interconnected world. This
includes families of security controllers used in
payment systems, government IDs, and device
authentication as well as the portfolio of Wi-Fi and
Bluetooth modules for loT connectivity and a range of
general-purpose microcontrollers for consumer and
industrial applications. A comprehensive range of SoCs
for the consumer market, from high-performance 5G
smartphones to smart wearables. Low-power wide-area
(LPWA) technologies such as NarrowBand-loT (NB-loT)
and 4G/LTE Cat.1bis are specifically engineered
to support the massive scale of low-bandwidth,
long-battery-life applications that define the modern loT
landscape, from smart cities to smart agriculture.

Smart charging is a power management technology
used in smart devices such as smart phones, computers
and battery packs to provide shorter charging times for
these devices. By utilising smart charging ICs, smart
devices boost the level of power to be delivered and
thus charge the batteries of the smart devices at faster
speeds, thereby shortening the overall charging time.

Smart charging ICs also gauge various attributes of the
batteries, such as the levels of charge and the thermal
conditions of the batteries, and reduce the level of power
delivered to the batteries when they are nearly full or
getting overheated. They are the power management
and high-frequency components for a broad array of
applications, from consumer electronics to industrial
systems and high-reliability markets. Its portfolio is
headlined by the renowned silicon and Gallium Nitride
power transistors, which set industry benchmarks for
efficiency and power density. It also includes power
management ICs (PMICs) and a wide range of sensors,
such as MEMS microphones and pressure sensors,
that are integral to modern consumer and loT devices.
A vast portfolio of converters and controllers that form
the fundamental building blocks of any modern power
supply. This includes a wide variety of buck (step-down),
boost (step-up), and flyback regulators designed to meet
different voltage, current, and efficiency requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Motor control

Motor control ICs are used in modern motors where
the speed and torque of the moveable parts of a
machine need to be controlled. These motor control
applications can be applied to a wide array of devices,
from household items such as fans, to heavy industrial
equipment such as forklifts and robots. Motor control
application solutions are mainly focused on the ICs used
on variable-frequency drive (“VFDs”). VFDs are a type
of motor controller that controls the speed and torque of
an electric motor by varying the frequency and voltage of
its power supply. By using VFDs, motors are able to save
energy, control performance, reduce noise levels of the
motor, and improve the lifespan of machines.

Customers of the motor control category are generally
manufacturers of motors. Motor control solutions of the
Group include applications for the controls of ceiling
and vertical fans, electronically commutated fans,
air-conditioning systems, electric cars and bikes, robotic
arms, pumps, washing machines, compressors, sewing
machines, industrial power tools such as electric picks,
and medical power tools such as drills.
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It is at the forefront of the energy transition, providing
products for the efficient generation, transmission, and
use of electrical energy. Its portfolio includes high-power
semiconductors such as IGBT modules, silicon
carbide (SiC) devices, and diodes, which are critical
components in solar and wind energy systems, industrial
motor drives, energy storage systems, and the rapidly
expanding EV charging infrastructure.

Sensors and automation

Sensors are used to detect changes or events in the
environment. When the sensor detects a change,
it provides a corresponding output to the device to
meet requirements of data and signal transmission,
processing, storage, display, recording and control of
information. There are many kinds of sensors, which are
used to measure, among other things, force, distance,
temperature, sound, light, electrical currents, magnetic
fields.

Our application solutions for sensor ICs are coupled
together with automation solutions that assist the
customer’s product in automatically detecting and
reacting to various circumstantial changes in the
environment. The Group provides application solutions
for our radar sensors to be used on (i) automobile
vehicles to assist drivers with parking and provide
auto-drive functions; (ii) unmanned aerial drones in
maintaining stability of flight and avoiding obstacles;
(iii) security systems that link with videos to detect,
recognise and track moving objects; (iv) traffic
monitoring systems to measure speed of moving vehicles
and to monitor traffic congestion; and (v) smart lighting
systems that have motion sensing. We also provide
application solutions for pressure sensors to be used in
smart phones and smart watches for detecting altitude.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

It is a complete suite of solutions for the modern
vehicle, from powertrain and safety systems to comfort
electronics and security. Key product families include
microcontrollers, a wide range of power semiconductors
like MOSFETs and IGBTs for electric vehicle (EV)
inverters and power distribution, and the comprehensive
family of sensors (radar, magnetic, pressure) that are
fundamental to Advanced Driver-Assistance Systems
(ADAS) and in-cabin monitoring.

LED lighting

LED lighting systems utilise LEDs, or light emitting
diodes, to provide energy efficient, aesthetic and
long-life lighting solutions. LED lighting solutions are
cost-effective and have a wide range of applications and
can be used indoors, outdoors, and for special lighting
effects, such as spot-lights or stage lighting.

An LED lamp or bulb is typically comprised of several
components, including the LED which acts as light
source, the LED driver IC that regulates power to the
LED, reflector cups that refract and reflect the light, and
the lens that focuses the light beams.

LED application design capabilities is considered to
be well developed and mature. One of our main design
applications for LED lighting systems was to provide
dimming features for LED lamps or bulbs. Although
it appears simple to design a dimmer for lighting
systems, it is in fact a challenge as LEDs and traditional
incandescent lamps operate very differently. If not
done correctly, the dimmer will cause instability in the
electrical current, which may cause flickering in the
LED lamp or bulb, and affect its dimming range and
performance. Our years of experience in and familiarity
with this product category enable us to provide fast and
comprehensive application solutions for our LED lighting
customers.
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RF power

RF, or radio-frequency, is widely used in the transmission
of signals, and has a long-distance transmission
capacity. RF is widely used in the fields of wireless
communication.

RF power means the power supply devices which are
used to generate and stabilise RF power. RF power
equipment is generally composed of a RF signal source,
a RF power amplifier (which is an electronic device
that provides power gain) and an attenuator (a device
that reduces the power of a signal without distorting
its waveform), and a receiver (such as those found
on the rooftops of buildings). The Group’s RF power
products are used in cable television (which is a system
of delivering television programming to subscribers by
RF signals transmitted through cables), and broadband
networks, such as fibre to the home (FTTH, where the
fibre optic cable carries the RF signal to the domestic
home) and fibre to the building (FTTB, where the fibre
optic cable carries the RF signal to a building). Our
customers in the RF power category are generally
engaged in broadcasting and signal transmissions, and
include operators of television and radio broadcasting.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The above diversification across technological
specializations ensures that we maintain access to the
most advanced technologies, mitigate supply chain
risks, and possess the agility to meet the complex and
rapidly evolving demands of the global market. The
following sections will provide a comprehensive overview
of each key supplier, examining their corporate profile,
product portfolio, and market position, followed by a
spotlight on their respective Customer ecosystems. This
detailed review will demonstrate how our strategic supply
chain architecture is a core corporate asset, designed
to drive sustained growth and create long-term value for
our stakeholders.

HIGH-LEVEL SUPPLIER-CUSTOMER
ECOSYSTEM MATRIX

The following table provides an overview of the strategic
relationships detailed in this annual report, illustrating
the interconnected network of technology suppliers and
market-leading customers that constitute our extended
operational ecosystem:
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SUPPLIER 1: PIONEERING
ULTRA-LOW-POWER CELLULAR IOT
CONNECTIVITY

Supplier 1 represents a cornerstone of our strategy to partner
with agile, focused innovators in high-growth technology
sectors. Established in February 2017 and headquartered in
the technology hub of Zhangjiang, Shanghai, Supplier 1 is a
fabless semiconductor company dedicated to the research,
development, and sale of cellular loT communication chips
and software.

The strategic value of our partnership with Supplier
1 is rooted in their specialized expertise in providing
cost-effective, ultra-low-power chipsets, which are
critical for the mass deployment of devices in the
burgeoning Internet of Things (IoT) market.

Their core competency lies in a deep and proven
expertise in cellular communication protocols and
System-on-Chip (SoC) design, which enables the
development of highly integrated, power-efficient,
and market-leading solutions. Supplier 1 has rapidly
ascended to become a top-five global vendor in the
cellular loT chipset market, a remarkable achievement for
a company founded in 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Supplier 1’s product development strategy is
laser-focused on the most critical standards for cellular
loT: NarrowBand-loT (NB-loT) and LTE Cat.1bis.
These low-power wide-area (LPWA) technologies are
specifically engineered to support the massive scale of
low-bandwidth, long-battery-life applications that define
the modern loT landscape, from smart cities to smart
agriculture.

The company’s primary competitive advantage is its
ability to deliver an optimal balance of low cost, high
performance, and high volume. This unique combination
is the critical enabler for the massive scale-up of loT
deployments worldwide. For module manufacturers
competing in price-sensitive but high-volume
applications, Supplier 1's chipsets provide the cost
structure and performance necessary to succeed.
Device manufacturers in China and globally required a
reliable, high-performance, and cost-effective alternative.
Market research explicitly notes that Supplier 1 was one
of the key players to successfully fill this gap, capturing
significant market share as a result. This demonstrates
not only their technological prowess but also their astute
strategic positioning. For our company, this partnership
provides a valuable source of leading-edge technology
that is also insulated from certain geopolitical pressures,
thereby enhancing the overall resilience of our supply
chain.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Customer Ecosystem Spotlight

1.

Customer 1a

Customer 1a is a comprehensive, one-stop loT
solutions partner and a key Customer that leverages
Supplier 1's chipset technology. Established in 2001
and publicly listed on the Beijing Stock Exchange,
Customer 1a is a major and respected force in the
Chinese loT industry.

Customer 1a’s business model is distinguished by
its impressive vertical integration across the entire
loT value chain. Their operations span from the
distribution of electronic components for industry
leaders to the in-house design and manufacturing of
an extensive portfolio of wireless modules covering
5G, NB-loT, LoRa, Wi-Fi, and Bluetooth Low Energy
(BLE). Beyond modules, they develop end-user
applications, loT gateways, and provide full-scale
Electronics Manufacturing Services (EMS), making
them a highly capable and versatile partner for any
loT project.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The partnership between Customer 1a and Supplier
1 exemplifies strategic synergy. Customer 1a's
extensive portfolio of NB-loT and Cat.1 modules
directly benefits from the high performance and
compelling cost structure of Supplier 1’s chipsets.
This collaboration enables Customer 1a to offer
competitive solutions for smart metering, asset
tracking, shared mobility, and other mass-market
loT applications that are central to their business
strategy.

Customer 1b

Customer 1b stands as a global leader in wireless
communication modules and, increasingly, in
integrated Al solutions. Founded in 1999, Customer
1b holds the distinction of being the first wireless
module company to be publicly listed on China’s
A-share market, a clear indicator of its pioneering
role and market leadership. Customer 1b is a
formidable force in the worldwide loT market and a
strategic Customer for our component suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The company’s business is centered on providing
a "one-stop solution" for industry customers. This
encompasses a vast and diverse portfolio of
modules (5G, 4G, LPWA, Smart, Automotive-Grade,
GNSS), integrated Al solutions, and cloud services.
Customer 1b has a strong strategic focus on
high-growth sectors such as Always Connected
PCs (ACPC), Cellular Vehicle-to-Everything (C-V2X),
smart retail, and the Industrial loT, where they have
achieved leading global market share.

The cellular loT module market is characterized
by its immense diversity, requiring a wide range of
solutions to meet different cost, performance, and
regional requirements. To address this complexity,
leading module vendors like Customer 1b must
maintain a broad and flexible supplier base for their
core chipsets. Supplier 1's established leadership
in the cost-sensitive, high-volume NB-loT and
Cat.1bis chipset segments makes them a logical
and strategic component supplier for Customer
1b’s "Massive loT LTE Modules" portfolio. This
partnership enables Customer 1b to field highly
competitive modules for applications like smart
metering and asset tracking, which perfectly
complement their higher-end 5G and automotive
offerings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SUPPLIER 2: POWERING THE
GLOBAL MOBILE AND INDUSTRIAL
ELECTRONICS LANDSCAPE

Supplier 2 stands as a central pillar of our supply chain,
providing access to a world-leading portfolio of mobile
and industrial semiconductor solutions. As a Chinese
fabless semiconductor giant headquartered in Shanghai,
Supplier 2 was formed from a strategic merger, creating
a powerhouse with comprehensive capabilities in mobile
communications and loT.

The company’s strategic importance is reinforced by
its position within the ecosystem and its backing by
influential state-affiliated funds. This robust support
structure ensures a level of strategic stability and
sustained R&D investment that is critical for a core
supplier in the capital-intensive semiconductor industry.

Supplier 2 is a proven global player, not merely a
domestic champion. Their products have successfully
passed rigorous certification with over many mobile
network operators in multiple countries, demonstrating
their ability to meet diverse and stringent international
standards.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Supplier 2’'s business and product strategy is built upon
two major pillars: Consumer Electronics and Industrial
Electronics. This breadth is a key strategic advantage,
allowing them to serve a wide array of markets and
applications from a unified technology base, creating
economies of scale and fostering cross-platform
innovation.

Consumer Electronics:

Supplier 2 offers a comprehensive range of SoCs
for the consumer market, from high-performance 5G
smartphones to smart wearables. Their smartphone
processors cover the full market spectrum.
High-performance 5G platforms are manufactured
on advanced process nodes and compete in the
mid-to-high-end market segments. Their 4G SoCs power
a vast number of mid-range and entry-level devices
making them a dominant force in this high-volume
segment. Beyond smartphones, the company maintains
a strong presence in the feature phone market and is
expanding into the rapidly growing smart wearables
segment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Industrial Electronics:

In the industrial domain, Supplier 2 provides a
robust portfolio of loT-focused chipsets designed for
connectivity and intelligent control. The 5G baseband
chip, for instance, is a key enabler for 5G-powered
Customer Premises Equipment (CPE), industrial
gateways, and loT modules, and has been adopted by
leading module partners. Their LTE chip is a critical
solution for the ongoing migration from 2G/3G networks,
targeting a wide array of loT applications that require a
balanced blend of performance, power efficiency, and
cost-effectiveness.

Supplier 2’s market position is firmly established among
the top tier of global chipset vendors. Independent
market analysis consistently places Supplier 2
as the world’'s fourth-largest smartphone chipset
supplier, commanding a stable global market share of
approximately 10-15% by shipment volume.

In the cellular loT chipset arena, Supplier 2 is a top-three
global player. They have established a particularly strong
position in the rapidly growing LTE Cat.1bis segment,
which is quickly becoming the de facto standard for
mid-speed loT applications and the successor to legacy
2G/3G M2M technologies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Customer Ecosystem Spotlight

1.

Customer 2a

Customer 2a is a professional one-stop loT solution
provider and complete device integrator, founded
in 2018. Headquartered in Shanghai, Customer
2a has deep expertise in embedded systems,
communication protocols, audio and video
transmission, and the design of ruggedized devices
that are waterproof, dustproof, and explosion-proof.
Their management and technical teams are drawn
from leading communications companies bringing a
wealth of industry experience.

Customer 2a’s product portfolio is remarkably
extensive, covering a wide range of connected
devices including MiFi, Customer Premises
Equipment (CPEs), ruggedized mobile phones,
walkie-talkies, tablets, and standalone
communication modules. A key differentiator for
Customer 2a is that they complement their hardware
offerings with a full suite of backend cloud services.
These services include Firmware-Over-The-Air
(FOTA) updates, device management platforms,
and positioning services, making them a valuable
partner for companies seeking rapid, end-to-end
product development and deployment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Customer 2b

Customer 2b is an innovative company focused
on communication modules and MCUs, providing
solutions across 4G, 5G, and NB-loT technologies.
They are most widely known as the creators and
primary stewards of a prominent open-source
embedded operating system (OS) which is
designed to dramatically simplify and accelerate the
development process for loT applications.

Customer 2b’s core value proposition is the OS
framework itself. They provide the OS, extensive
supporting libraries, and a range of compatible
hardware modules to a large and growing
community of developers.

The partnership between Supplier 2 and Customer
2b is a key indicator of Supplier 2’s strategy
to cultivate a broad and accessible developer
ecosystem for its chipsets. By supporting Customer
2b, Supplier 2 makes its powerful loT platforms
accessible to a vast community of developers who
value the agility and rapid development cycle of a
scripting language over more complex embedded
C/C++ development.
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E IR E et & 5 T

SUPPLIER 3: GLOBAL LEADERSHIP IN
AUTOMOTIVE, POWER, AND SECURITY

Supplier 3 stands as a global semiconductor titan
and a cornerstone supplier for our most critical and
technologically demanding applications. Supplier
3 has methodically built itself into Europe’s largest
semiconductor manufacturer and a consistent top-ten
player on the world stage.

The company’s strategic vision is clear and compelling:
to "make life easier, safer, and greener". This mission is
the core organizing principle of their business, aligning
their product portfolio and R&D efforts with two of the
most significant global megatrends: decarbonization
and digitalization. This focus ensures that their solutions
are not only technologically advanced but also highly
relevant to the long-term needs of society and industry.

Supplier 3’s vast product portfolio is logically organized
into four market-centric divisions, Automotive, Green
Industrial Power, Power & Sensor Systems and
Connected Secure Systems, providing a clear and
effective framework for understanding their extensive
capabilities and market focus.

Supplier 3's market leadership is clear, quantifiable,
and dominant in its core areas. The company holds the
#1 global supplier rank in Automotive Semiconductors,
Power Discretes and Modules, and Microcontrollers.
This preeminent position is not accidental; it is the
direct result of sustained technological superiority,
massive manufacturing scale, and a deep, system-level
understanding of their customers’ applications.

This leadership is maintained by a powerful innovation
engine, fueled by significant R&D investment and a vast
intellectual property portfolio of approximately 68,000
patents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

A crucial element of Supplier 3’s competitive advantage
is its ability to offer complete system solutions. A
complex modern application, such as an electric
vehicle traction inverter or a sophisticated industrial
motor drive, requires a suite of advanced, interoperable
semiconductors: a powerful microcontroller, high-power
switches and intelligent gate drivers. Supplier 3
possesses a unique and powerful market advantage in
being a world leader in all of these critical component
categories. This allows them to provide Customers not
just with individual parts, but with complete, optimized,
and pre-validated system solutions. For our partners,
this "system competence" is a massive value-add.
It dramatically reduces design complexity, shortens
time-to-market, guarantees interoperability, and ensures
optimal performance. This ability to provide a full
system solution is a powerful competitive moat that few
rivals can match and is a primary reason for their deep
integration with a wide array of Customers, including
those within our own ecosystem.
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Customer Ecosystem Spotlight

The breadth and depth of Supplier 3’'s product portfolio
are reflected in the diversity of its Customer base
within our supply chain. From IoT module makers to
consumer power giants and industrial specialists, these
partners leverage Supplier 3's technology to build their
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EF 43 9 8 HRBEENEERE
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Qustomer 3b Connectors & Sensors Automotive Radar & Pressure Sensors, Power ICs
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Qustomer 3 Connectors Automotive Connectors, Optical Link Technology
EP3c BRSE MEERE REERRE

Customer 3d, Customer 3e, Customer 3f

XF3d: BF3 XP3

Consumer Power
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Customer 3 Industrial Cooling
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Customer 3h EV Motor Control
EF3n EVE &)

Qustomer 3i Electronic Components
PR3 EFnl

Qustomer 3}, Customer 3k Industrial/Energy
BF3 BR3K I%/8K

Customer 3| Pump Manufacturing
EP3 RRRE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Leaders in Connectivity and loT

Customer 3a: As a leading global loT solutions provider,
Customer 3a’s extensive portfolio of cellular, GNSS,
and Wi-Fi modules requires best-in-class supporting
technology to ensure performance and reliability. Their
advanced modules, particularly those offering Wi-Fi
and Bluetooth combo functionality, leverage Supplier
3’s wireless solutions to deliver robust and efficient
connectivity. The partnership extends to the critical
domain of security, where Supplier 3’s chip family
provides the hardware-based root of trust essential for
securing loT devices against emerging threats.

Customer 3b: It is one of the world’s largest
manufacturers of high-technology interconnect products,
sensors, and antennas, serving nearly every end market.
The synergy between Customer 3b and Supplier 3 is
clear and powerful: Customer 3b integrates Supplier
3’s cutting-edge sensor technology, such as their
market-leading automotive radar and pressure sensors,
into advanced sensor assemblies and systems. This
allows Customer 3b to provide highly sophisticated
solutions for the demanding automotive and industrial
markets.

Customer 3c: It is a leading global manufacturer
of electronic, electrical, and fiber optic connectivity
systems. The partnership between Customer 3c and
Supplier 3 goes beyond a simple supplier-customer
relationship, demonstrating a deep level of strategic
cooperation. This is exemplified by Supplier 3’s licensing
of its proprietary technology to Customer 3c. This
strategic move established a dual-source standard for
high-speed fiber optic data links, ensuring supply chain
stability and fostering broader market adoption of this
critical technology.

EEE R RS

EERYBAERGEEE

ER3a:(FR2HEARNMBBEBERT
EHER TP aBEZHNER - GNSSK
Wi-FIBEEMESFTE RO ERM
ARG RSN - HERHOKRE (L
HEREHWI-FIRETHABINEE) N B HE
FISEY AR BROR 77 IR DAIR 98 A M s ey
R UEIERHABERCHERRELS
MRS MEEREIN T RIEHTE
RIEENEEER BN REVE AR
BRAXHEREBEEMEER -

ERIb: AR ANSRREEE
i BREMKBRERZ - BTRB
PIE#KmM%S - EF3bHEMHERHIZHH
1% B 2 B M A 1+ B P 3b i fE B 3H)
RimERE R (PIMETRSELNTE
EEMBNERDBEAESMERSME
HHEZEG - kS EPIbASERNTER
TEMSRERERENBERTR

ER3c: ERAEZKBELENEF EAILK
WEEZRSAREN  EP3cEMEENIZ
MEERHBEERBER THENHERE
EFZ BRFBIANEEAE - HE
B3 ERFPIcCERAEEERMA— AR
TF0F o B RS 1T E) A S RO A B E
HEVTERZE BREEENETH
R AR ETI5 E &2 Hh 5% FB otk B8 8 B iy

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 FH

39
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Innovators in Consumer Power

Customer 3d, Customer 3e and Customer 3f: This
group of Customers represents the vanguard of the
consumer charging and power accessories market. This
includes Customer 3d, a leading global manufacturer of
chargers and power supplies with a nearly 18% share of
the global smartphone charger market, Customer 3e, a
46-year veteran in the power supply industry with global
manufacturing facilities; and Customer 3f, the world’s #1
mobile charging brand by retail sales value.

The explosive growth in the market for high-power-density
USB-C Power Delivery (PD) chargers has been fueled by
the adoption of wide-bandgap semiconductor technology,
particularly Gallium Nitride (GaN). Supplier 3 is a definitive
leader in this space with its portfolio. The partnership with
Customer 3f is a prime example of deep co-development,
culminating in the establishment of a joint Innovation
Application Center in Shenzhen. This lab is dedicated
to accelerating the time-to-market for next-generation
100W+ GaN chargers by leveraging Supplier 3’s
controllers and technology. This deep collaboration
allows these top consumer brands to utilize Supplier 3’s
complete power solution portfolio-from GaN switches
and silicon MOSFETs to PWM controllers and USB-C PD
controllers—to create the smaller, more efficient, and more
powerful products their customers demand.

Specialists in Industrial and Automotive Systems

Customer 3g: It is a major Taiwanese manufacturer
of thermal solutions, including high-performance
cooling products and fans, as well as other electronic
components. Their advanced cooling systems are
essential for managing the heat generated by today’s
high-power electronics. These systems directly benefit
from Supplier 3’s high-efficiency power semiconductors
in innovative dual-side cooling packages, which enable
higher power density and improved thermal management
in compact designs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Customer 3h: It is a leading Chinese provider of
complete electric drive systems for light electric vehicles,
including electric motorcycles and scooters. They
specialize in motor controllers, Battery Management
Systems (BMS), and Vehicle Control Units (VCU).
Customer 3h’s core products are a perfect match
for Supplier 3’s extensive automotive portfolio. They
leverage Supplier 3's motor control ICs, along with
their robust IGBTs and power MOSFETs, which are
specifically designed and optimized for the traction
inverters used in two-and three-wheeled vehicles.

Customer 3i: It is the famous solution maker (motor
controller) in light electric vehicles, including electric
motorcycles and scooters in China, They specialize in
motor controllers Vehicle Control Units (VCU). Supplier
3’s series is the mainly MCU platform in the customer
side.

Customer 3j: It is a high-tech enterprise specializing in
intelligent motion control system, integrating motor drive
and power supply. mainly product including lifting desk,
power tools, lifting coat hanger.

Customer 3k: It is a high-tech enterprise focusing on
variable frequency motor drive control and intelligent
control for washing machines, refrigerators, fans, pumps
and other fields.

Customer 3I: It is a major, publicly-listed manufacturer
of a wide variety of pumps and control equipment
for agricultural, industrial, and domestic use.
The industry-wide trend towards more intelligent,
variable-speed, and energy-efficient pumps requires
advanced motor control solutions. This creates a strong
and natural synergy with Supplier 3’s product portfolio.
Customer 3I's next-generation pump designs can
leverage Supplier 3’'s motor control ICs and intelligent
power modules (IPMs), which are specifically designed
and optimized for pump and fan applications, to
achieve higher efficiency, greater reliability, and more
sophisticated control.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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SUPPLIER 4: DRIVING INNOVATION IN
HIGH-PERFORMANCE ANALOG AND
POWER MANAGEMENT

Supplier 4 is our key strategic partner for high-performance
analog and power management integrated circuits.
Founded in 2008 by a team of seasoned Silicon Valley
veterans, Supplier 4 is a multinational semiconductor
company with its primary operational headquarters in
Hangzhou, China. The company’s global footprint and
financial maturity are demonstrated by its successful public
listing on the Taiwan Stock Exchange in 2013.

Supplier 4 has distinguished itself in a market historically
dominated by American and European giants by
focusing on innovation and process technology
leadership, resulting in smaller and more efficient power
solutions. The company’s expertise lies in tackling
complex engineering challenges with highly integrated
solutions.

Supplier 4 is widely recognized as one of the fastest-
growing global semiconductor companies in the analog
and power management space. While maintaining a
global presence with over 30 locations, Supplier 4’s
initial strategy wisely leveraged the strong domestic
demand within China’s burgeoning electronics industry.

Supplier 4's deep expertise lies in the design and
manufacture of analog, power, and signal chain
solutions. Their products are engineered to improve
power efficiency, increase power density, and enable
energy conservation across a wide and diverse range of
applications, from consumer electronics to automotive
and industrial systems.

The company’'s product portfolio is both broad and
deep, showcasing their extensive technical capabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Customer Ecosystem Spotlight

Supplier 4’s Customer base within our supply chain
is heavily concentrated in power-centric markets, a
direct reflection of their core competency in power
management ICs. From high-volume consumer power
supply manufacturers to leading home appliance brands
and industrial specialists, these partners rely on Supplier
4’s innovative and efficient analog solutions to power
their products.

Customer 3d, Customer 3e and Customer 4a: This
group of Customers represents a significant portion of
the global manufacturing capacity for consumer and
PC power supplies. Customer 3d is a global leader in
chargers and adapters, holding the #1 market share
position in smartphone chargers. Customer 3e is a highly
experienced power supply manufacturer with a 46-year
history and a global footprint. Customer 4a is a major
provider of a wide range of power products, including
PC power supplies, power strips, and adapters.

The synergy with Supplier 4 is direct and fundamental.
The power supply units (PSUs) and chargers produced
by these Customers are built around core power
management ICs. Supplier 4’s extensive portfolio of
AC-DC regulators, DC-DC converters, and specialized
PMICs are the critical components that enable these
products to be efficient, compact, and reliable. This
partnership allows our key power supply vendors to
leverage Supplier 4’s advanced technology to meet the
ever-increasing demands for higher power density and
greater efficiency.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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A RESILIENT, DIVERSIFIED, AND
FORWARD-LOOKING SUPPLY CHAIN

The detailed examination of our key suppliers—Supplier
1, Supplier 2, Supplier 3, and Supplier 4-and their
respective Customer ecosystems reveals a supply
chain architecture that is not merely a transactional
network, but a strategic and resilient corporate asset.
The partnerships detailed in this report are built on
a foundation of technological leadership, market
dominance, and synergistic collaboration, providing our
company with a distinct and sustainable competitive
advantage.

Several key themes emerge from this analysis. First is
the power of strategic diversification. By partnering with
specialists in distinct and critical technology domains—
ultra-low-power |oT, mobile and industrial SoCs,
automotive and power systems, and high-performance
analog ICs-we ensure access to best-in-class
technology across our entire product portfolio. This
prevents technological stagnation and allows us to
integrate cutting-edge solutions into our products, from
the most cost-sensitive loT nodes to the most demanding
high-reliability systems.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Second is the inherent resilience of this ecosystem.
Our supply base includes both established global
titans like Supplier 3 and agile, high-growth innovators
like Supplier 1. We maintain strong relationships with
multiple market leaders, such as Supplier 2 and their
key competitors, which fosters a healthy, dynamic
marketplace for critical components. This competitive
tension drives innovation, ensures competitive pricing,
and critically mitigates the risks of over-reliance on
any single supplier, insulating our operations from both
market-specific and geopolitical disruptions.

Finally, our supply chain is fundamentally
forward-looking. Our partners are not just leaders today;
they are actively shaping the technologies of tomorrow.
Supplier 3’s leadership in GaN and SiC, Supplier
1's push into satellite 10T, Supplier 2’s development
of next-generation 5G platforms, and Supplier 4’s
expansion into green energy solutions demonstrate a
shared commitment to innovation. These partnerships
provide us with invaluable early access to and insight
into the technologies that will define future markets.

In conclusion, the sophisticated and diversified supply
chain ecosystem detailed herein is a testament to a
deliberate and strategic approach to partnership. It
is this robust network of innovators and leaders that
empowers our company to navigate a complex global
landscape with confidence, to continue our legacy of
technological leadership, and to deliver consistent,
long-term value to our shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Our total revenue increased by approximately US$10.6
million or 16.1% from approximately US$66.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Prior Year”)
to approximately US$77.0 million for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2025 (the “Period”). The increase in our
revenue was mainly contributed by the increase in our
revenue from sale of mobile devices and smart charging
IC products, which increased from approximately
US$32.3 million for the Prior Year to approximately
US$44.2 million for the Period. Mobile devices and smart
charging IC products were the most significant revenue
contributor, contributing approximately 57.5% and 48.7%
of our total revenue for the Period and the Prior Year,
respectively. Our increase in revenue from sale of mobile
devices and smart charging IC products during the
Period was mainly driven by (i) the effect of time factor
due to change of our financial year-end; and (ii) the
increase in sales volume and average selling price.

On the other hand, motor control IC products were our
second largest revenue contributor, contributing
approximately 38.0% and 40.1% of our total revenue for
the Period and the Prior Year, respectively. Our revenue
from sale of motor control IC products increased slightly
from approximately US$26.6 million for the Prior Year to
approximately US$29.3 million for the Period. Excluding
the effect of time factor due to change of our financial
year-end, our revenue from sale of motor control IC
products decreased on a time pro-rata basis, which was
primarily driven by a decrease in our average selling
price.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Overall, excluding the effect of time factor due to change
of our financial year-end, our total revenue decreased
on a time pro-rata basis as we experienced a decline
in revenue from all product categories except mobile
devices and smart charging IC products. During the
Period, except for mobile devices and smart charging
IC products, we generally lowered our average selling
price with a view to expedite our inventory turnover
and collection of our trade and bills receivables.
For instance, our inventory turnover days decreased
significantly from approximately 80.7 days for the
Prior Year to approximately 40.6 days for the Period
(on an annualised basis), and our trade and bills
receivables turnover days also decreased significantly
from approximately 104.8 days for the Prior Year to
approximately 82.2 days for the Period (on an annualised
basis).

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Our gross profit decreased by approximately US$0.9
million or 29.4% from approximately US$2.9 million for
the Prior Year to approximately US$2.1 million for the
Period, which was mainly due to the decrease in our
average selling price and impairment loss on inventories.
Our gross profit margin decreased from approximately
4.4% for the Prior Year to approximately 2.7% for the
Period, which was mainly driven by the lower gross
profit margin of mobile devices and smart charging
IC products, which contributed over 70% and 80% of
our total gross profit for the Period and the Prior Year,
respectively. The lower gross profit margin of mobile
devices and smart charging IC products during the
Period was mainly because the increase in our cost of
inventories for mobile devices and smart charging IC
products outweighed the increase in our average selling
price for the same products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Other income

Our other income amounted to approximately US$0.2
million for the Period, which mainly included imputed
interest income on life insurance policy deposits.

Selling and distribution expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised
salaries and benefits for staff, transportation costs,
travelling expenses, office utility expenses, business
entertainment, marketing expenses and amortisation
of development costs. Our selling and distribution
expenses increased by approximately US$0.9 million
from approximately US$3.0 million for the Prior Year
to approximately US$3.9 million for the Period, which
was mainly attributable to the effect of amortisation of
development costs by approximately US$0.8 million.

General and administration expenses

Our general and administrative expenses mainly
comprised salaries and benefits for the management,
administrative, operation support and financial
personnel, administrative costs and depreciation
expenses relating to property, plant and equipment used
for administrative purposes.

Our general and administration expenses amounted
to approximately US$6.3 million for the Period, which,
excluding the effect of time factor due to change of
our financial year-end, decreased on a time pro-rata
basis mainly due to our stringent cost control during the
Period.

Finance costs

Our finance costs amounted to approximately US$3.6
million for the Period, representing an increase of
approximately US$1.3 million from the Prior Year. Such
increase was generally in line with the increase in
interest rate of bank and other borrowings during the
Period.

Income tax expenses

Our income tax expenses decreased from approximately
US$1.1 million for the Prior Year to approximately US$0.1
million for the Period, which was mainly due to the effect
of deferred tax.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Loss for the period/year

As a result of the foregoing, our net loss increased by
approximately 24.5% from approximately US$9.7 million
for the Prior Year to approximately US$12.1 million for
the Period.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the Period, the Group maintained a solid liquidity
position for supporting our business growth. As at 31
March 2025, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately US$3.7 million (31 December 2023:
approximately US$2.5 million).

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had recorded net
current assets of approximately US$4.2 million (31
December 2023: approximately US$12.0 million). As at
31 December 2023 and 31 March 2025, our current ratio
remained relatively stable at approximately 1.4 and 1.2,
respectively.

As at 31 March 2025, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 64.7% (31 December 2023: approximately
47.6%), which computed based on total debts (including
bank and other borrowings and shareholder’s loan)
divided by total equity plus total debts.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had bank and other
borrowings amounting to approximately US$18.3 million
(31 December 2023: approximately US$20.6 million). The
annual weighted average interest rate of the bank and
other borrowings during the Period was approximately
12.3% (31 December 2023: approximately 10.6%).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

EEE R RS

Bk FEEE

AR ZIEEE MO FEEHRLT
B#97EEETTEMNE24.5%E KREE L
121B&ETT o

RBEERUBEER
RABER  AEEEFEEEORHE
SRR BRIEBERE - R20259F3H31
H AEBENRENESEEBWLH AT
BB X T(2023F12831H : L92.5A B =
JC) °

R2025%3A31H ' AEEBEHZBREBEE
FE 428 & % £ (2023F12H31H -
#912.08 & %= jT) - ’K2023F12A318 &
2025F3H31H « HM A M EN L AR #
BRBRE 2BA0RB14K1.2-

R2025F3A3MH AEEMEAXREAEE
tb & 4 B64.7% (2023F12H31H : 4
476%) L EXZEBKBREERITEE
HERAEBREERRAES BEMNE
T HREE o

R2025F3A31H  AEEBE 2 R1TT R EAfb
B4 A18.3B B Xt (2023F 12318 «
#206B BET) o AHERIT R HAMAE
SE AN #E 39 F F| K 4 B12.3% (20234F
12A31H : £910.6%) °

HFAER

R2025F3A318  AEBEWETMEK
HEEE-

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 FH

49
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 39 employees (31
December 2023: 91 employees). During the Period,
employee benefit expenses (including directors’
remuneration) amounted to approximately US$5.0 million
(2023: approximately US$4.1 million), accounting for
approximately 6.5% (2023: approximately 6.3%) of total
revenue for the Period.

The remunerations of the employees are commensurate
with their performance, skills, knowledge, experience
and the market trend. Employee benefits provided by the
Group include medical insurance scheme, mandatory
provident fund, social insurance and housing allowance
in PRC. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis and will make necessary
adjustments that accommodate the pay levels in the
industry. In addition to basic salaries, the employees
may be offered with discretionary bonuses and cash
awards based on individual performances.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had not issued or
allotted any awarded shares.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

Our Company complies or intends to comply with the
Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 of
the Listing Rules, save for Code C.2.1 which requires
that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer be
separated and performed by different individuals. Mr.
Lam is both our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman.
Our Board believes that vesting the roles of both Chief
Executive Officer and Chairman in the same person
has the benefit of ensuring consistent leadership and
efficient discharge of executive functions within our
Group. Our Group considers that the balance of power
and authority of the present arrangement will not be
impaired as the Board comprises five other experienced
and high-calibre individuals including two other
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors who would be able to offer advice from
various perspectives. In addition, for major decisions
of our Group, the Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.
Therefore, our Directors consider that the present
arrangement is beneficial to and in the interest of our
Company and our Shareholders as a whole and the
deviation from Code C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code is appropriate in such circumstance.

Our Directors will review our corporate governance
policies and compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code in each financial year and comply with the “comply
or explain” principle in our corporate governance report
which will be included in our annual reports after the
Listing.
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The Board consists of four executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors (‘INEDs”").

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Keung (#£3&) (“Mr. Lam™), aged 52, joined
the Group in April 2010 and was appointed as a Director
in August 2016. He was re-designated as the executive
Director and appointed as the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer in March 2018.

Mr. Lam is responsible for supervising the overall
management, making strategic planning of our Group,
implementing Board resolutions, as well as providing
guidance and directions of our Group. Mr. Lam also
conducts overall strategic review of the R&D department
of our Group, giving R&D directions in relation to the
latest trend of the IC and semiconductor industry.

Mr. Lam has over 28 years of experience in the IC and
semiconductor industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. Lam worked at Rohm Electronics (H.K.) Company
Limited (currently known as Rohm Semiconductor Hong
Kong Company Limited) from September 1995 to August
2003 and his last position was assistant sales manager
where he was responsible for the sale of IC products.
Mr. Lam worked as a senior manager in marketing
department at Synergy International Technology
Limited from October 2003 to February 2010, where
he was responsible for the sales and marketing of
semiconductor solutions.

Mr. Lam joined IH Technology Limited (“IH
Technology”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, as a general manager in April 2010 and
was subsequently promoted to serve as a director of IH
Technology in November 2010. Mr. Lam has also been
serving as a director of Flyring Electronics Limited, an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, since
January 2011. Mr. Lam served as an independent non-
executive director of EFT Solutions Holdings Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 8062), from 23 November
2016 to 26 March 2019, which is principally engaged
in sourcing of electronic fund transfer at point-of-sale
terminals and peripheral devices, and provision of
electronic fund transfer at point-of-sale system support
services and software solution services.
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Mr. Lam obtained a bachelor's degree in electrical
engineering from the University of Tennessee, the United
States in December 1993.

Mr. Lam, through P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. (“P. Grand”), a
company which is 100% beneficially owned by him,
holds approximately 60.35% of issued share capital of
the Company. In addition, pursuant to the confirmation
deed dated 21 March 2018 (the “Confirmation Deed”),
Mr. Lam, Mr. Qing and Ms. Feng Tao, the spouse of Mr.
Qing (“Mrs. Qing”), confirmed that they have been in
cooperation to jointly manage and control the operations
of the subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong and
the PRC since 2011. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing have been and will continue to
be acting in concert in the control, management and
operation of the Group, Mr. Lam is also deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Kingtech which is
100% beneficially owned by Mrs. Qing.

Mr. Qing Haodong ([El;&3R) (“Mr. Qing”), aged 61,
joined the Group in December 2016 and was appointed
as a Director in December 2017. He was re-designated
as the executive Director in March 2018.

Mr. Qing is responsible for the overall marketing activities
of our Group. He is also responsible for liaising with
electronics manufacturers and promoting the latest
electronic products to customers.
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Mr. Qing has over 23 years of experience in the IC and
semiconductor industry. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Qing was an automation engineer at Sichuan Food
Fermentation Industry Research and Design Institute* (4
MNERMBEETEMRXFKEE) from September 1985
to November 2000, where he was responsible for the
electrical design for automation control equipment. Mr.
Qing joined Chengdu Flyring Electronics Co., Ltd.* (X
EHRIRETHR2AAF) (“Chengdu Flyring”), an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as a sales
manager in November 2000. Mr. Qing has been serving
as the supervisor at Chengdu Flyring, Shenzhen IH
Technology Co., Ltd* (R HE &SI M AR D a))
and Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.*
(EBREMEFHMBRAA) (“Shanghai IH"), all
of which are indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, since February 2006, May 2005 and August
2009, respectively.

Mr. Qing obtained his professional certificate in industrial
electronics and enterprise (L{®E & %) from Harbin Jixie
Industry School* (M EE# W T X2 K), the PRC, in
August 1985.

Mr. Qing is the spouse of Mrs. Qing, who beneficially
owns 100% of Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. (“Kingtech”). In
addition, pursuant to the Confirmatory Deed, Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing confirmed that they have been in
cooperation to jointly manage and control the operations
of the subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong and
the PRC since 2011. In view of the fact that Mr. Lam,
Mr. Qing and Mrs. Qing have been and will continue to
be acting in concert in the control, management and
operation of our Group, Mr. Qing is also deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by his spouse Mrs. Qing
through Kingtech, and all the Shares held by Mr. Lam
through P. Grand.
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Mr. Mai Lu (Z &) (“Mr. Mai”), aged 50, joined the
Group in January 2017 and was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company in March 2018.

Mr. Mai oversees the design and R&D functions of
our Group and is responsible for the overall daily
management of the design and R&D team.

Mr. Mai has over 22 years of experience in providing
technical solutions of semiconductors. Mr. Mai worked as
an assistant engineer at the Chinese People’s Liberation
Army from July 1996 to July 2001, and his last rank at
the Chinese People’s Liberation Army was Professional
Technology Lieutenant (% % £ i1 ). Mr. Mai worked
as a sales engineer at Rohm Semiconductor (Shenzhen)
Co. Ltd. from July 2001 to February 2003, where he was
responsible for sales and providing technical supports
to the customers, and worked as a manager at the R&D
department of Shanghai Huanwei Electronics Company
Limited* (EBRMEFBRAA) from March 2003 to
August 2010, where he was responsible for overseeing
the R&D department of the company.

Mr. Mai joined Shanghai IH as head of the R&D
department in September 2010.

Mr. Mai obtained his bachelor’s degree in electronics
and information system (£ F 2 HEH{Z 8 XHKZ241) from
National University of Defense Technology (FF Bl A R f#
B G R E T KE | currently known as AR A R 7 i
FE B RHE KE), the PRC, in July 1996.
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Ms. Cheng Yu Pik (B85 %) (“Ms. Cheng”), aged 44,
joined the Group in July 2009 and was appointed as the
executive Director of the Company in March 2020.

Ms. Cheng has over 20 years of experience in the
semiconductor industry. Ms. Cheng is responsible for
overseeing the business and administrative functions of
the Group, including collaborating with other members of
the senior management and staff members to formulate
and implement policies and procedures; interfacing
cross-functionally at all levels within the Group as well
as with external resources (such as logistic companies,
governmental agencies); and providing routine reports to
the Board regarding operations, business performance
and human resources.

Ms. Cheng joined IH Technology in July 2009. Prior to
joining the Group, she worked at Synergy International
Technology Limited from August 2003 to June 2009
and her last position was senior customer service
coordinator where she was responsible for coordinating
with suppliers and handling enquiries. Ms. Cheng
worked as a general clerk at Kingdan Development
Limited from September 2000 to July 2003, where she
was responsible for dealing with suppliers, clients and
customs declarations.

Ms. Cheng obtained her matriculation certificate from
Caritas Bianchi College of Careers, Hong Kong, in
October 2000.
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INEDs

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth (“Mr. Kenneth Chan”),
aged 47, was appointed as an INED of the Company in
June 2023.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’'s degree of art in
accountancy from the Edinburgh Napier University,
United Kingdom, and a higher diploma in accountancy
from the City University of Hong Kong in February
2008 and August 2002, respectively. Mr. Kenneth
Chan has over 22 years of experience in accounting,
auditing, and financial management, as well as merger
and acquisition of listing entities and private sectors
in Hong Kong, Singapore, and the PRC. Mr. Kenneth
Chan joined Premier Accounting and Corporate Services
Limited as a senior consultant since January 2022. He
served in several international accounting firms since
2004 and became a senior manager in assurance and
audit services of BDO Limited since October 2011
until he resigned in November 2015. He joined Moore
CPA Limited as a senior manager, assurance and audit
service in December 2015, and was promoted as a
deputy director, consulting service in April 2018 until he
resigned in November 2021.

Mr. Dan Kun Lei Raymond (E8E &) (“Mr. Dan”), aged
54, was appointed as an INED of the Company in June
2019.

Mr. Dan has over 24 years of experience in the
information technology industry.
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Mr. Dan has worked as a solution consultant at China
Mobile Hong Kong Company Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 941),
since March 2020, where he was mainly responsible
for providing technical and professional consultancy
services to its customers. Mr. Dan worked as senior
systems consultant at Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited
from April 2017 to March 2020, where he was mainly
responsible for providing technical and professional
consultancy services to its customers. Prior to joining
Automated Systems (H.K.) Limited, he was a senior bid
manager at CITIC Telecom International CPC Limited
from December 2015 to April 2017, where he was
responsible for managing bidding projects in relation to
information technology products. Prior to joining CITIC
Telecom International CPC Limited, he was an account
manager at Huawei Tech. Investment Co., Limited from
June 2013 to November 2015, where he was responsible
for providing technical services to the customers during
the process of sales. Mr. Dan worked as a business
consulting officer at Hewlett-Packard HK SAR Limited
from June 2010 to May 2013, where he was responsible
for providing pre-sale support, performing technology
assessment and maintaining customer relationship.
Prior to that, he also gained experience from different
information technology or telecommunication companies
including Shen Milsom & Wilke Limited, PCCW Limited a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 0008) and Unisys China/Hong Kong Limited
from May 1999 to June 2010 in various positions.

Mr. Dan obtained his bachelor’'s degree in computer
systems engineering from La Trobe University, Australia,
in May 1997, and his master's degree in management
from Macquarie University, Australia, in October 2000.
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Mr. Lai Man Shun (R E{g) (“Mr. Lai”), aged 52, was
appointed as an INED of the Company in June 2019.

Mr. Lai has over 23 years of experience in information
technology and telecommunication industry. He has
been a general manager of EFT Payments (Asia) Limited
since July 2016, mainly responsible for the business
relationship management, development planning and
overall supervision of different departments of the
company. Immediately before that, Mr. Lai worked at EFT
Solution Limited as the head of business development
from March 2016 to June 2016. Before that, he was a
chief executive officer and founder of Paxex International
Limited from 2010 to 2016, mainly responsible for
the overall business of the company. He was also a
sales director and co-founder of RICC Limited, mainly
responsible for the management of the business
developments from 2001 to 2010.

Mr. Lai obtained his bachelor’'s degree in science from
La Trobe University, Australia, in May 1997.

Disclosure required under Rule 13.51(2)
of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)

Each of the Directors confirms that save as disclosed
above: (i) he has not held directorships in the last three
years in other public companies, the securities of which
are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or
overseas,; (ii) he does not hold any other position in
our Company or any of its subsidiaries; (iii) there is no
other information that should be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (iv) to the best of
the knowledge, information and belief of our Directors
having made all reasonable enquiries, there are no
other matters with respect to the appointment of the
Directors that need to be brought to the attention of our
Shareholders.

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’
Interests and Short Positions in Shares and Underlying
Shares and Debenture” in this annual report, each of
the Directors certifies that he/she does not have any
interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO.
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Senior management

Mr. Wang Kai (FE8l) (“Mr. Wang”), aged 45, joined
the Group in December 2016 and was appointed and
resigned as the head of sales of the Group in March
2018 and December 2024 respectively.

Mr. Wang has over 22 years of experience in the sales
and marketing of semiconductors, ICs and electronic
component products. Mr. Wang oversees the sales
business of our Group. He is also responsible for the
overall management of the sales teams of the Group.

Mr. Wang worked as a sales representative for Chengdu
Flyring in September 2001. He was subsequently
promoted to a sales manager in July 2005, where he
was responsible for regional sales operations in the
PRC, covering south-western and south-eastern areas
of the PRC. Mr. Wang has been serving as a director
of Shanghai IH since August 2009, and assumed the
position of sales manager of Shanghai IH subsequent to
his appointment as a director of Shanghai IH. Apart from
overseeing the daily management of Shanghai IH, Mr.
Wang is also responsible for the overall sales operations
of our Group. He has also been serving as a director of
Shenzhen IH since May 2015.

Mr. Wang obtained his high diploma certificate in
mathematics education from Zigong Shifan High Diploma
Professional School* (B B Rl & = & E R £ K), the PRC,
in June 2001.
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Ms. Au Ka Man Silkie (BX & #) (“Ms. Au”), aged 42,
joined the Group in October 2016 and was appointed as
the chief financial officer and company secretary of the
Company in March 2018.

Ms. Au has over 19 years of experience in business
administration and management. Ms. Au is responsible
for overseeing the financial operations of the Group, as
well as supervising accounting and finance departments.
She is also responsible for company secretarial matters
of our Group.

Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Au was the chief
executive officer of Pro Max CPA Limited from June
2014 to September 2016, where she was responsible
for the overall management, strategy planning and daily
operations of the company. She worked at CPA firm
from April 2008 to March 2014 and her last positions
were senior unit manager and practising director, where
she was responsible for the overall management of the
accounting departments and human resources. She
also worked as an assistant accountant at Accounting
firm from June 2006 to March 2008, where she was
responsible for preparing full set of accounts.

Ms. Au obtained a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from Lingnan University, Hong Kong, in
November 2006. She became a member of HKICPA in
January 2011.
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Ms. Feng Ying (/53) (“Ms. Feng”), aged 56, joined the
Group in January 2017 and was appointed and resigned
as the head of PRC operations of the Group in March
2018 and February 2025 respectively. Ms. Feng is the
sister of Mrs. Qing and the sister-in-law of Mr. Qing.

Ms. Feng has over 22 years of experience in the
management of the Group. Ms. Feng is responsible for
overseeing the business and administrative function
of the PRC entities of the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Feng worked as an analyst in Sichuan
Yinshan Sugar Manufacturing Factory* (P9 JIl & 4R
&) from September 1987 to 2000, responsible for
quality inspection. Ms. Feng joined Chengdu Flyring
as supervisor in November 2000 and was responsible
for supervising and inspecting the daily management,
operation, financial situation and the work of directors
and senior managers of Chengdu Flyring. Ms. Feng has
been serving as the legal representative, the director
and the general manager of Chengdu Flyring since
June 20083, responsible for administration and the daily
operations of Chengdu Flyring. Ms. Feng obtained her
graduate certificate majored in paper making from the
Neijiang Light Chemical Technician Training School* (A
I T &b TE4R), the PRC, in 1987.

*  For identification purpose only
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The board of directors of the Company (the “Directors”
and the “Board”, respectively) is pleased to present
the report of the Directors together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company
while its principal subsidiaries are mainly engaged in
the provision of customised reference designs which
are bundled together with the sale of ICs and other
electronic components as a package to customers in
both Hong Kong and the PRC.

Segment analysis of the Company for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025 is set out in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements. A list of the
Company’s subsidiaries, together with their places of
incorporation, principal activities, place of operation
and particulars of their issued shares/registered share
capital, is set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The results of the Group for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025 are set out in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
149.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on
pages 273 to 274 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the
Company during the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025, together with the reasons thereof, are set out in
note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FINAL DIVIDEND AND CLOSURE OF
REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE
Review of our Business and Performance

A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 and the
key factors affecting its results and financial position are
set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report.

Information about a review of, and an indication of
likely future development in, the Group’s business is set
out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Particulars of Important Events

Since 31 March 2025, being the end of the financial year
under review, no important event has occurred affecting
the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The following section lists out the key risks and
uncertainties faced by the Group. It is a non-exhaustive
list and there may be other risks and uncertainties
further to the key risk areas outlined below. Besides, this
annual report does not constitute a recommendation or
an advice for anyone to invest in the securities of the
Company and investors are advised to make their own
judgment or consult their own investment advisors before
making any investment in the securities of the Company.

Financial risks

Details on the financial risks on foreign currency, credit
on trade receivables, liquidity and interest rate facing the
Group on its operation can be referred to note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Evolvement in information technology

Our Group operates in a highly competitive industry
which faces rapid changes in market trends, consumer
preferences and constantly evolving technological
advances in hardware models, software features and
functionalities. The ongoing changes in technology
require us to constantly incorporate new features or
technology into our sensitivity and adaptability to market
demand and/or services in order to cope with the
evolving environment and customer demands.

Our business operation may be affected by
future economic and political policies of the
PRC government

The development of PRC’s economy is based on many
factors, including but not limited to structure of economy,
government involvement, control of foreign exchange,
allocation of resources and capital investment. However,
any of such changes to the economic and political
strategies and policies of the PRC government may have
an adverse impact on the overall global economy and
affect all the industries in which the Group operates.
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Our business operation may be affected by
future economic and political uncertainties in
the world

Economic and political uncertainties in the world resulted
from major events such as the persistent threat of global
inflation and the global economy is facing increasing
downward pressure, the unresolved war between the
Ukraine and the Russia, and the surging trend in the
US interest rates and the US-China trade tensions,
continue to affect the global economy both in short-term
and long-term, which in turn may adversely impact the
performance of the Group.

Performance history and forward looking
statements

The performance and the results of the operations of the
Group as set out in this annual report are historical in
nature and past performance is not a guarantee of future
performance. This annual report may contain forward
looking statements and opinions that involve risks and
uncertainties. Actual results may also differ materially
from expectations discussed in such forward-looking
statements and opinions. Neither the Group nor the
Directors, employees or agents of the Group assume
any obligations or liabilities in the event that any of
the forward-looking statements or opinions does not
materialize or turns out to be incorrect.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility in promoting
a sustainable and environmental friendly environment.
Our Group does not engage in the manufacturing of
products and does not have any production facilities.
The inventory are kept at our Group’s storage and
warehousing facilities situated inside the headquarters
office unit. Therefore, our Group is not subject to
significant health, safety or environmental risks. During
the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025, our Group
had not been subject to any fines or other penalties due
to non-compliance with health, safety or environmental
regulations.
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Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Our operations are mainly carried out by the Company’s
subsidiaries in Hong Kong and China while the Company
itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. Our operations
shall comply with relevant laws and regulations in China
and Hong Kong.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 and up
to the date of this report, the Group has complied with
all the relevant laws and regulations in China and Hong
Kong in all material respects.

Relationship with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group is constantly aware of the importance of
maintaining a good relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers to meet its immediate and
long-term business goals. We encourage employees to
strengthen their knowledge of the industries in which the
Group operate and attend courses or training sessions to
improve their relevant industry and technical knowledge.
The Group also maintains ongoing communications
with its employees, customers and suppliers through
various channels such as regular meetings, calls and
emails in order to allow employees to contribute to the
development of the Group, deliver better customer
services to our clients and obtain better services and
cooperation from our suppliers.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and
exemption available to Shareholders by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 are set
out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements
and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 to this
annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company had no reserves
available for distribution to shareholders.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements of our property, plant and
equipment during the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025 are set out in are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its Shares listed on
the Stock Exchange nor did the Company or any of its
subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such Shares during
the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025 and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qing Haodong

Mr. Mai Lu

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik

INEDs

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth
Mr. Dan Kun Lei Raymond
Mr. Lai Man Shun

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in
“Directors and Senior Management” to this annual
report. In accordance with the Articles of Association, all
Directors shall retire at the AGM and being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election thereat.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company which
is not terminable within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

Remuneration of the Directors and Five Highest
Paid Individuals

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five
highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in note
9 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The Company has received from each of the
independent non-executive Directors an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that
all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in
the Listing Rules.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of our Group
has been set up by the remuneration committee of
the Board (the “Remuneration Committee”’) on the
basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.
The remuneration of the Directors is recommended
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market statistics. The Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to the
eligible participants.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE AND
COMPETING BUSINESS

Save as disclosed under note 32 “Related Party
Transactions” to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance (as defined in Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules) to which the Company or its holding company or
any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director, an entity connected with the
Director or controlling shareholder of the Company or its
subsidiaries (other than members of the Group) had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date
of this annual report.

As of 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or their
respective associates had engaged in or had any
interest in any business which competes or may compete
with the business of the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions were set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. In
the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the related
party transactions were carried out in the normal course
of business and at terms negotiated between the Group
and the respective related parties. The Directors confirm
that none of the related party transactions set out in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements constituted
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules that
is required to be disclosed.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 had the Company
or any of its subsidiaries entered into any contract of
significance with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries, nor had any contract of significance been
entered into for the services provided by the controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the Year, the Group had not entered into any
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this
report pursuant to the Listing Rules during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURE

As at 31 March 2025, the interests or short positions of
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required: (i)
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
as recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules, and Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO) are as follows:
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Notes:

(1)  Pursuant to a confirmatory deed, Mr. Lam Keung, Mr. Qing
Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao (spouse of Mr. Qing Haodong) have
acknowledged and confirmed, among other things, that they
are acting in concert with each other. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Lam Keung, Mr. Qing Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which any of them is interested
under the SFO.

(2) P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Mr. Lam Keung, and Mr.
Lam Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(8) Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Ms. Feng Tao, and Ms.
Feng Tao is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

(4)  The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, so far as
is known to the Directors, none of the Directors and the
chief executives of the Company had or were deemed
to have any interest or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO), which would have to be notified the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions in which they were taken or deemed to
have under such provisions of the SFO) and/or required
to be recorded in the Register or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to the Directors and chief executives
of the Company, as at 31 March 2025, the person (other
than a Director or the chief executives of the Company)
or corporations who had interests or short position in
the Share and underlying Shares which were required
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO were as follows:
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Number of percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Shares®  shareholding
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ERaERAA
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Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. Beneficial owner 84,000,000 (L) 7.65%
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Notes:

(1)

Pursuant to a confirmatory deed, Mr. Lam Keung, Mr. Qing
Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao (spouse of Mr. Qing Haodong) have
acknowledged and confirmed, among other things, that they
are acting in concert with each other. Accordingly, each of Mr.
Lam Keung, Mr. Qing Haodong and Ms. Feng Tao is deemed to
be interested in all the Shares in which any of them is interested
under the SFO.

P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Mr. Lam Keung, and Mr.
Lam Keung is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. is 100% owned by Ms. Feng Tao, and Ms.
Feng Tao is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by
Kingtech (BVI) Ltd. under the SFO.

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.
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Save as those disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025,
the Directors and the chief executives of the Company
are not aware of any other person or corporation having
an interest or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would be required to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme pursuant
to a resolution in writing passed by the shareholders
on 21 June 2019 (the “Share Option Scheme”) as
incentives or rewards for eligible participants who
contribute to the Group.

As at 31 March 2025, no share option was granted,
exercised, lapsed or cancelled under the Share Option
Scheme. Summary of major terms of the Share Option
Scheme are as follows:

(i) Purposes of the scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to
enable the Group to grant options to selected
participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to our Group. The Directors consider
the Share Option Scheme will enable the Group
to reward the employees, the Directors and other
selected participants for their contribution to our
Group and to attract and retain such individuals.
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(ii) The Participants

(iii)

The following persons of the Company, any member
of the Group or of an entity in which the Group
holds an equity interest may be invited by the
Directors to take up options to subscribe for Shares
at the Directors’ absolute discretion:

employees and directors;
suppliers and customers;

persons or entities that provides research,
development or other technological support;

holders of any securities;

advisers (professional or otherwise) or
consultants to any area of business or business
development; and

any other group or classes of participants
who have contributed or may contribute by
way of joint venture, business alliance or other
business arrangement to the development and
growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares

The maximum number of Shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme shall not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at
the Listing Date (i.e. 80,000,000 shares).
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(iv) Maximum entitlement of each participant

(v)

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted to each
participant other than a Director, chief executive
or substantial shareholders of the Company who
accepts the offer for the grant of an option under
the Share Option Scheme in any 12-month period
shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any
of their associates, are subject to approval by the
INEDs. Where any grant of options to a substantial
shareholder of the Company or an INED, or to any
of their respective associates, in excess of 0.1% of
the Shares in issue at the date of grant and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the
Shares at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Time of acceptance and exercise of option

An offer of options may be accepted by a
participant within 28 days from the date of the offer
of the options. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer, a grantee is not
required to hold an option for any minimum period
nor achieve any performance targets before the
exercise of an option granted to him.
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(vi) Subscription price for Shares and
consideration for the option

The subscription price for Shares will be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of the offer of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of
the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Shares.

A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable by
the grantee on acceptance of the grant of option.

(vii) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years commencing on 21 June 2019,
the date on which the Share Option Scheme is
adopted.

EQUITY-LINK AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement that would or might result
in the Company issuing Shares, or that requiring the
Company to enter into an agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing shares, was entered into
by the Company during the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025 or subsisted at the end of the year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors,
as of the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

(vi)

(vii)
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands (place of incorporation of
the Company) or under the Articles of Association which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a
pro-rata basis to its existing Shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has adopted the code provisions as
set out in the CG Code. The Board considered that
throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the applicable
code provisions set out in the CG Code except for those
disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report included
in this report. For details please refer to the “Corporate
Governance Report” on pages 81 to 103 of this annual
report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts, other than the employment contracts of
the executive Directors, concerning the management
and administration of the whole or substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director
shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/
she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance
cover for the Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 and the indemnity
provision and Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
remained in force as of the date of this report.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025, the five
largest customers of the Group comprised 59.5% by
value of our total sales during the year, with the largest
customer accounted for 28.8%.

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025, the five
largest suppliers of the Group comprised 88.5% by value
of our total purchases during the year, with the largest
supplier accounted for 41.8%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or a
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the number of issued shares of
the Company) has an interest in any of our five largest
customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no
time during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 was
the Company or any of its holding company, subsidiaries
or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Other than the matters outlined elsewhere in this Annual
Report, there have been no matters that have occurred
subsequent to 31 March 2025 which have significantly
affected, or may significantly affect the Group's
operations, results or state of affairs in future years.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025 have been audited by
Moore CPA Limited (“Moore Hong Kong”). A resolution
will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM for the re-
appointment of Moore Hong Kong as the independent
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Keung
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors is pleased to present the
corporate governance report for the Company for the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the principles and code
provisions according to the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”) of
Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules as the basis of the
Company’s corporate governance practices with effect
from the Listing Date.

The Company is committed to maintaining high
standards and has applied the Principles that are set out
in the CG Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing
Rules. The Company’s corporate governance practices
are based on these Principles. The Board believes that
good corporate governance standards are essential
in contributing to the provision of a framework for the
Company to safeguard the interests of its shareholders,
enhance corporate value, formulate its business
strategies and policies, and enhance transparency and
accountability.

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has
complied with all the code provisions of the CG Code
and to a large extent the recommended best practices in
the CG Code throughout the period from 1 January 2024
to 31 March 2025, except for the deviation from code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code as described below.
The Company will continue to review and monitor its
corporate governance practices to ensure compliance
with the CG Code.
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Our Company complies or intends to comply with the CG
Code set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules, save
for Code provision C.2.1 which requires that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer be separated
and performed by different individuals. Mr. Lam is both
our Chief Executive Officer and Chairman. Our Board
believes that vesting the roles of both Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman in the same person has the benefit
of ensuring consistent leadership and efficient discharge
of executive functions within our Group. Our Group
considers that the balance of power and authority of
the present arrangement will not be impaired as during
the period the Board comprised six other experienced
and high-calibre individuals including three other
executive Directors and three independent non-executive
Directors who would be able to offer advice from
various perspectives. In addition, for major decisions
of our Group, the Board will make consultations with
appropriate Board committees and senior management.
Therefore, our Directors consider that the present
arrangement is beneficial to and in the interest of our
Company and our Shareholders as a whole and the
deviation from Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code is
appropriate in such circumstance.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted written guidelines (the
“Written Guidelines”) on no less exacting terms than
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its own code for
securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all of
them have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code and the Written Guidelines throughout the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this report.
No incident of non-compliance of the Written Guidelines
by the employees who are likely to be in possession
of inside information of the Company was noted by the
Company.

82 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2025

AARETHA BB TCETRBD M &
CIATECEEEIRTAD  HEFRIEX
FC2URERIN R TE £ FE RITHRAR
AYTHRAERANEALHE - RELTITT
BBHERER BEFEHEAR-ALH
ETRAHEFEFENRNBER —HEE
AR EBMBITREEBAITHBEE - A&HE
R BRTHENRARBREFETEX
B RERAHHEEZFEEEAIINAEE
REELTHEHNOAL  BEEAM=F
WTEEN-RBIUFNTES  KFEEA
EENRHEARTENER o bt BASK
BFHEXRE T H  EFERKSREE
MEFSZEEheREREETEN -
At EFRR/BINLZHENRERE
ARA LB REBMEDE  MRBECERE
BSFRIDSFRME X EC2 1R E LB R T B

faE -

EFERXSZNEETA

ARRIEHEMA—EFRENMERCEMARAD
MIEXCIFB LM BETAESTHETESRR
SORETR(REFAD 2R ENER
ol ((EBEES ) ERAFESETH
HFR TR

ER2BESFLARBERR  2RBES
BRARENRETERERAREEH —FHE
STIRETRIRERIES c ARR L EEIR
AEEAARRARHEENEEFETE
ST EMESINER -



BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Roles and Responsibilities

The Group endeavours to enhance corporate efficiency
and profitability through the Board. The directors
recognise their collective and individual responsibility to
the shareholders and perform their duties diligently to
contribute to positive results for the Group and maximise
returns for shareholders. The Board’'s focus is on the
formulation of business strategy and policy, and control.
Matters reserved for the Board are those affecting the
Company’s overall strategic policies, finances and
shareholders. These include, but not limited to the
following:

— determining policy matters, business plans and
strategies, risk management, internal control,

— annual and quarterly financial forecast;

— preliminary announcements of interim and final
results, and interim and annual reports;

— dividend policy;

— major corporate activities such as material
acquisitions and capital expenditures; and

— Directors’ appointment, re-election and

recommendations.

Directors could seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to access and to consult with the
Company’s senior management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation
of the Group are delegated to the management. The
delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from
the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the management.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report,
the Board comprises four executive Directors and three
INEDs. The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Qing Haodong

Mr. Mai Lu

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik

INEDs

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth
Mr. Dan Kun Lei Raymond
Mr. Lai Man Shun

The biographical information of the Directors and
relationship between the Directors are set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
on pages 52 to 62 of this annual report. There is no
other relationship including financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships among the Board
members.

Throughout the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025
and up to the date of this annual report, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-
executive Directors, with at least one independent non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

The Company also complied with the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive
Directors representing one-third of the Board. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed
his or her independence during the period from 1
January 2024 to 31 March 2025 pursuant to the Listing
Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each of the independent non-executive Directors
in respect of his independence in accordance with
the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors are independent in
accordance with the requirements set out in the Listing
Rules.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
businesses, strategic decisions and performance and
is collectively promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board
takes decisions objectively in the best interests of the
Company.

The Chairman leads the Board to formulate corporate
mission, visions and policies of the Group and to ensure
that all Directors are properly briefed on issues.

All Directors, including INEDs, have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.

All executive Directors actively involves in managing
the affairs of the Company with a good understanding
of the business, and play important roles in the daily
operations, whilst all INEDs participate in the Board
meetings and bring their independent views and
judgments on various issues.

INEDs provide the Group with a wide range of skills,
expertise and varied backgrounds and qualifications
through their regular attendance and active participation
at various committee meetings of the Company. They
bring independent opinion and judgment on the
strategy and policies to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders are taken into account.
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During the Year, each executive Director frequently met
and discussed with the management team in order to
maintain an effective feedback system and enable the
Group to react to changes or problems quickly and
efficiently. The Board shall review its arrangement on
delegation of responsibilities and authority regularly to
ensure that such delegations are appropriate in view
of the Company’s prevailing circumstances and that
appropriate reporting system is in place.

Each Director is free to seek advice from and has
access to the Company’s senior management team
independently.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance
Records

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that
at least four regular Board meetings should be held
in each year at approximately quarterly intervals with
active participation of majority of directors, either in
person or through electronic means of communication.
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda
for a regular meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the
Directors or Board committee members at least three
days before the meetings to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately
prepared for the meetings. When Directors or Board
committee members are unable to attend a meeting,
they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the
Chairman prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are
kept by the company secretary with copies circulated to
all Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board committee
meetings are recorded in sufficient detail about the
matters considered by the Board and the Board
committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each
Board meeting and Board committee meeting are sent to
the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after
the date on which the meeting is held. Minutes of the
Board meetings are open for inspection by Directors.
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Six Board meetings and one annual general meeting of
the Company (the “AGM”) were held during the Year. The
attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and

the AGM is as follows:
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No. of Attendance/
No. of Meeting

Name of Director EEHA Eligible to Attend AGM
EHE

EERBREEB =

LTS BEXE

Mr. Lam Keung (Chairman and MR 5t A& 6/6 11

Chief Executive Officer) (FEFRTHAEE)

Mr. Qing Haodong N 5/6 1/1

Mr. Mai Lu BREE 6/6 11

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik B BE 4+ 6/6 11

Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEELE 6/6 11

Mr. Lai Man Shun REGETE 6/6 1/1

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth PR B 4 5t A& 6/6 1/1
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Directors’ training and development

All Directors should keep abreast of the responsibilities
as a director of the Company and of the conduct and
business activities of the Company. The Company
is responsible for arranging suitable training for its
Directors. The Company has arranged for Directors to
attend a training session which place emphasis on the
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director,
as well as the latest development regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements.
All the Directors had also participated in appropriate
continuous professional development activities by
reading materials regarding regulatory updates and
corporate governance matters.

The Articles of Association contains provisions for the
appointment, re-election and removal of Directors as
follows:

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the Directors is engaged on a service contract
(in the case of the executive Directors) or a letter of
appointment (in the case of the independent non-
executive Directors) for a specific term of three years,
which is renewable by mutual consent and subject to the
articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”).

The Articles of Association provides that all Directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to
the Board shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the next following annual general meeting of the
Company.

Every Director (including those appointed for a specific
term) shall also be subject to retirement and re-election
by rotation at least once every three years at the annual
general meetings of the Company under the Articles of
Association.

Responsibilities of the Directors

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership
and control of the Company, and is collectively
responsible for directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs.
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The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees,
leads and provides direction to management by laying
down strategies and overseeing their implementation,
monitors the Group’s operational and financial
performance, and ensures that sound internal control
and risk management systems are in place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.

The independent non-executive Directors are
responsible for ensuring a high standard of regulatory
reporting of the Company and providing a balance in the
Board for bringing effective independent judgment on
corporate actions and operations.

All Directors have full and timely access to all the
information of the Company and may, upon request,
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for
discharging their duties to the Company.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments
and changes in order to effectively perform their
responsibilities and to ensure that they remain informed
and relevant for their contribution to the Board.

Every newly appointed Director has received formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and full awareness of Director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements. Besides, meetings with senior
management of the Company were also arranged.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings for
Directors would be arranged and reading materials on
relevant topics would be provided to Directors where
appropriate.
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During the Year, the Company organized one training
session conducted by qualified professionals for all
the Directors. Such training session covered a wide
range of relevant topics including directors’ duties and
responsibilities, risk management and internal controls
etc. In addition, relevant reading materials including
directors’ manual, legal and regulatory updates and
seminar handouts have been provided to the Directors
for their reference and studying.

All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expense. The company
secretary is responsible for keeping records of training
taken by each Director.

The individual training record of each Director received
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 is set
out below:

Reading materials
relevant to corporate

REAFER ARAREBEETER 5
HAEEBEXALTETHNIFIRE - thE
FIRESIRBZNAEEIE BRE
ENRERET RREELANEE
F o LI RRBINAEF KA E
ME BRESETM ZRLEEEHE
AARMTEERHELSERARH -

i

B B D BT 8 5B A8 A B S MR R
MEARAEN - AAMER
ERETRIOEN -

A

o

ik

&

g
o\

SEENEHZE2025F3A31HIE+REA
BEXEINNERGZERFETMT :

Attending training
session(s) relevant
to corporate

governance and governance and

Name of Director EEHSZ director’s duties director’s duties
HOREAREEHSE HFEALEEARES
HEAMEBEME BESHEHEANENERR
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Lam Keung o8 5T 4 Y Y
Mr. Qing Haodong B0 R A Y Y
Mr. Mai Lu BEBEHE Y Y
Ms. Cheng Yu Pik Bl BE Ar & Y Y
Independent Non-executive B HTEZE
Directors
Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth R Bl # 5 & Y Y
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HMEELE Y \4
Mr. Lai Man Shun REREXE Y Y

90 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2025



Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management

The Directors’ remuneration for the fifteen months ended
31 March 2025 are set out in note 9 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management
(other than the Directors) whose particulars are
contained in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2025 by band is set out below:
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B & R 4R & B A SRR BT REQ o

BECEERTAUMTREMEXEELMK
RNEE20253A3A L+ R EASRE
BEKE(EERINEEZEHHRNAF R
[BEENERETERE]—&R) M H A5
R lB N

Number of

Remuneration band (HKS$) ol 4H B (& JT) individual(s)
AE

Nil to 1,000,000 = £1,000,000 S
1,000,000 to 1,500,000 1,000,000%1,500,000 1
1,500,000 to 2,000,000 1,500,000% 2,000,000 1
2,000,000 to 2,500,000 2,000,000% 2,500,000 o
2,500,000 to 3,000,000 2,500,000% 3,000,000 o
3,000,000 to 3,500,000 3,000,000% 3,500,000 =
2
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following
corporate governance duties:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance and make
appropriate recommendations to the Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the
code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

The chairman and chief executive officer of our
Company is Mr. Lam Keung. The reasons for the two
roles are being performed by the same individual are
set out in the paragraph headed “Corporate Governance
Practices” in this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three (3) Board committees,
namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. All the
committees are empowered by the Board under the
respective terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, which are posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company and
are available for inspection by the Shareholders upon
request made to the Company Secretary. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties.

The majority of the members of the Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
are independent non-executive Directors. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the INEDs, namely
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond, Mr. Lai Man Shun and Mr.
Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth. Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth
is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Board considers that each Audit Committee
member has extensive commercial experience and the
Audit Committee has a suitable expertise in various
businesses, financial and legal sectors and that the
composition and establishment of the Audit Committee
complies with the requirements under rule 3.10(2) and
3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no
less exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code.
The main duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal controls system of the Group,
assist the Board to fulfill its responsibility over the audit,
and review and approve connected transactions and to
advise the Board.
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The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing
the functions set out in code provision D.3.3 of the
CG Code. These include developing and reviewing
the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations to the Board;
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior
management of the Company; reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; developing,
reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and reviewing the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code from time to time adopted
by the Company and the disclosure in the corporate
governance report to be contained in the Company’s
annual report.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the
Period to review and consider, in respect of the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025, two interim and annual
financial results and reports, significant issues on the
financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal
control and risk management systems, scope of work
and appointment of external auditor.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors twice
during the Period without the presence of the executive
Directors and the management.

The attendance of each INED at the Audit Committee
meetings is as follows:

ERZEENAERITEEEATAISA
(R X D.3.3MR T BB AE - 2 B 15 I
EERAARARRNEEERRRIRER
TRAEEFEREES B ERARA
EERSREBAEBNBIIREERERE
B BRIMERARAEETERNEE
METENBRREESR  HIE - ma k&
RERRARBEENEZNRTERR
ERFMA)  RERFS AR ETAR
AT R AN EEESTRMBERRER
REFRAACEEAREANMNKE -

EZEEeRABBARIT T NS H
NEMNEEH 2202543A31HIE+ R
BANMMOFEERFERBEELRE -
EAVBEREEREEFNEAREE A
HEELRERBRERESE - INEXEEMNT
EBBEREME -

RAHEA  BERZEETERTEER
BEETESOBERT HEINE &2 2ah &
TTMAREME -

RSN -

No. of Attendance/
No. of Meetings

Members o4 =] Eligible to Attend
CHE SERHEN

BEAH

Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth PR B 4 5t A4 3/3
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEELE 3/3
Mr. Lai Man Shun REELRE 3/3
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprises of one executive
Director, Mr. Lam Keung, and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond
and Mr. Lai Man Shun (chairman).

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee
are of no less exacting terms than those set out in
the CG Code. The main duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to review and make recommendations
to the Board regarding the terms of remuneration
packages, bonuses and other compensation payable
to our Directors and senior management, to assess the
performance of executive directors, to approve the terms
of executive directors’ service contracts, as well as to
review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes
under chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee held three meetings during
the Year. The attendance records of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are as follows:
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reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Company, the remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and senior management and other related
matters of the Company.
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Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code,
details of the remuneration of the senior management
(other than Directors) by bands for the year ended 31
December 2024 is as follows:

RIBEEEREATRIA TR FETSMK -
=AREEE (EERIN REE2024F12A
SIHLFERBES DFMFROT

Number of
Remuneration Band employee(s)
FiNEEE EE&AB
HKD1,000,000-HKD2,000,000 2

1,000,000/ 7T & 2,000,000 JT

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note
9 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises of one
executive Director, Mr. Lam Keung (chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lai
Man Shun and Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are
(i) to review the structure, size and composition of the
Board on a regular basis; (ii) to make recommendations
to our Board relating to the appointment, re-appointment;
(iii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
members of the Board; and (iv) to assess the
independence of our INEDs.

The Board has adopted the Board diversity policy
(the “Board Diversity Policy”) and the Nomination
Committee shall monitor the implementation of the
Board Diversity Policy and review the progress of its
measurable objectives from time to time.

A summary of the Board Diversity Policy, together with
the implementation are disclosed as below.
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The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to strengthen the performance of the
Board, promote effective decision-making and better
corporate governance and monitoring. To achieve a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company
encourages increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing an appropriate composition of the Board,
the Board diversity has been considered from a number
of perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, culture and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Directors appointment will be based on applicable merits
and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on
the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held
1 meeting for, among other matters, reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessing the independence of INEDs and making
recommendation to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors.

The attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee meeting during the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025 is as follows:
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BHE S&EREHEN
ERARE
Mr. Lam Keung MR 5t A& 11
Mr. Lai Man Shun RBELE 11
Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth PR [ 4 ot A 1/1
Nomination Policy 1’2 BUR
Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Nomination EBEEFe@HBREHE IEL2LTEeBTE

Committee evaluates skills, knowledge and experience
required by the Board, and identifies if there are any
special requirements for the vacancy. The Nomination
Committee identifies appropriate candidates and
convenes Nomination Committee meeting to discuss
and vote in respect of the nominated Directors, and
recommends candidates for Directors to the Board.
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The Nomination Committee considers candidates with
individual skills, experience and professional knowledge
that can best assist and facilitate the effectiveness of the
Board. The Nomination Committee takes the policy on
Board diversity of the Company into consideration when
it considers the balance of composition of the Board as a
whole.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2025 which give a true and fair view of the
affairs of the Company and the Group and of the Group’s
results and cash flows.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the
Company about their reporting responsibilities on
the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditors’ Report on pages 140 to 148 of this annual
report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the
independent auditor of the Company, Moore Hong Kong,
in respect of audit services and other services for the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

REZEBEKZERAGEATERBfRE
EZSMENEARE  EREEXNH
AR - REZEBENEREFTTERN
EEVTER SEEBRRARAESZES
TTAE R -

EFHMBRRNHEE

EERREEEREEE2025F3H31H
FEENPBRER  UNEED S RBAK
NAIRAEBHNERIARKNEBNELE M

A s =
fﬁﬂi/ﬁi °

SEFVENTEABARAEHRARB N
BREENEXRERREANEHRIFER
MERTHABARE -

AN E) TS AZ BAD h H Y B R R R B [E 3R
EXFEEEBR SR AFRFE140E
148B MBI A RER -

35 3T #% S A BN &

HE2025%3A318 1L+ HM[E A EZR
BREMREEN, A RRQR B ILAZE
MAESHEEEENMES oI OT :

Fee paid/

Service iR 75 payable
et

FE 1+ & F

US$’000

FER

Annual audit services FEEZRG 70
Other services E b fr 7% =
Total =k 70
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for
maintaining an adequate and effective risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the interest
of the Company and the Shareholders and through the
Audit Committee, reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems on an annual basis.

Procedures have been set up for, inter alia, identifying,
analysing, categorizing, mitigating and monitoring
significant risks, and safeguarding assets against
unauthorized use or disposition, maintaining proper
accounting records and ensuring reliability of financial
information, ensuring compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations and protecting the interests of the
Shareholders. Such systems are designed to manage,
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and aims to provide a reasonable,
as opposed to an absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

The Company does not have an internal audit
department. The Board will set up an internal audit
function in light of the size and nature of the Group’s
business. The need for an internal audit function will be
reviewed from time to time. During the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee engaged
an independent internal control consultant, to facilitate
internal audit function to review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of risks management
and internal controls including financial, operational,
compliance, risk management policies and systems
established by the Company.

Risk management

The Group has conducted formal risk assessment by
the management to identify and assess enterprise risks
(including environmental, social and governance risks)
with reference to the Group’s business objectives and
strategies. A risk assessment based on the Group’s
risk model has been conducted through interviews with
senior management of the Group, together with reviews
of existing risk mitigation measures and follow-up
interviews as necessary, to facilitate the assessment.
Action plans have been developed to further enhance
the risk management capabilities of particular key risks
as appropriate.
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Internal control

The Group ensures internal controls are designed
and implemented in all major aspects of the Group’s
operations and details of internal control activities are
included in the operating policies and procedures
of the Group. Based on the procedures performed
by the independent internal control consultant, no
significant deficiencies were identified and improvement
opportunities associated with financial management,
sales and marketing management, and production
quality management had been submitted to the Audit
Committee for considerations.

The Audit Committee also reported such findings and
recommendations to the Board for the improvement
of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group and the Board considered that all
recommendations should be properly followed to ensure
that the sound and effectiveness of the risk and internal
control systems of the Group can be maintained.

COMPANY SECRETARY

In compliance with Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules, the
Company Secretary is a full time employee and has
the day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
She is responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters. For the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025, the Company Secretary confirmed that he
had attended sufficient professional training as required
in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules during
the Period.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company may distribute dividends by way of
cash or by other means that the Company consider
appropriate. Any proposed distribution of dividends
shall be determined by the Board and will be subject to
Shareholders’ approval. In deciding whether to propose
any dividend payout and/or determining the amount of
any dividend to be paid, the Board will take into account,
amongst other matters:

(a) the Group’'s actual and expected financial
performance;

(b) interests of shareholders of the Company;

(c) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the other members of the
Group;

(d) the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return
on equity and financial covenants to which the
Group is subject;

(e) possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

(f) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(g) the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans;

(h) liquidity position of the Group and any future
commitments at the time of declaration of dividend;

(i) taxation considerations;

(j) statutory and regulatory restrictions;

(k) general business conditions and strategies;

() general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or
financial performance and position of the Company;

and

(m) other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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The declaration and payment of dividends shall be
subject to all applicable laws and regulations including
but not limited to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the memorandum
and articles of association of the Company (the
“Memorandum and Articles”).

The Company will review its dividend policy from time
to time and reserves the right in its sole and absolute
discretion to update, amend and/or modify the dividend
policy at any time.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially separate
issue at general meetings, including the election of
individual directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and poll results will be posted on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company after
each general meeting.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 58, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for the
Shareholders to move new resolutions at general
meetings. Shareholders who wish to move a resolution
may request the Company to convene a general meeting
in accordance with the procedures set out in the
preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the
Company. The Company will not normally deal with
verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as
mentioned above to the following:

Address: Unit A, 13/F, Block 1, Leader Industrial Centre,
188-202 Texaco Road, Tsuen Wan, N.T., Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Investor Relations Department)
Fax: + 852 2391 2422

Email: ir@conteltechnology.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit
and send the original duly signed written requisition,
notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact
details and identification in order to give effect thereto.
Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as required
by law.

COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS/
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication
with Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor
relations and investor understanding of the Company’s
business performance and strategies. The Company
endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general
meetings and other general meetings. At the annual
general meeting, Chairman and chairman of the Board
committees (or their delegates as appropriate) are
available to meet the Shareholders and answer their
enquiries.

The Company maintains a website at
www.conteltechnology.com as a communication platform
with the Shareholders and investors, where the financial
information and other relevant information of the Company
are available for public access.
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INTRODUCTION TO THE REPORT

The Group is pleased to present the 2025 Environmental,
Social and Governance Report (the “ESG Report”)
to provide an overview of the Group’s management of
significant issues affecting the operations, including
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues.
The Group believes sustainability is a key to achieve
continuous success, therefore we have integrated this
concept into our business strategy. In order to pursue a
successful and sustainable business model, the Group
recognizes the importance of integrating ESG aspects
into our risk management system. We adhere to the
ESG management direction in accordance with the
concept of sustainable development and are committed
to progressing effectively and responsibly against ESG
affairs.

BOARD STATEMENT — ESG
GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors (the “Board”) is pleased to
present the ESG Report that summarizes the ESG
initiatives, plans and performances of the Group
and demonstrates its commitment to sustainable
development. The Group sincerely commits towards the
long-term sustainable growth goal and strives to be a
responsible corporation.

The Group has developed a core governance framework
to ensure the alignment of ESG governance with our
strategic growth while advocating the integration of
ESG into our business operations. The structure of our
corporate social responsibility is divided into two main
components, namely the Board and an ESG working

group.

The Board holds the ultimate responsibility on monitoring
the Group’s ESG issues, including ESG management
approach, strategy and policies. In order to ameliorate
the management of the Group’s ESG performance and
identify potential risks, the Board conducts regular
materiality assessments with the assistance of the
ESG working group to evaluate and prioritize material
ESG-related issues with reference to the opinions of our
stakeholders.
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The ESG working group, composed of core members
from different departments, is established to facilitate
the Board’s oversight of ESG matters. The ESG working
group is responsible for collecting and analyzing ESG
data, monitoring and evaluating the Group’s ESG
performance, ensuring compliance with ESG-related
laws and regulations, and preparing ESG reports. The
ESG working group also arranges regular meetings
to evaluate the effectiveness of current policies and
procedures and formulate appropriate solutions
intending to improve the overall performance of
ESG policies. At meetings, the ESG working group
discussed the existing and upcoming plans to monitor
and manage the Group’s strategic goals in terms
of sustainable development, mitigation of potential
risks and minimization of the negative impacts in our
business operations. By setting ESG-related goals and
targets for the purpose of minimizing the environmental
impacts in the Group’s operation, the Group affirmed
its commitment to embedding sustainability into
the business operation and fulfilling its corporate
responsibility. The ESG working group is responsible
to report to the Board periodically, assist in assessing
and identifying the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities,
evaluate the implementation and effectiveness of internal
control mechanism, and review the progress of the set
goals and targets.

REPORTING PERIOD

This ESG Report describes the ESG activities,
challenges and measures taken by the Group for the
period from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2025 (the
“‘Reporting Period”, “Year”, “2025”). As the financial
year end date has been adjusted for the current
period, the ESG Report spans an extended timeframe
of 15 months—from 1 January 2024 to 31 March 2025.
Consequently, the comparative figures may not align
directly with those from the previous year.

REPORTING SCOPE

This ESG Report has covered all the material aspects
of the Group’s business operations, which includes the
warehouse and office in Hong Kong and the offices in
Shenzhen, Shanghai and Chengdu. They are operated
by the subsidiaries of the Group, namely Flyring
Electronics Limited, IH Technology Limited, Shenzhen
IH Technology Co., Ltd. (RINTHEEZH KM ER A
Al), Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Co., Ltd.
(EBREMEFHMAMRAA) and Chengdu Flyring
Electronics Co., Ltd. (FXEBRIREFH R R A)).
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with
the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix C2 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). During the preparation for this ESG
Report, the Group has applied the reporting principles
stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

° “Materiality” — The materiality assessment was
conducted to identify material issues, thereby
adopting the confirmed material issues as the
focus for the preparation of the ESG Report. The
materiality of issues was reviewed and confirmed
by the Board. Please refer to the sections headed
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality
Assessment” for further details.

° “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added
along with quantitative data disclosed in the ESG
Report to explain any standards, methodologies
and source of conversion factors used during the
calculation of emissions and energy consumption.

o “Consistency” — The preparation approach of this
ESG Report was substantially consistent with the
previous year, and explanations were provided
regarding data with changes in the scope of
disclosure and calculation methodologies.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We value our stakeholders and their feedback on our
business and ESG issues and is committed towards
integrating sustainability into different aspects of
operations. To fully understand, respond and address
the core concerns of different stakeholders, we
have maintained close communication with major
stakeholders, including but not limited to shareholders
and investors, customers, suppliers, employees,
government and regulatory bodies, communities,
non-governmental organizations (“NGOs”) and media.
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Through diversified stakeholders’ engagement and
communication channels, we bring the stakeholders’
expectations into our operation and ESG strategies. The
Group’s communication channels with stakeholders and
their corresponding expectations are summarized as

follows:

Stakeholder Group
Ry E AR

Shareholders and
Investors

BREEEE

Customers
xPF

Suppliers
e

Communication Channels

BEARE

Annual general meetings and other
shareholder meetings

BRRBFRGRAMBBRRERE

Financial reports

MBHmE

Announcements and circulars

NESYS SRR

Customer satisfaction surveys
ERPMmEERAE

Customer service hotline & email
ERAZENER

Complaint review meetings
KFBEET =

Social media platform
HRERBTE

Emails & website

EEP N Ak

Supplier management meetings

HEBEREGZ

Supplier on-site audit and
assessment system

HERASEZIERSR

R HEREARSE

BRZTIENFNELERBRBRE -
HAB RO ENREMATFIEERNIR
HoHehEREE AKEERFNHEN
BERBLRERENHER AT

Key Expectations

TEHE

Compliance with relevant laws and
regulations

BTHEBERRER

Timely corporate disclosure

BROAFERNHE

Financial results

B

Corporate sustainability

CEAUFEER

Product and service responsibility
EmMREEE

Customer information protection
BEFERRE

Compliant operation

BREE

Fair competition

N FE

Business ethics and reputation
BMEBRLER

Cooperation with mutual benefits
EEEMNEE
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Stakeholder Group = Communication Channels Key Expectations

{5 & 4 Bl BERE TEHE

Employees Employee opinion survey Health and safety

== EERERAL EEREZE
Channels for employees’ feedback Equal opportunities

(forms, suggestion boxes, etc.) TE#E

EEREREER BRES Remuneration and benefits
Performance reviews ¥ M 18 A
IR AL Career development
In-house training programmes BEERE

A 6 15 3l 51 2
Leisure activities

UNGIREE)
Government and Regular performance reports Tax compliance
Regulating Bodies T HI¥ &R E %5 E
BT R BB Written response to consultation Business ethics
EHEEER BEEER
Field inspections Legal and regulatory compliance
B ER FEREEAER
Communities, NGOs  Public and community activities Social contribution
and Media NHERIEIEE MHtEER
ME - JEBAFAL KX Community investment programs Environmental protection
%68 1% & & 52 RIBRE
ESG reports Regulatory compliance
RIE HEhEAWME EEAR

The Group is committed to working with our stakeholders ANEEHR HEZFHEAE  BRAXEERN
to improve the Group’s ESG performance, and to 3}R¥E - HEREARIE  BEAFTE A
continue creating greater value for the wider society. ZREEREME-
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In assessing the materiality issue, apart from
referencing our own business development strategies
and benchmarking for industry standard practices, the
Group has compiled a questionnaire to identify major
ESG issues. By issuing questionnaires, the Group’s
key stakeholders and management and staff in major
functions are able to assist the Group in reviewing its
operations and identifying the relevant ESG issues, and
assess the importance of relevant issues to the Group's
business and its stakeholders. The Group has analyzed
the survey results and presented them in a materiality
matrix. The following matrix is a summary of the Group’s
material ESG issues during the Reporting Period:
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HHERUEZER  BR2ERMAEH
EBBHRBEBEEERITEREEEG N K
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MPAMBTREHMAREETE S ERBER
MERE  teahkEnEE X EEH
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EERB HEkEARZEME:

Materiality Matrix

. T
> g
0

TR

Employment Practice /

RIEEH

BERE IR

Occupational health and safety
BERENRE

Impact on Stakeholders
HEFmENRE

EEMERE

Protection of Intellectual

Property (“IP") Rights

Product Quality
mEE
YA T —e
IRAE AR

Supply Chain Management /
Privacy Protection
ISR qTraining and development

Energy Management

Customer Service
BRI
.\ Anti-corruption

k&S

I R B R

Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

PIIEET Roahlss T

Green Purchasing

RERE

Emissions Control
e

Waste Management
BEER

Climate Change
RS

Community Investment

tEREE

v

Low Impact on Business High
& ESE ot 7 5
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FEEDBACK

The Group welcomes all feedback and opinions
from its stakeholders. Any of the feedback is
cherished and incorporated in operation strategy
wherever it sees appropriate and considers as the
cornerstone for development. If you have any advice
or suggestions, welcome you to contact us via email at
ir@conteltechnology.com.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Environmental sustainability is a key focus of the Group’s
corporate social responsibility. We implement policies
and practices that help conserve resources, improve
energy efficiency and raise environmental awareness
among our staff. We are committed to building an
environmentally friendly corporation that pays close
attention to conserving the Earth’s natural resources. We
strive to minimize our environmental impacts attributable
to its operations while ensuring high standards in our
operational efficiency and service quality.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complies
with all applicable environmental laws and regulations
and was not aware of any material non-compliance with
laws and regulations that would have a significant impact
on the Group, such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Environmental Protection Law of the
PRC, the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
of the PRC, Air Pollution Control Ordinance of Hong
Kong, Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong and
Noise Control Ordinance of Hong Kong.

Environmental Target

To support global efforts to address climate change and
to facilitate the assessment of the effectiveness of the
Group’s strategies and measures to mitigate the impacts
of climate change, environmental objectives are set at
the Group level as follows:
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Target of reduce intensity by 2030, using 2022 as a base
year:

R HEREARSE

LA2022F AR EF » HEE2030F It F
ETHBEEZE:

Electricity Water Non-hazardous Greenhouse gas
consumption consumption waste emissions
HEE HKE BEEY i = R B B
110% 110% 110% 110%

By setting these targets, it guides the Group’s business
strategy. The steps taken to achieve these goals are
detailed below in each corresponding section.

A.1 Emissions
Air Emissions

The business activities covered by the Group
mainly involve office operations, consequently,
the air pollutant is mainly generated by vehicles.
The Group is committed to following practices to
minimize air emissions:

e Conduct regular vehicle inspection and
maintenance to enhance vehicle efficiency;

o Educate employees to turn off engines for
idling vehicles; and

e When the Group is considering purchasing a
new vehicle, our initial preference is electric
cars.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air
emissions performance was as follows:

Types of exhaust gas Unit
BERER B i
Nitrogen Oxides (NO,) Grams
A8 =,
Sulphur Oxides (SO,) Grams
k=Kl a7 I
Particulate Matter (PM) Grams
CER R 5,

T 3 ke B 4 T 453 A o L 0 B R SR B o
BEBLEREARBNSBERT XA
CET R

Al. HER
BER B

AEENEREHETESLEPRRE
¥% ANERSEMEERSBE
B oo REBEFHEIDATERE  UF
ERLERBENR:

. THEATETRERRE R
BAE R

c BERIEASEHNBRI
Z: R

s EAXAKEERBENAER B

RIWEHRE - AEBERERFHNRIR
L

2025 2023
20254 20234
5,483.50 5,320.00
76.97 100.00
403.74 390.00
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions

The major sources of the Group’s GHG emissions
are generated from petrol consumed by vehicles
(Scope 1) and purchased electricity (Scope 2).
To minimize the GHG emissions, the Group has
adopted policies on the efficient use of energy
as described in the section headed “Use of
Resources” below.

During the Year, the GHG emissions are as follows:

Indicators Unit
EE B {u

Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions
HE - —HEAERBHMN

KgCO2e

Scope 2 — Energy Indirect GHG KgCO2e
emissions
HE_—_ - REZAERBER FTr 8tk

Total GHG emissions
BRERBHERE

FTR-S{LHEE

il E A
AEBBERBHERNEIRRRER
MERAER U (BE)RBENE
H(EBE ) - REFIEEREBYN
AREBERA TN ERER]—&IA
AL EY B AL I RE R B BRER

FA - RERBHERBRAT:

TR_SLLRKEE

2025 2023

20254 20234
12,394.86 18,080.00
91,429.20 83,360.00

Total GHG emissions intensity

HERERBHEWREE?
Notes:

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and are based on, including but not
limited to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the
World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to prepare
an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, the
2022 Sustainability Report” published by HK Electric
Investments Limited and the “CLP 2022 Sustainability
Report” published by CLP Holdings Ltd.

2. As at 31 March 2025, the total number of full time
employees in the Reporting Scope of the Group was 48
(as at 31 December 2023: 91). This data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.
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KgCO2e/Employee
FTrR-_StRE

103,824.06  101,440.00
=
2,163.00 1,110.00
g/R8
G2
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Waste Management
Non-Hazardous Waste

The wastes generated from sites of operations are
generally domestic wastes such as office paper,
paper board and toner. The details of the wastes
generated are as follows:

R HEREARSE

BYEE
EEEY

LEGHWELNEY - RRRERE
W o BN E AR - AR MR
PEEXNEYFBLT:

Types of waste Unit 2025 2023
BEYmER B i 20254 2023%
Non-hazardous waste Tonnes 0.65 0.67
BEREY 7]

Non-hazardous wastes intensity Tonnes/Employee 0.01 0.01
BEEVEE Wi EE

To reduce paper consumption, we encourage our
employees to:

e Reuse envelopes and folders for sending
internal documents and letters;

o Use double side printing; and

e  Adopt electronic filing and electronic meeting.

BBV EREER AMBEE:

o BEAMXHMEHEBIBE
B R A K
e FEREmMITH: R

- FMETHURETEH
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Hazardous Waste

Due to our office-based business nature, no
hazardous waste was produced during the
Reporting Period. Even though the Company did not
generate hazardous wastes during the Reporting
Period, the Company nevertheless has established
guidelines in governing the management and
disposal of hazardous wastes such as engaging
qualified waste management company to collect
and transport hazardous wastes.

A.2 Use of Resources

The Group understands reasonable use of
resources is essential to sustainable development.
The Group is committed to the following:

e  Adopt the principles of “3R”, to reduce, reuse
and recycle to increase the consumption
efficiency of energy, paper, water, high-quality
plastic stretch film (packaging materials) and
other resources in its business operations; and

o Nurture the culture of environmental protection
within the Group to increase environment
awareness of employees.

The Group seeks to encourage its employees to
adopt efficiency measures in the use of lighting,
computer, water, paper and packaging materials.

1 1 4 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2025
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A2.
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Energy Management

The major energy source is electricity. The Group
has implemented various measures to mitigate the
consumption regarding the use of energy as below:

e  Switch off unnecessary lighting in office areas
(such as meeting room, reception area, pantry,
lavatory and corridors) when appropriate;

° Set air conditioner temperatures in the
Company’s offices within 25°C;

e  Switch off unnecessary air-conditioners during
less busy hours (such as lunchtime and
non-business hours);

e  Activate the office PC in standby or hibernation
mode so that the display monitor will switch
off automatically or enter energy saving mode
when idle; and

e  Switch off other idle office equipment, such as
monitors, scanners and printers.

R HEREARSE

FER & &

RRRNEERRREN - AEECE
17 Z I8 45 e DA R K BE R 52 A 75 T /9 OR

-

HEfgmT:
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Through the implementation of the above initiative, A FMBRENER  BEINEHEER
employees’ awareness on energy reduction has BEARS  c EWEHME  XEE®
been increased. During the Reporting Period, the REIRERERBELOT

Group’s energy consumption performance was as

follow:

Types of energy Unit 2025 2023
REREY Efi 2025% 20234
Petrol

M

Purchased Electricity
fBE

Total energy consumption kWh 215,218.84 221,709.12
B HEHE TR B

Total energy consumption intensity kWh/Employee 4,483.73 2,436.36
HEREE ThRE &8

1 1 6 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2025
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Water Resource

Water consumption refers to the water usage
in washroom and pantry. The water supply is
provided by property management office. Due to
our geographic office location, there is no issue
in sourcing water. The Group has implemented
initiatives to control water consumption as follows:

° Promote the concept of water consumption
among employees and strengthens the
maintenance, inspection and management
of water-consuming equipment for water
conservation; and

o Pay attention to the efficient utilization of
water resources, and carries out effective
management from both awareness and
practice perspectives.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water
consumption performance was as follows:

Indicator Unit

BE B (i

Water consumption m3

K 3JoK
Water consumption intensity m3/Employee
HKEE MHKEE

R HEREARSE

KEF
FKERAFERIFKEHANK - 4
KEAMEEBEERME AR EMAD
MAETHWEMNE » KRR ERE
K RE - REBDHEITIA TS
KB

EREREFSEFERAKES  NERE
FEKERENHE  REMEE -
e IR &

E@Kéﬁmﬁmﬂ

A #RH%
MEBEMEFEETERNE

# e

RBEEHHE NEEHRKKRAN

T

2025 2023
20254 20234
59.00 377.58
1.23 2.35
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A3.

Packaging Materials

The Group continuously reviews and improves
its packaging design and uses sustainable and
recyclable packaging materials as much as possible
to reduce the consumption of packaging materials,
which comprises plastic film and sealing tap.

During the Reporting Year, the packaging materials
used was as below:

Types of material Unit
HHER B i
Packaging Material Rolls
B %

The Environmental and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of the Group’s business, its daily
business operations posed no significant adverse
impact on the environment directly. However, the
GHG emissions would aggravate the phenomenon
of global warming. The Group strives to reduce
the negative impact caused by carbon footprint
through various measures mentioned in the sections
“Emissions” and “Use of resources®.

The Group endeavors to comply with the applicable
environmental laws and regulations and has
adopted effective measures to reduce wastage.
Our employees are fully aware that it is important
for the operation of the Group to minimize the
impact on the environment and natural resources.
Our management also closely monitors the utilities
consumption in different offices and encourages
employees to work together to reduce utilities
consumption.
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A4. Climate Change

The public’s awareness regarding climate change
continues to increase and climate change is
also one of the most frequently discussed topics
internationally. The latest Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change (IPCC) Sixth Assessment
Report further warns of the severity and urgency
of the climate crisis. The Group understands the
importance of identifying and mitigating major
climate-related issues, pays close attention to the
potential impact of climate change on the Group’s
business and operations, and is committed to
managing potential climate-related risks that may
affect the Group’s business activities. The Group
has incorporated climate change-related risks into
enterprise risk management so as to identify and
mitigate potential risks.

Physical Risk

The increased frequency and severity of extreme
weather events, such as typhoons, storms, torrential
rain, extreme cold or extreme heat, will bring
immediate and long-term physical risks to the
Group’s business. Extreme weather events can
threaten the personal safety of our employees,
as well as damage the Group’'s properties and
facilities, resulting in direct financial losses.
Although we have not identified significant
immediate climate risks at our Group’s campuses
and offices, we are aware of the need to strengthen
our protection against future extreme climate
risks and emergencies. To minimize potential
risks and hazards, the Group has put in place
countermeasures, including flexible working
arrangements and precautionary measures under
severe or extreme weather conditions. We will
explore contingency plans to further avoid damage
to our facilities due to extreme weather events to
improve business stability.

RIE - HERELGRE
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Transitional Risk

According to our national’s “Dual Carbon” goals,
carbon emissions will strive to achieve a “carbon
peak” by 2030 and endeavor to achieve “carbon
neutrality” by 2060. In line with the achievement
of the carbon neutrality vision, the Group
anticipates that there will be changes in regulation,
technology and market landscape caused by
climate change, including the tightening of national
policies and listing rules and the generation of
environment-related taxes. Stricter environmental
laws and regulations may expose companies to
higher risk of claims and litigation, potentially
incurring additional compliance costs and
impacting the Group’s reputation.

In response to policy, legal risks and reputational
risks, the Group continuously monitors any
changes in laws or regulations and global trends
in climate change to avoid increase in costs,
fines for non-compliance or reputational risks due
to slow responses. In addition, the Group has
been taking comprehensive measures to protect
the environment, including measures aimed at
reducing GHG emissions, and has set targets to
gradually reduce our energy consumption and GHG
emissions in the future.

1 20 Contel Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2025
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SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are our valuable assets. We have
developed employee handbook to govern the
discipline, working hours, leaves and other benefits
of our employees, in accordance with the relevant
laws and regulations.

To attract, motivate and retain experience staffs,
we reviewed their pay packages annually with
prevailing market conditions. Our full-time
employees are entitled to maternity, paternity,
compassionate leaves, medical insurance,
performance related bonus and mandatory
provident fund.

Social and recreational activities are arranged for
the employees in achieving work-life balance. We
apply equal opportunity and non-discrimination in
recruitment, promotion and all other aspects of our
employment practices.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any material non-compliance with
employment related laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the PRC and the Labour Contract Law of the
PRC.

B1.
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,‘J

As of 31 March 2025, the Group’s employee size H E2025F3A31B - A& BERNES
breakdown was as below: AERHALT

Total number of employees 48 91

BEREH

Male 31 55
B
Female 17 36
74

Below 30 7 16
0B A T
30-50 29 62
30E505%
Above 50 12 13
505% Ak

Hong Kong 23 21
e
PRC 25 70
e

Full-Time 48 91
£l
Part-Time 0 0
SR B
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\

The Group’s overall employee turnover rate was AEBERBETIRARAERTS% o

75%.
The table below shows the employee turnover rate TRINRZEMR - Fhtlnl i@
by gender, age group and geographical region: ElomEBMAE:

Male 77% 22%
B
Female 72% 44%
z

Below 30 122% 19%
30 M T
30-50 77% 37%
30E508%
Above 50 24% 15%
508K A L

Hong Kong 27% 14%
B
PRC 97% 36%
1

FEEENREEAR 205w 123
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B2. Health and Safety B2. @RERE

The Group places a high priority on the health
and safety of its employees as an integral part of
its business management approach. Guided by
a people-oriented principle, we are dedicated to
creating a healthy, safe and comfortable working
environment for all employees. Our goal is to
identify and eliminate potential workplace health
and safety hazards, implementing comprehensive
safety management practices across all aspects of
our operations.

The Group has achieved zero work-related
fatalities for three consecutive years (including the
Reporting Period). During the Reporting Period,
the Group had not lost any working days due to
work injury. The Group was also not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group include but not limited to the
Occupational Safety and the Health Ordinance of
Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC and the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
Law of the PRC.
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B3. Development and Training

We acknowledge the important of training for the
development of our employees as well as our
Group. We encourage and support our employees
in personal and professional training, through
sponsoring training programs, seminars, workshops
and conferences, peer learning and on-the-job
coaching, as well as reimbursement for external
training courses to enhance their competencies
in performing their jobs effectively and efficiently.
We believe this is a mutually beneficial practice for
achieving both personal and corporate goals.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has
achieved a total training hour of 126 hours. The
table below shows the employee training data by
gender and employee category:

B3. & & il

R HEREBRE

\

BHMPAEISRENERNEEMNE
RAGEZ BB RIFHREE
ETEARBEREF) - BREDE
HE e TESR®E - RE
BBMAEBREZI - AREYIESHRE
ShEREEIERAE - MR RE RS -
EREA EEERESBHMITIIE -
HFEGE - EHRERBAMERE
BEZERERENOMOE -

R EHE  AEEERFIKHE
H126/M B - TRINIRIRERI K BB
BRI 8l r B BRI 2R

Male
S
Female

Tt

8.33 4.05

0 0

Senior Management
ERERE
Supervisors

E=E

General Staff
ERET

6.25 6.61
2.08 5.50
0 0

BRERRERAIF 2025%F F5H
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IRIE

B4.

1 26 Contel

HERELARSE

During the Reporting Period, we have organized
both internal and external training courses for
employees. Such training courses cover topics
including but not limited to products knowledge
updates, compliance matters, occupational health
and safety, etc.

Labour Standards

The Group considers child and forces labour
unacceptable and ought to be prevented. The
Group has instituted a comprehensive screening
and recruiting process to prohibit the use of child
labour. HR department shall check all new hirers’
identity card before offering position to them.
Employee work schedules are set up fairly to keep
within standard working hours. All employees
are provided with appropriate leave entitlements
including annual leave, sick leave, marriage leave,
maternity leave, paternity leave and compassionate
leave etc.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with any child
and forced labour-related laws and regulations that
would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited to
the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong and the
Labour Law of the PRC.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Relationship is the fundamentals of business. Sound
supply chain management ensures the Group to
sustain its business operations and development.
The Company has supplier evaluation system to
select, maintain and appraisal the performance of
suppliers. We have maintained strong relationships
with our suppliers to meet our customer’s needs in
an effective and efficient manner. When selecting
suppliers, the Group takes factors into account
such as quality of products and functionality, price,
reliability and anticipated market acceptance.
The Group takes zero tolerance for bribery and
corruption and strictly prohibits suppliers from
acquiring procreant contracts through any form of
henbit or gifts given to our employee.

Green Sourcing

The Group is committed to selecting the
environmentally friendly products with competitive
prices and good quality, in order to safeguard
end-users’ health and safety, to prevent pollution
and to efficiently use the natural resources.
The Group requires all departments to take
into account environmental considerations and
search for the products with high recycled
content, with greater durability or with greater
water and energy efficiency. To fulfill the aim of
environmental sustainability in green sourcing,
procurement of eco-friendly products is given
priority where possible and economically viable.
The Group has been closely working with our
suppliers to strengthen our sustainability portfolio
and minimize environmental and social risks
throughout the supply chain and is committed to
promoting sustainable and responsible operational
standards. The Group prefers local suppliers
whenever possible to reduce carbon emissions from
transportation and to support the local economy.

China =8
Others H b
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No. of Suppliers

HrEEE
2025 2023
20255 20234
10 18
24 11
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B6. Product Responsibility B6. Em&E £

The Group recognizes good customer service
is the key to the success and sustainability of a
corporation. Suppliers provide warranty on the
products they supply to the Group for distribution of
electronic components. Suppliers are responsible
for providing or procuring the provision of
in-warranty service to the end customers. During
the Reporting Period, no products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
No products or services related complaints were
received. The Group adopts the following quality
control policies on the products to be sold:

e To perform a series of inspections upon the
receipt of the products in our warehouse
regarding, among others, their appearance,
packaging, specification and brand logo, etc.
on a sampling basis; and

e To report to the supplier if any defects are
identified during quality control examination.
The relevant products will be substantially
returned to the supplier for replacement.

During the Reporting Period, we have not received
any cases of infringement of intellectual property
rights. We are also not aware of any suspected
cases of infringement of intellectual property rights
of the products that we were distributed in 2025.

The Group is also committed to abide by the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance. Personal data
shall be highly protected. Employees are committed
not to disclose confidential information, including
information related to suppliers and customers
whether orally or in writing or in any other media
which are not publicly known.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group was not
aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations concerning advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress that would have
a significant impact on the Group, such laws and
regulations include but are not limited to the Law of
the PRC on the Protection of Consumer Rights and
Interests, the Product Quality Law of the PRC, the
Patent Law of the PRC and the Advertising Law of
the PRC.

Anti-Corruption

Both the Group and its business partners are
committed to upholding the highest ethics
standards. Parties involved in business
interaction shall prohibit every form of corruption,
extortion, bribery, fraud, money laundering
and embezzlement. The Group has formulated
whistleblowing policy and advocates the standards
of fair transaction, advertising and competition and
puts in place a confidentiality mechanism to protect
the identity of suppliers and whistleblowers.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was
not aware of any breaches of relevant laws and
regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. The Group also confirmed
that no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group and the
employees.

Anti-corruption Training

Training related to anti-corruption are rendered
to our management and employees to boost
their awareness on the prevention of any kind of
unethical behaviour such as bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering. During the Reporting Period,
all directors have received corporate governance
related training materials for self-study.
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1 30 Conte

HERELARSE

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group encourages its employees and other
stakeholders, including customers and suppliers,
to raise concerns about suspected improprieties,
misconduct, or malpractice. A confidential channel
is in place for employees and stakeholders to
Report any suspected incidents.

Following the guidelines outlined in the
Whistleblowing Policy, the Group treats every
Reported incident with utmost confidentiality and
ensures that whistleblowers are protected from
unfair dismissal, victimization, or unwarranted
disciplinary action. Incidents related to fraud and
corruption will be thoroughly investigated.

Community Investment

We encourage our employees to participate in
social and community events and to volunteer for
good causes. We will continue to shoulder the
social responsibility by caring the community,
employees and the environment in order to build a
cohesive society. The Group’s area of contribution
focused strongly on the local community needs.

| Technology Company Limited  Annual Report 2025

B8.

EHBF

K%Eﬁzﬁbﬁ@é&ﬁmhﬁ%(’?
EREPMERMELBRERT
T/ Tiﬁ'ﬁfﬂ%i@%ﬁ%%“’gﬁ
AEBRAERTRE  HEEBEEN
ERRETAAIREN -

RIFBRBRAEIES - NEEBESE
REB-—REREMH  BEREHZRARZ
RPNV RE XFEXTERED - &K
MARESHBESHASEFARE -

HERSE

ﬁﬁtﬁ@ﬁé\%iﬁiﬁ@&ﬁ@%@ ’
%f‘f H—57 o ﬁff’ﬁﬂ BRI
ﬁé\&f&iﬁbﬁﬁ tEEE B
@fﬂ% Erae $EIE’JEJ§7&A§
ii£g%¢4¥§iﬁ1i@ﬂ@?%ﬁ?°



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiE - HEREGRSE

CONTENT INDEX OF THE STOCK (IRIE - HEREBREESD
EXCHANGE ESG REPORTING CODE A& Esl
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls
IEEE EBE -REERMRERES
Indicators Description Section and Remarks
E& i EfiRfE

Aspect A.1:
Emissions

EEA: HERY

General Disclosure Emissions
Information on:
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Note: Air emissions include NO,, SO, and other pollutants regulated under national laws and regulations.

Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, hyarofluorocarbons,
perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.

Hazardous wasles are those defined by national requiations.

-REE B
FRBRLREREBHN  WARIHHES AEREZEENNELSN:

@ BER
() BFHEOTABEARYENEBEZEZRAM

& ERANEEAANY  GANORANZOFLRRANRENTRY -
BEREEB -GG Tl SLER GARLEY LACKE AR -
AERZNEEZROFRES -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions
BREMESAY HHYBREREEINEE - B
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions —

emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of - GHG Emissions
production volume, per facility).
BREVESAM2 EXEENRGREE(EE)RERBENE CBHE) R(WER) HR—REREEN
RE(WHNBESEN BEREHE) -
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, ~ Emissions —
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). Waste Management
BRENERMS MELAZRENEE(EAE)R(WER)EE(MIBEEEN - HH—BYER
BRRBHE) -
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R HEREGRE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

IEHE BE -RESRMASERER
Indicators Description Section and Remarks
EE R Efi R
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where Emissions —

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility). ~ Waste Management
BRENESAML FELEZEENASOAEHB)R(NEREE(MIBEEEMN . HR—BENER
BRR M) -

KPI'A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BREVERAMS BAMTUMHNEAERAEIELARHERNS R -
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Emissions —

handled, and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken ~ Waste Management
to achieve them.
BREVERAG HARBAEREZEENNL REAMIUNABIERAE HR—BNER
NELBRARRNSE -
Aspect A2: Use of  General Disclosure Use of Resources
Resources Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, waste and other raw materials.

Note:  Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, efc.
EmA2: EiRfER -RES ER{ER
ERFERERBREER KREMENENEER

HERTRRLE RBF EH BF EFREEF-

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas  Use of Resources —
or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production  Energy Management
volume, per facility).

ARENESA2T BERHSNERR/IHEERR(WE Ron)BREUTET ARFERA—#RER
REHEREE(MIBESEN  BEREHE)

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production  Use of Resources —
volume, per facility). Water Resource
BRENERA22 BRKEREZE(WISESEN SEREHER) ERER—KER
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e

Aspect A3: The
Environment and
Natural Resources
EEAS: RERXA

Aspect A4: Climate
Change

BEAL: REL1(E

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

i -

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

Description

fd

KPI A2.3
BRENERA23
KPI A2.4

BRENETRA24

KPI A2.5

BRENERA2S

General Disclosure

IRER EE -REERMRENER

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to

achieve them.

BRIV RERNRARRARNELARHRINSRE

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit

for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.

?“L‘ﬂxi%kft?ﬁf fEE URATUMAKREERRA
EIELBRMERM LR -

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

REmAREENHNRE B R(MER) B LERMEE -

Policies on minimizing the issuer's significant impacts on the environment and natural

resources.

-R#E

REZRTAHRERARERENEAR

KPI A3.1
FRERERA

General Disclosure

Policies on identificat

Z Ll
Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

BB EDURERARERNEAY EREFNEEERY 2N
78

ion and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

~BHE
SAREHEER
KPI A4.1

BRENERA

AReHETAELYENEARGERZENNE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.
BEEERIEeHETARLYENEXRGRBSE  REHT
I

HERELARSE

Section and Remarks

BE R

Use of Resources —
Energy Management
EREA—wRER
Use of Resources —
Water Resource

ERER—KER

Use of Resources —
Use of Packaging
Materials
EREA—GRaRM
#

The Environment and
Natural Resources

RERARER

The Environment and
Natural Resources

RERARER

Climate Change

Climate Change —
Physical Risk Transition
Risk

’ﬁﬂ%wt ERA
M' /FJ—L
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L,

L

Aspect B1:
Employment

EEB1: B

General Disclosure Employment and Labour
Information on: Practices
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest Periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.
-RiE EERETIER
FEEMEEE REREN IHBE RY TEHE Znl REAUREME
BREME

@ HE: R

b) BIUETABEAFENBRBEERAONEH -

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-or part-  Employment and Labour
time), age Group and geographical region. Practices

BRENEER BUA EREZ(WRBIZE) FRAFEKBEIINEELE ERRIIESR
.

KPI'B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age Group and geographical Employment and Labour
region. Practices

BREWERBL2 BRUR FRAFNIMRASHEERKLE ERRFIER

1 34 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2025



Indicators

e

Aspect B2: Health
and Safety

EBEB2: BRELR2

Aspect B3:
Development and
Training

BEB3: ¥ &R

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

i -

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls
IR EE -REERERERES

Description
i
General Disclosure
Information on:
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the

issuer relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.
-REE
FBREZTHRERREREREBINLEN:
@ HBE: R
b) BIUETABEAFEMRBLEERAONEH -
KPI B2.1
three years including the Reporting year.
BE-F RRERFR)BFRITHNAZRLE -
Lost days due to work injury.
RIGEAIERE
Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and
how they are implemented and monitored.
BRENEEB23 HEMRANBRREEZZER IREBRIRERSE -
General Disclosure
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

R E NI RB21
KPI B2.2
AR ENEEB22
KPI B2.3

Note:  Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the employer.

-RERE

RERABEEETTIERANMARREMBER - HAEIED -
B BAIEBMEIEY - T O R BRI R

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

BAREWERBL RUNREERN(NRAEEE +RERE)A/INKIEERS
i o

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and

employee category.

BRENERB32 RUENREERENS D BREEZKXINTORE -

HERELARSE

Section and Remarks

B R
Health and Safety

REEZ2

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past Health and Safety

BREZ:
Health and Safety
REEz2
Health and Safety

BREZE
Development and
Training

BR RS

Development and
Training
e YR

Development and
Training

BRE R
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R HEREGRE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

IEEE EE -REERMRERES
Indicators Description Section and Remarks
ER fd BH R G
Aspect B4: Labour  General Disclosure Labour Standards

Standards Information on
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BEB4:EIXA -RES ST ER
BBRMIEETISHAMNBIN:
@ HBER
b) ETHEOTAREARYENEBZERANNESR -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child  Labour Standards
and forced labour.
BRENERBL BRI BRENEEARREIRAHNSET - STER
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Labour Standards
discovered.
BRENESBL? HAREREREAKEREEBRAARRNSR - % T8
Operating Practices
BERM
Aspect B5: Supply  General Disclosure Supply Chain
Chain Management  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. Management
EEB5: HEREE -RKE fERER
ERHEERORERLCABER -
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
Management
BRENESR BHRASHHEFHA - ftlEgER
KPIB5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Supply Chain

suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they ~ Management
are implemented and monitored.

BRENERB. HAEHEREEENED WERTABEMNMEEBSE IR REAEE
RBRATREENE
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Aspect B6: Product
Responsibility

EEB6: EREHE
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B -

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

IEEE EE -REERMRERES

Description

i

KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

BRENERBS HIARASHLERSHERONRERLERRMNEN  AREER
TRERNE

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

BRENERBY HIEREMEAKREZARRENRRENEDN  URBBHT

REETE -
General Disclosure
Information on:
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating
to products and services provides and methods of redress.

-RiKE
ERFMREERARENBERER2  BES EERLBEENRERFEN:
@ BE R

(b) HETHETAREAYENEBEERANMER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for
safety and health reasons.

BERCEREMBRT AL 2 EREEMMADRNADL -
Number of products and service related complaints received and how
they are dealt with.

BRENESRB. ZEBREnRRBORFBAIREE DL -

FA5 1 12861
KPI B6.2

HERELARSE

Section and Remarks

BE R

Supply Chain
Management — Green
Sourcing

fEBEE — REXE

Supply Chain
Management — Green
Sourcing

HERER —HERE

Product Responsibility

W,
Bo
Tt
==y

Product Responsibility

EmEfE
Product Responsibility

EmEf
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

IEEE EE -REERMRERES

Indicators Description Section and Remarks
ER fd BH R G

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Product Responsibility

intellectual property rights.

BMRENEERS HERAERRENAEEEAMEN - EmEH

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility

BRENESERL HAEERERARRERDYEF EmEf

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and Product Responsibility

how they are implemented and monitored.
BRENESRBS HUHEBEANRERALBRE URABRORERRE - Emsf
Aspect B7: Anti- General Disclosure Anti-corruption
corruption Information on:
(@)  The policies; and
(b)  Compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

BEB7:RAS -REE &R
REDLERE 9% HFERAREN:
@ BE: R
b) BETHETAREAYENEBZZRANNESR -
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought — Anti-Corruption

against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting Period and
the outcomes of the cases.

BRERERB RESHAAUETAREEERLYCELNERFLARMNEE RES

RFhER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures,  Anti-Corruption
and how they are implemented and monitored.
BRENEER2 HAMHSERRERRSF NRABROREENE - k&S
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.  Anti-Corruption
BRENEERIS HENESREIRMNREFE k&S
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Indicators

e

Aspect BS:
Community
Investment

EmEBS: #HERSE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls

Description
fd

General Disclosure

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

IRER EE -REERMRENER

R HERELABRE

Section and Remarks

BE R

Community Investment

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the
issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities interests.

-REE

HERE

FROHE2ERTRETAREMAHERENERERBIDEZRHRNENR

% o
KPI B8.1
EEESe-L N

KPI B8.2
ARENERBS.2

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, ~ Community Investment

labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEREE(NHE BREE SIF% BE Y BE) HERE
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment

REIARMBRAEAR(NEERER) -

HERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
R

'&| MOORE

To the Shareholders of
Contel Technology Company Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Contel Technology Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“‘Group”) set out on pages 149 to 272, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2025, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the fifteen months ended
31 March 2025, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit
of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B3 BT 3R &

EREE
EECREBEZTEEHANAERHMNETR
ERER(FEEXERDETEZ - B
ERBZFENNEECRARE LKL
RECE SN BFHRXERENE T
E— SR - REFESASEMD
ZxearanEE T (s8] BFE/L
R EEE YDEBETHETHEGER
B -BEHE BEFTHESHERER
HEREAETNEBEHSESTHERREHRE
R o
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B3 BT R &

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
AEEXEE

FREEEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

BEXETERRNTEEMBERSEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

E 5 & i 7 15 B AT 1

Refer to the Notes 3, 4, 20 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements

LEGEMBEERMES 4 - 20%34

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had trade
receivables with gross amount of approximately
US$14,880,000 while allowance for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables of
approximately US$521,000 was recognised in
the consolidated profit or loss during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025.

20254 3HA31H - & & B F 4 (5 414,880,000
%ﬁﬁ’]‘é’%fﬂ&mlﬁ ]I)J'A%Zj:2025$3ﬂ815¢
+Th{EABREESFE S B R RAMERE S E WK
gj’;ﬁﬁmm%\Eﬂiﬁ\(ﬁﬁﬁﬂfuEFSTEJ)T?XT%Z'J521,OOO

TE o

The ECL assessment on trade receivables is
considered to be a matter of most significance
as it requires the application of significant
judgement and use of subjective assumptions
by the management of the Company. The
management of the Company believed that the
methodologies and inputs used in estimating ECL
are in accordance with the applicable accounting
standards. These models and assumptions
relate to the future macroeconomic conditions
and debtors’ creditworthiness. The Group
adopted judgement, assumptions and estimation
techniques in order to measure ECL according to
the requirements of accounting standards such
as definition of credit impaired financial asset,
parameters for measuring ECL and forward-
looking information.

BHRRSEAZEABEEEBRFERARERSE
B -RAEFTE SLREEEERERHBNGE
AEBRRKR > BEAREERERS HABRHAE
SEEBEMATEARBARENAEMASER -
ZEEAMBRREKRKEEB LB REBAE
ZHR - ERERMAE - KRR NEEEM
ﬁ%a%i%fﬁ@ﬁﬁl%%%%‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
EEBENZ2HNAMBEHEENSSHERNRTE
AAERHEEERR -
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Our procedures to address the matter included:

BMEEZEERRNEFEHE:

° Evaluating the methodologies, inputs and
assumptions adopted by the Group in
calculating the ECL, by reference to the
historical default data and management’s
estimated loss rate and externally available
economic data;

e ZERLENHE EEEMNMTEBRER
HNED A 15 A8 B B $ﬁ %%lﬁ“ﬁ%
BEBBEMEAZAZE  BABERRRK:

° Obtaining an ageing analysis of the trade
receivables from the management of the
Company and testing the accuracy of ageing
of trade receivables as at the reporting date
to the underlying invoices on a sample basis;

. @ ERAEREENGE S EWNIEZ Rk

DN WHEAHE S ERKIER &SR
Z%fﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁmﬁ%%:

e Challenging the management’s assessment
of the recoverability of long outstanding and
overdue trade receivables;

e EBEREEEURHMAERKRAHEZRERIR
I8 A A] 4 [ 14 5

e Selecting samples considering the
management’s assessment of the latest
financial conditions of the debtors, based
on historical experience and observable
external data; and

e RMEBELBNLAERIMEE BEKR
gﬁAﬁFﬁfﬁA?ﬁ%%#ﬁm%ﬁ

e Assessing the adequacy of the ECL
recorded by reviewing expected settlements
from customers and any correspondence
with customers about expected settlement

dates.
o %ﬂ%%ﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁuﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%
EEHBMNERER FEEENESREE
%%%é%io



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key Audit Matters
AEERXEE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B3 BT 3R &

FREEEIE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matters

BEXETERRNTEEMBERSEE

Estimation of fair value of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

BARBEAARMGLANBH EHMEEN LA BEE

Refer to the Notes 3, 4, 18 and 34 to the consolidated financial statements

LBGFEUBERFTMEES 4 - 18 %34

The Group has an investment in unlisted
equity securities. Such investment in unlisted
equity securities is measured at fair value of
approximately US$3,723,000 as at 31 March
2025.

EEERENIFELIMEREF - RN202553H31
H ZERIFLTRSIFIRERRAAEBEG
2 #/3,723,000F 7T °

Fair value of the investment in unlisted equity
securities is estimated by using an income
approach, based on the discounted cash flows
of the estimated profit to be generated by the
unlisted equity securities.

MIELTHERBFZKREZ A REBEERAREE
ERELImEREFELEZEANBZRERES

MELE ©

Significant estimation and judgement are
required by the management of the Company
to determine the fair value of the investment
in unlisted equity securities, such as the key
inputs include discount rate, growth rate and
discount for the lack of marketability and control.
To support management’s estimation of the fair
value, the management of the Company engaged
an independent professional valuer to perform
valuation on such investment as at 31 March
2025.
BEERILIMERESIRECANEERTE B
REIEREFERE R LA G - mBs3E = - 1
RERRZMSRBUERZEGENITEZAER
ABE - RHEPHERBHAREBEFELEST - B
NEEREREE Y EXGEMER20259F3A31
BeERAKREETHE-

Our procedures in relation to address the matter
included:

BMEEZEERRNEFEHE:

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities,
independence and objectivity of the valuer;
o FTEMERMNAH  H BUUERFEML:

e Assessing the methodologies and
assumptions adopted in the valuation for
estimating the fair values of the investment in
unlisted equity securities;

e HERRFARIELTEEZZFZIRENLDR
BEMETZHEMKAZ TERRK:

e Challenging the valuer’s key inputs adopted
in the valuation for estimating the fair values
of the investment in unlisted equity securities
and inspecting the underlying documents or
data to support those key inputs;

s BERMEMARMEILTEZEFREND
AEBEMETHERKANEZEAZBIE -
g?@iﬁ%%%gﬁkﬁﬁmmﬁiﬁﬁ

z

e Testing the mathematical accuracy of the
cash flows projection;
o AIFIR &N 8 AR &) B 7 2w

o Performing sensitivity analysis to evaluate
the reasonableness of the valuation, when
appropriate; and

e MNEERKETHZRESN  UFEMRER
TEaE R

e Appointing an auditor’s expert to review the
valuation technique, assumptions and key
inputs for estimating the fair values of the
investment in unlisted equity securities.

s ZAFHERBHAMIANIELTERREF
ZIRENRRBEMETEHEENGERM -
R N E A BE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises
the corporate information, chairman’s statement,
profile of directors and senior management, report of
the directors, corporate governance report and five-
year financial summary (but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of
this auditor’s report, and the management discussion
and analysis and environment, social and governance
report, which is expected to be made available to us
after that date.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not and will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other
information that we obtained prior to the date of this
auditor’'s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the management discussion and analysis
and environment, social and governance report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein,
we are required to communicate the matter to audit
committee of the Company and take appropriate action
considering our legal rights and obligations.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
OF THE COMPANY AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS
Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
of the Company determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements,
the directors of the Company are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the
audit committee in discharging their responsibilities for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion, solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs,
we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors of the Company.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the director’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within
the group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
group financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit
work performed for purposes of the group audit. We
remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee of the
Company regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the audit committee of the Company
with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit
committee of the Company, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period
and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Ng Ngai Yan
Practising Certificate Number: P07422

Hong Kong, 30 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GEHEDREMZERER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z20254 12431 H 1 + 7 18 A

Fifteen
months ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B F20255 B E2023F
3A31H 12A31H
E+AEB IFEE
Notes Us$'000 us$000
fii it FET FET
Revenue L ONN 6 76,963 66,316
Cost of sales HEK AR (74,891) (63,382)
Gross profit EH i 2,072 2,934
Other income and other gains or losses H A A B H fth W58 5 1B 6 201 193
Selling and distribution expenses HERNHAX (3,918) (2,959)
General and administrative expenses —REOBRAX (6,297) (5,834)
Impairment loss on property, plant and NE - BEREBRE
equipment E# 14 - (102)
Impairment loss on intangible and BYREMBEMESE
other assets \ 15 (32) (98)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREER 16 — (257)
Provision for allowance for expected credit B ZEMFEMNBHEE
loss on trade receivables  BREETE 20 (521) (242)
Finance costs A& B AR 7 (3,553) (2,284)
Loss before income tax Kt EHAGE 8 (12,048) (8,649)
Income tax expense ERAX 11 (86) (1,100)
Loss for the period/year attributable RATHEAELS
to the owners of the Company FREE (12,134) (9,749)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hip2m(5E) Wi
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently R#EEHEHTESEF HEE
to profit or loss: BmmEE
Fair value loss on investment in equity ROABEFAEMZE
instruments at fair value through other Wit o TAREN
comprehensive income AABEER 18 (532) (2,038)
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently to R#EHEIE# 74 F
profit or l0ss: B mBg -
Exchange differences arising on translation of # &8N ERH B HEK 2
financial statements of foreign operations BN EE 144 (94)
Other comprehensive loss for the KAGBAANEEY i
period/year attributable to the owners Hit2EEE
of the Company (388) (2,132)
Total comprehensive loss for the EAE PNV
period/year attributable to the owners FREEHEREHE
of the Company (12,522) (11,881)
US cents US cents
EJ/] ]
Loss per share attributable to FATBEAELEBREBR
the owners of the Company
Basic and diluted EAREE 12 (1.10) (0.89)
HK cents HK cents
E B
Equivalent to HER (8.56) (6.88)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GEMBRRR

As at 31 March 2025 R2025%F 12431 H

As at
»
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12H31H
Notes Uss’ooo US$°000
M it FETT FET
(Re-presented)
(Z&E75|)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREHE
Non-current assets ¥RHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - - BERZE 14 930 566
Intangible and other assets BYREMEE 15 2,863 3,491
Goodwill Bk 16 — —
Life insurance policy deposits AEBREES 17 2,543 2,734
Financial assets at fair value BRAREBEFAEAM
through other comprehensive PENGECEREE
income 18 3,723 4,255
10,059 11,046
Current assets REBEE
Inventories U3 19 6,662 14,007
Trade and bills receivables B2 WA K& E K
O 20 13,860 19,047
Prepayments, deposits and BNRE -ZERk
other receivables H fh fE W 8 21 7,388 7,148
Amounts due from related & 5 8 Bk 75 5k 7B
parties 32(b) 26 26
Pledged bank deposits BHEARTER 22 379 379
Cash and cash equivalents RekREeFEY 22 3,682 2,536
31,997 43,143
Current liabilities RENBE
Trade payables BHENRIE 23 6,097 7,641
Accruals, contract liabilities and [EFTEB R - A EGB R
other payables H i & 5K I8 24 3,318 2,791
Lease liabilities HERE 25 86 180
Bank and other borrowings MITREMBR 26 18,273 20,565
27,774 31,177
Net current assets REBEEFHE 4,223 11,966
Total assets less current EERERTHERE
liabilities 14,282 23,012
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
GFEMBIRKAR

As at 31 March 2025 R2025%F 12431 H

As at
»

31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12 H31H
Notes Uss$’000 US$’000
okza FETT FET

Non-current liabilities kRBER
Lease liabilities HE&GE 25 22 —
Shareholder’s loans fERE R 27 2,459 —
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBAE 28 495 415
2,976 415
Net assets EEFE 11,306 22,597

EQUITY o

Share capital (@ 29 1,417 1,417
Reserves & 30 9,889 21,180
Total equity Einas 11,306 22,597

The consolidated financial statements on pages 149  Z149ZE272H M4 & B 1% 3k &k 1K 2025F 6
to 272 were approved and authorised for issue by the A30RKEZEESH ARFRETEILHAT
board of directors on 30 June 2025 and are signed onits ATRXEZESHZF:

behalf by:

Mr. Lam Keung
WEEE
Director

EZE

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik
BFELL
Director

EE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEERBER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

MAREARLRE
Financial assets
at fair value
through other Statutory
Share Share  comprehensive Other Merger  surplus  Translation Retained
capital  premium incomereserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve earnings Total
BARREA
RZENERE EERH
k% Rhif JEHEE  RHRR GHERE  ARE  KERE  REEW &i
Ussooo - Ussoon Ussoon  Ussvoo  Ussvoo  USsvoo  USSOOD Ussooo Ussoo0
£ FE7 Fé1  FEr &L FEL FEn FE1  FET
(Note 29)  (Note 30(j) (Note 30(ii)) - (Note 34(ii))  (Note 30(iv)) ~ (Note 34y (Note 34())
Wiz (Wason)  (Wason) (Wesoni) (K&selv) (KEaoy) (W&o
At 1 January 203 R023E1A1R 147 1470 1300 (1020) 731 (£03) 10815 34478
Loss for the year EhER - - - - - - - ©749)  (9749)
Fair valug loss on investment 24 EBAZH
nequiynstumentat 2 EUEHERIR
fair valug through other ~~ REMA L EEEE
comprehensive income - - (2,038) - - - - - (2,038)
Exchange diferences ~ RERNEBHERE
aising on tranglaion o~~~ 7B EE
financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - - (%) - (%)
Total comprenensive loss for M2EERLE
the year - - (2,038) - - - (94) (9749 (11,881)
At 31 December 2023 R20235 124318 1417 14700 (1,906 10,076 (7.021) 731 (497) 5,096 2597
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GEEREEBR

LYEE TIN5
Financial assets
at fair value Retained
through other Statutory earnings/
Share Share  comprehensive Other Merger  surplus Translation  accumulated
capitall  premium incomereserve  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve losses Total
BAREEFA
RE2EHERE EERH RERH/
R%  RiiE JEHMEE  RHRE  AHMRE  ARE KRR ERGE aif
Ussoo0 Ussvoo Ussoon  Ussvoo  Ussvoo  USsvoo  USSOOD Ussooo Usso00
&1 FEr 1 fEr  TEr FEL FEn &1 FE1
(Note 29)  (Note 30(1)) (Note 30(ii)) ~ (Note 30iii)) - (Note 30(iv))  (Note 30fy))  (Note 30/vi))
Wize) (&) (Kas) (Wasoiy) (KEsy) (K&sw) (Kaso)
At 1 January 2024 Ro0UE1A1A 1417 14,700 (1,905) 10,076 (021) [£] (497) 5,09 2,597
Loss for the period InER - - - - - - - (12,13)  (12,13)
Fair valug loss on investment &2 A BEAAZH
nequiyinstumentat~ 2ARENERTR
fair vaug through other ~~ RENALEEER
comprenensive income - - (532) - - - - - (532)
Exchange diferences BERNSBEBRR
aisngontranglation of ~~ ZEREE
financial statements of
foreign operations - - - - - - 144 - 14
Total comprehensive loss for N2 AEELEE
the period - - (532) - - - 144 (12134)  (12522)
Deemed contribution from ~ RERREB(EEE
the shareholder Wiz)
(hote 27) - - - 1,231 - - - - 1,281
At 31 March 2025 R85 3/31A 1417 14,700 (2437) 1,307 (n021) [£] (353) (7038) 11,306
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEHERER

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
# F2025% B E2023%F
3A31H 12 H31H
IE+AM@A EFE
Notes Us$’000 US$'000
Hi iz FETT FETT
(Re-presented)
(& &E5)
Cash flows from operating activities L& EFEFHBHRLEE
Loss before income tax RETFEHAEE (12,048) (8,649)
Adjustments for: AT EBEELRE:
Amortisation of intangible and B REME EEH
other assets 8 1,122 146
Amortisation of life insurance policy ~ AZREBIR & &4
deposits 8 42 34
Bank interest income AT B WA 6 (30) (16)
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- - BERZEBINE
equipment 8 315 656
Finance costs A& R 7 3,553 2,284
Gain on early termination of lease RERIR AW &= 6 (1) —
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEK
and equipment W= 6 (16) —
Impairment loss on property, plant ME - BERRZE
and equipment B & 18 14 — 102
Impairment loss on intangible and B REMEERE
other assets &8 15 32 98
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREER 16 — 257
Imputed interest income on life ASRERZSNEER
insurance policy deposits S A 6 (123) (104)
Loss on early termination of life ASRERAK LR
insurance policy &8 6 5 —
Provision for allowance for expected & 5 & 5% 18 /) 78 £4
credit loss on trade-receivables EEEBBEBHRE 20 521 242
Written-off of property, plant and WMEME - KEK
equipment R 6 5 —
Written-down of inventories EMORTF & 8 668 860
Operating cash flows before working % BEESEHAIMLE
capital changes Beng (5,955) (4,090)
Decrease in inventories FERD ,710 5,272
Increase in trade and bills receivables & 5 & WA K EIRZ &
20 (1,585) (4,733)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and TEfT# I8 - &4 R &
other receivables & o 3R TR 8 AN (232) (1,530)
Increase in development costs [ 25 X AN 42 A — (1,518)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e R IBE N 30,387 35,906
Increase in accruals, contract liabilites EZtEH - A0 ABE &
and other payables B fth, & A 3R TE 42 0 488 1,140
Net cash from operations .m"é‘ﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ 29,813 30,447
Income tax refund REIFTER — 219
Net cash from operating activities EZFEHMBREFHE 29,813 30,666
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2& iﬁﬁlllbi

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 A

Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
# F2025% B E2023F
3A31H 12H31H8
Lt+A@EA EFE
Notes Uss’o00 US$'000
H iz FETT FET
(Re-presented)
(&)
Cash flows from investing activities REFEHFMBHELEFE
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE BERZE
equipment (583) (381)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME  BEREZHERM
plant and equipment BIA 16 —
Purchase of intangible assets BEBTEE (553) (409)
Receipts of life insurance policy ASRERZ S WK
deposit 269 —
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 2 Bl 2 # 1 $8 1717 3¢ — 523
Bank interest received BERRITHE 30 16
Net cash used in investing activities X ZEFEFMAER L FHE (821) (251)
Cash flows from financing activities ﬂérﬁiﬁﬁﬁ RHERE
Proceeds from shareholder’s loans BRERERMBERE 35(b) 3,614 —
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITERAMBERE 35(b) 73,016 42,062
Proceeds from other borrowings H h & 5K AT 15 2XIA 35(b) 1,733 2,257
Repayments of bank borrowings ERRITEK 35(b) (101,317) (71,186)
Repayments of other borrowings EEEMER 35(b) (1,760) (318)
Repayments of lease liabilities principal E2HE&8@E A% 35(b) (172) (442)
Repayments of lease liabilities interest EEHEAEF B 35(b) (8) (16)
Interests paid 2 F 8 35(b) (3,449) (2,268)
Net cash used in financing activities & ZH AR FE (28,343) (29,911)
Net increase in cash and cash HeRkBeEEYEN
equivalents ] 649 504
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERBELEEY
beginning of the year 2,536 2,343
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXZHTE
changes 497 (311)
Cash and cash equivalents at EXBLEREALEEY
end of the year 22 3,682 2,536
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
48 M85 i R M ot

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

1.

Corporate information

Contel Technology Company Limited (the
“Company”) was incorporated as an exempted
company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands
on 16 August 2016 under the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands. The registered office of the
Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands.
The Company’s principal place of business is
Unit No. A, 13th Floor, Block 1, Leader Industrial
Centre, Nos. 188-202 Texaco Road, Tsuen Wan,
New Territories, Hong Kong. The shares of the
Company were listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 16 July 2019.

The Company is an investment holding company
while its principal subsidiaries (together with the
Company, collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are mainly engaged in the provision of customised
reference designs which are bundled together with
the sale of integrated circuits (“ICs”) and other
electronic components as a package to customers
in both Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC").

The immediate and ultimate holding company of
the Company is P. Grand (BVI) Ltd. (“P. Grand”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
(the “BVI”). The ultimate controlling parties of the
Group are Ms. Feng Tao, Mr. Lam Keung (“Mr.
Lam”), and Mr. Qing Haodong (“Mr. Qing”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Corporate information (continued)

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 8
November 2024, the financial year end date of the
Company has been changed from 31 December
to 31 March commencing from the financial period
ended 31 March 2025 in order to avoid competition
of resources with other listed companies with
regard to results announcement and reports-
related external services under the peak reporting
season in the market; and remove the uncertainty
from the variation in the dates of the Chinese New
Year Holiday which put pressure on the workflow.
Accordingly, the accompanying consolidated
financial statements for the current financial period
covers a period of fifteen months from 1 January
2024 to 31 March 2025. The corresponding
comparative figures presented for the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and
related notes cover the audited figures of the
financial year from 1 January 2023 to 31 December
2023 and therefore are not comparable with those
shown for the current period.

1.

AT EE @

BEEZEEEN2024511AHAE BN
REE BEE20255438318 1E Bt
BERE AR REELER
E Mm12H31H £ A3H31H © # &
R s EAEEEM FHARFEE
M EEBEERESRBREEB 25
HARFER: WHEHKRATBEZEHF
REMBEBHNTIREEEmMA TER
RS RAE S o Bt - BE A A
BN BA P 4R & B 7% 3R 3R M 2= B 2024 F 1
A1HZ2025%3A31HM+ & A &
Mo GEBREAEMEZEKRER « £
EREDEHR SR RER LA
A TRENEELERETRE
2023F1A1HE2023F 12 A31HB T H
FEMNKEZET A EAEHFAE
PR B FERAI L&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

20

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards, which collective term includes Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and
HK (IFRIC) Interpretations, HK Interpretations and
HK (SIC) Interpretations (collectively referred to
as “Interpretations”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing
Rules”).

The functional currency of the Company is Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”) and the investment holding
subsidiary incorporated in the BVI and subsidiaries
incorporated in Hong Kong have their functional
currency in United States Dollar (“US$”), and
subsidiaries established in the PRC have their
functional currency in Renminbi (“RMB”). The
consolidated financial statements have been
presented in US$ as the directors of the Company
consider that it is more appropriate to adopt US$
as the Group’s and the Company’s presentation
currency. All values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except
for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”), which are
measured at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Application of amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards

In the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2025, the Group has
applied the following amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards, for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the Group’s
accounting period beginning on or after 1
January 2024:

Amendments to HKAS 1

(BB ERDEIREBIT A
Amendments to HKAS 1

(BB EFERDFBIRIEFT AR
Amendments to HKFRS 16

(BEAMBHRELEADFEI6HRIEET A

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

CEBGFEIDETR R
(BEAEUBRELN)BTHREET R

Except for the below, the application of the
above amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and position
for the current and prior periods and/or the
disclosures set out in theses consolidated
financial statements.

2. IRBEE

(a) EER(EERMBREENES
EHIMEETEX
mEE E2025F3A31HIE+HR
BAZEEVMBERERET  N&H
EHXERATYIR2024F181H8
g2 EABZASE S MR
FlERZ(EBY B REER 2
FPERIVEET A

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

HEESERRDNERBLEER
55 (20204F) 2 A @ & 5]

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

s REHNIEREB AR

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

EREINEHERE

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HEBREZH

BN CRrat & 4h - R bt &
ERKE BB R E LR SF 2
A )3 AN & B AN B N 8 1 HA R Y
BBRBEERRAE LA GEE
MHEBRTNRBESALES

B7 &8
j(/?}El °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

2. RBEE
(a) MR(ESMERERAG:

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Application of amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in current period.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification
and additional guidance on the assessment
of right to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date for classification
of liabilities as current or non-current, which
specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the
reporting period. Specifically, the amendments
clarify that:

(i) What is meant by a right to defer
settlement;

(i) That a right to defer must exist at the end
of the reporting period;

(iiiy That classification is unaffected by the
likelihood that an entity will exercise its
deferral right; and

(iv) That only if an option at the discretion of
the counterparty included in the terms
of a convertible liability is itself an equity
instrument in accordance with HKAS 32
Financial Instrument: Presentation would
not affect the current or non-current
classification of the liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Application of amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”) (continued)

For rights to defer settlement for at least
twelve months from reporting date which
are conditional on the compliance with
covenants, the 2022 Amendments specify
that only covenants with which an entity is
required to comply with on or before the end
of the reporting period affect the entity’s right
to defer settlement of a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting date, even if
compliance with the covenant is assessed only
after the reporting date. Covenants with which
an entity must comply after the reporting date
do not affect the classification of a liability as
current or non-current at the reporting date.

In addition, the 2022 Amendments specify
the disclosure requirements about information
that enables users of financial statements to
understand the risk that the liabilities could
become repayable within twelve months after
the reporting period, if an entity classifies
liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when the entity’s right to defer
settlement of those liabilities is subject to the
entity complying with covenants within twelve
months after the reporting period.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy
to the classification of liability as current or
non-current retrospectively. The application of
the amendments in the current period had no
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

2. IRBEE
(a) MA(EEHMBRELAT:

ERMERT X (&)

EREESERE1HHZIEET
XEBF FBHEEREREE
BEESTEIH R IEZTE (2020
FE)([2020F 15T X)) REEE
bk LE A 4 HEY kL
BIFEFE B & ([2022 FE 15T )

HEE)

MUNBTRFZRRENERSH
HREERENZED T @A
FE - 2022F BT AT - R
EERERBEHRRIZAME
THREFEFZEETEBRRE
AEE &KL+ @A RTELE R
BEMER - BFERZENETS
MEFRSHBHBA TG - BB

HEBHBMNBEBTHZNTE
YEABERSBHHENRHNIE

2= N K
mEN D HE o

gt SN - 2022F BRI ANINEI AR A
BAERNFEEER  FHERR
FRHETHREZERBBERZH
EEXENBEI»BRIERDEE -
MERBLEEANZSEENE
FEFEENFEHE A

ARBETRHENRBRLT - A&
BrRIEARBRERR T _EAR

BENERE

REBEBERX AEREEHAEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

2. RBEE
(a) MA(EEHMBRELAT:

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) Application of amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments
to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier Finance
Arrangements

The Group has applied the amendments for the
first time in current period.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows stating that
an entity is required to disclose information
about its supplier finance arrangements
that enables users of financial statements
to assess the effects of those arrangements
on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In
addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments:
Disclosures was amended to add supplier
finance arrangements as an example within the
requirements to disclose information about an
entity’s exposure to concentration of liquidity
risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
entity is not required to disclose comparative
information for any reporting periods presented
before the beginning of the annual reporting
period in the first year of application as well
as the information required by HKAS 7.44 (b)
(ii) and (b)(iii) above as at the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first
applies those amendments.

The comparative figures of bills payable have
been reclassified as bank borrowings under
supplier finance arrangements to conform with
current year’s presentation. The Group has
provided additional disclosures related to the
amendments in Notes 26 and 35(c).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

2. Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

2. IRBEE

(b) EnEMERERE MBI FICE
ARBREREASHENIR
HigFT &
AEEYEEPEAATERM
18 5 R A 3R 2 $7 BT KE 78 B 75 3
FEA G ALK EETA:

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTEHRH 2%
HENERREN

Amendments to HKAS 21
BREFERBAREITA A Bz
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7
ERERNBREENFEIRR
BAMBREENRTRETA

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

BAMBREENEIR K
BERAMBREENRETREBIAR

Electricity
WK B R RE

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards
EENBREENGHENEIR FAVBREEISG
HKFRS 18
Statements
BN REER 185 BBBRRPHNZTIR
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28
BEMBREENFIORRE S REERAKERA
AR E 285 (BF] &) BELEXTE

Lack of Exchangeability

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

ERTADBLEENER

Contracts Referencing Nature — dependent

ENEN

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

1 January 2025
2025%1A1H

1 January 2026

2026 F1A1H

1 January 2026

20261818

1 January 2026
AERNNEELRE — 15 2026%1A1R
1 January 2027
wE 2027F 1718

To be determined

N
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

2. REBIEE
(b) EEMEREKEZRMHICE

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards mentioned below, the
directors of the Company expect that the
application of these amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards above will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the year of initial application.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments

The amendments to HKFRS 9 clarify the
recognition and derecognition for financial
asset and financial liability and add an
exception which permits an entity to deem a
financial liability to be discharged before the
settlement date if it is settled in cash using
an electronic payment system if, and only if
certain conditions are met.

The amendments also provide guidance on the
assessment of whether the contractual cash
flows of a financial asset are consistent with a
basic lending arrangement. The amendments
specify that an entity should focus on what an
entity is being compensated for rather than
the compensation amount. Contractual cash
flows are inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement if they are indexed to a variable
that is not a basic lending risk or cost. The
amendments state that, in some cases, a
contingent feature may give rise to contractual
cash flows that are consistent with a basic
lending arrangement both before and after
the change in contractual cash flows, but the
nature of the contingent event itself does not
relate directly to changes in basic lending
risks and costs. Furthermore, the description
of the term “non-recourse” is enhanced and
the characteristics of “contractually linked
instruments” are clarified in the amendments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments
(continued)

The disclosure requirements in HKFRS 7 in
respect of investments in equity instruments
designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are amended. In
particular, entities are required to disclose
the fair value gain or loss presented in
other comprehensive income during the
period, showing separately those related to
investments derecognised during the reporting
period and those related to investments held
at the end of the reporting period. An entity is
also required to disclose any transfers of the
cumulative gain or loss within equity related
to the investments derecognised during the
reporting period. In addition, the amendments
introduce the requirements of qualitative and
quantitative disclosure of contractual terms that
could affect the contractual cash flow based on
a contingent even not directly relating to basic
lending risks and cost.

The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026, with early application permitted.
The application of the amendments is not
expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the
Group.

2. RBIEE
(b) EEMEREKERMHICE

EUBRREENSTENIR
HETE (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

2. REBIEE
(b) EEMEREKEZRMHICE

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRS

Accounting Standards in issue but not
yet effective (continued)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements

HKFRS 18, which sets out requirements on
presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements. Whilst many of the
requirements will remain consistent, the new
standard introduces new requirements to
present specified categories and defined
subtotals in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income;
provide disclosures on management-defined
performance measures in the notes to the
financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be
disclosed in the primary financial statements
and the notes. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8
Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors and HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures. Minor amendments
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS
33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other
standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with
early application permitted. The application
of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income and disclosures in the future financial
statements. The Group is still currently
assessing the impact that HKFRS 18 will
have on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information

Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the Company and
its subsidiaries for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025. A subsidiary is an entity (including a
structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by
the Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

The financial statements of subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies.
The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Investments in subsidiaries are included in the
Company’s statement of financial position at cost
less any identified impairment loss. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on
the basis of dividend received and receivable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less provisions for depreciation and impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended use.
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in
future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of the item, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of the item. When
an item of property, plant and equipment is sold,
its cost and accumulated depreciation are removed
from the consolidated financial statements and any
gain or loss resulting from the disposal being the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset is included in profit
or loss.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line
method, based on the estimated economic useful

lives of the individual assets, as follows:

Leasehold improvement

is shorter
HEMEEE
Furniture, fixture and equipment 3 to 10 years
T HEREEB =E+F
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years
M =ERF

Estimated useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment
including any significant part initially recognised
is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets of customer relationship acquired
in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date, and
software acquired separately and with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired with finite useful lives are reported at
costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life
and amortisation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effective of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

The Group’s intangible assets have finite useful
lives. All intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the following period:—

L/GES
EPRI%

Software
Customer relationship

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill

When an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than financial assets), the assets recoverable
amount is estimated. An assets recoverable amount
is the higher of the value in use of the asset or
cash-generating unit to which it belongs and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined
for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined
for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets other
than goodwill (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the
carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the profit or loss
in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of
any amortisation), had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of
such impairment loss is credited to the profit or loss
in the period in which it arises.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-in,
first-out basis and includes all costs of purchase
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Inventories (continued)

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal
of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

Investments and other financial assets
Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees and points paid that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL"), except that at the date of initial
recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business
Combinations applies.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate
a financial asset that are required to be measured
at the amortised cost or FVTOCI| as measured at
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces
an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

3. EXEHHBEEH »

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the
effective interest method for financial assets
measured subsequently at amortised cost and
debt instruments/receivables subsequently
measured at FVTOCI.

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value with
gains or losses arising from changes in fair
value recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the financial assets
at FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain
or loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss
on disposal of the equity investments, and will
be transferred to retained earnings.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss
when the Group’s right to receive the dividends
is established, unless the dividends clearly
represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the other
income line item in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if and to
what extent it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control
of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

1 76 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2025

3. EXEHBEEH »

REHHEBDEMEE &)

ARILER R EE

iR ATER - A G B ER ER
CREEGIER eREEN—
Mo Bl EEHRN—BD) -
A eREERARERS M BN
MERPBE:

e REEUMBEEZREMNENE
R JE 3K

s AKECDKERENEEWIGAE
TRENERN - HEAESE
REEZEIZHEAE=TAE
BERELEHM N2 Wa R
TRE M) ANKBEBEZER
BEMNB A B K MO 5k
(D) AN B I & S iR sl (R B % R
BENBAFSER L@ B
EEREZAEENZGE -

EASECERENEERRBR SR
EMNEMNKEFTL-REZRRZH > Al
EHBABEREREZREERS
B E R M ER - R EREZETRR
K B IEE o fird B I 8 R SR
BEENBANORRKE@ER - B
BEERZREEMNEHE  AIAE
BAEaSBRASENFES LR EHE
ROBREE - EWHBERT AKH
NEREERE CEREERAR
BERRRASECDRENENNE
TEOEEGFE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured
at the lower of the original carrying amount of the
asset and the maximum amount of consideration
that the Group could be required to repay.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity
instrument which the Group has elected on initial
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative
gain or loss previously accumulated in the financial
assets at FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to profit
or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL
on the financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade and
bills receivables, life insurance policy deposits,
deposits and other receivables, amounts due from
related parties, pledged deposits and cash and
cash equivalents). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which requires the use of the lifetime
expected losses provision for all trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL
on these assets are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances and collectively
using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

3. EXEHHBEEH »

BREHHEBEMEE )

ARILTER R EE ()

BESRERE BREEEHOR
B R VR EAE G FEA E R A
EENEHEORESELR2E
E%5HE -

REIERRBIHAAGFEZ R
BER EENRAEAES B MER
REZBLANEESER ST E

27
o

RZRILERARNEEEEN 1 ER
BRERAZE AN EEFTAEBEZER
mmitEZ#Ea T ARER » LR
BARBEFAEMCEZEKENEE
BERBARGFZRFTRENER
TEEF s RERas MEERE
wEAN -

EMEERE
AEBHRNEEHRRIECE M B R
FEADFIRABARENTRE E (B
REZRERERER  ASRRER
Be Mk EMBEYKIE - BURERT
HIE - EEFFRMEES RS FE
MERBEMEEERNERRE -
BHEEERENERESEARER
HIE 37 - ARBR{E A E R B )46 iR
‘REEAL -

HRNEZSRWFIR  AKEEBEIL
BT AR HCE B M R EER)FIR
RENRHREEEBRIELEE (B
e R RS A ) F IR E B A
EXERARDHE S RKKIAE
HEERNENBEREERE - EBA
BEARGHNEEEBTHRBIE
EER TAEREEEDENER
FEfE K F T -

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &

177



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless
when there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

When estimating ECL, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that
is relevant and available without undue cost
or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information and analysis, based on
the Group’s historical experience and informed
credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls which is the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses on
a forward looking basis whether financial assets
carried at amortised cost is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset
have occurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 A

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instruments
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount
becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 A

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

— it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured
at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3. EXEHBEEH »

3. Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

(v)

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade and bills receivables, when the amounts
are over one year past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A
write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade and bills receivables, where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised
through a loss allowance account.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of financial liabilities (other than
financial liabilities at FVTPL) are deducted from
the fair value of the financial liabilities, on initial
recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at
fair value and, in the case of financial liabilities
at amortised cost, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
payables, accruals and other payables, bank and
other borrowings and shareholder’s loans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method unless the effect
of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the effective
interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in finance costs in the profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Foreign currency translation

Each entity in the Group determines its own
functional currency and items included in the
financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions are initially recorded using the
functional currency rates ruling at the date of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the profit or loss with the
exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of
a foreign operation. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. The gain or
loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the
recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair
value of the item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas
subsidiaries are currencies other than US$. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and
liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group at the exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period, and
their income and expense items are translated into
US$ at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year. The resulting exchange differences are
recorded in other comprehensive income and the
cumulative balance is included in translation reserve
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred
cumulative amount recognised in translation reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income. Any goodwill
arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign
operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into US$ at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into US$ at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
recognised when the Group satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring a promised good or
service to a customer, as follows:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from sale of goods which are bundled
with services

Time of recognition

The Group provides customised reference designs
which are bundled together with the sale of ICs
products and electronic components and delivery
to the customers designated locations as a
package to customers. Sales are recognised when
the control of the ICs products and electronic
components including the bundled services, being
when the ICs products and electronic components
are delivered to the customers, and there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the ICs products and electronic
components. The Group allows customers to return
the defective products in the range from two weeks
to one month after the delivery. No warranty or sales
rebate is offered to the customers.

Measurement of revenue

Revenue from sales is based on the price specified
in the sales contracts and is shown net of value-
added tax and after eliminating sales within the
Group. No element of financing is deemed present
as the sales are made with a credit term not more
than four months. A receivable is recognised when
the control of the ICs products and electronic
components are delivered to the customers as
this is the point in time that the consideration is
unconditional because only the passage of time is
required before the payment is due. Accumulated
experience is used to estimate the likelihood and
provide for sales return for the goods sold at the
time of sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from sale of goods which are bundled
with services (continued)

Contract liability

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services based on the contract
terms. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract
(i.e., delivers the ICs products and electronic
components to the customer).

Contract cost

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract for the
sales of ICs products and electronic components.
The costs, which mainly comprise selling and
distribution staff costs, relate directly to a contract
or to an anticipated contract that the Group
can specifically identify; generate or enhance
resources of the Group that will be used in
satisfying performance obligations in the future;
and are expected to be recovered. The asset are
subsequently amortised on a systemic basis that
is consistent with the transfer to the customer of
the products to which such costs relates over
the expected duration of the contract period and
recorded in selling and distribution expense. The
asset is subject to impairment review.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued) (continueq)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit
scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund.

The employees of the subsidiaries within the Group
which operate in the PRC are required to participate
in the central defined contribution pension scheme
operated by the local municipal government.
These PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute
a percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme as specified by the local municipal
government.

Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. An
accrual is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave as a result of services rendered by employees
up to the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Other employee benefits (continued)
Employee long service payment

For long service payment (“LSP”) obligation,
the Group accounts for the employer Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF”) contributions expected
to be offset as a deemed employee contribution
towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS
19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The
estimated amount of future benefit is determined
after deducting the negative service cost arising
from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with
employees, which are deemed to be contributions
from the relevant employees.

The provision for long service payment is provided
based on the employees’ basic salaries and their
respective length of service in accordance with the
applicable rules and regulations in their respective
countries of employment.

Income tax

Income tax represents the sum of current
and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid
to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for
financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary
differences, the carry forward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

— when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

— in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

3.

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting,
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is
settled, based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Right-of-use assets

Except for short-term leases, the Group recognises
right-of-use assets at the commencement date
of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying asset
is available for use) at cost. Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

o the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability; and

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Material accounting policy
information (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

The Group presents right-of-use assets in property,
plant and equipment, the same line item within
which the corresponding underlying assets would
be presented if they were owned.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

e amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease,
if the lease term reflects the Group’s exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.
Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and interest on lease liabilities. The interest
on lease liabilities is charge to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income over the lease period so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liabilities for each period.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

4.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements requires the directors of the Company
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are
based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis
of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

The directors of the Company have considered
the development, selection and disclosure of the
Group’s key sources of estimation uncertainty.

Estimates and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables

The policy for the allowance for ECL on trade
receivables of the Group is assessed for trade
debtors with significant balances or collectively
using a provision matrix appropriate groupings.
As part of the Group’s credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors ageing to assess the
impairment for its trade receivables because
trade receivables consist of balances due from a
large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ ability to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms.
The estimated credit loss rates are estimated
based on historical default rates of the trade
debtors and are adjusted by forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost
or effort. The allowance for ECL is sensitive to
changes in estimates. As at 31 March 2025, the
net carrying amount of trade receivables was
approximately US$13,220,000 (31 December 2023:
US$16,277,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

4.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 4.

(continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Estimation of accrued purchase rebates

The Group has entered into the ship and debit
arrangements with certain suppliers during the year.
Under the arrangements, the purchases of materials
and goods from these suppliers are initially charged
to the Group at their standard prices and then
rebates are given by these suppliers to the Group
after the materials have been sold to the Group’s
customers. The rebate rates vary depending on
the scale and sold volume of customers. At the
reporting dates, the costs of inventories purchased
under the ship and debit arrangements are required
to be reassessed and adjusted for the estimated
likely rebates. A considerable amount of judgement
and estimates is required in determining the
appropriate amount to accrue for the purchase
rebates and the net of such rebate cost of
inventories. If conditions which have an impact on
the purchase rebates differ from those assessed
previously, further changes to the carrying value of
inventories may be required. As at 31 March 2025,
the carrying amount of accrued purchase rebate
was approximately US$3,304,000 (31 December
2023: US$2,921,000).

Written down of inventories

Management carries out inventory review
periodically, at least at the end of each reporting
period and makes write-down for obsolete items. A
considerable amount of judgement and estimates
is required in determining such write-down. If
conditions which have an impact on the net
realisable value of inventories deteriorate, additional
write-down may be required. Management reviews
the inventory ageing analysis at the end of reporting
period and identifies for slow-moving inventory
that are no longer suitable for consumption and
saleable. Management estimates the net realisable
value for such inventories based primarily on the
latest invoice price less the costs necessary to
make the sale and current market conditions.
When there is an increase in net realisable value,
the amount of written-down will be reversed to the
extent of written-down previously recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. As at 31 March
2025, the carrying amount of inventories was
approximately US$6,662,000 (31 December 2023:
US$14,007,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 4.

(continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Provision for income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in jurisdictions
in which the Group operates. Significant judgement
is required in determining the tax liabilities to be
recognised. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain. The Group recognises provisions for
tax based on estimates of the taxes that are likely to
become due. The Group believes that its provision
for tax is adequate for each of financial year based
on its assessment of many factors including past
experience and interpretations of tax law. Where the
final tax outcome is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the current income tax and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made.

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Unlisted equity investments measured at FVTOCI
were revalued by the directors of the Company
by reference to the valuation performed by
independent professional valuer. In determining the
fair value, the valuer has used a method of valuation
which involves certain estimates. In relying on the
valuation report, the management has exercised
its judgment and is satisfied that the method
of valuation is reflective of the current market
conditions. If there are changes in the assumptions
used for the valuation, the fair value of the unlisted
equity investments will change. As at 31 March
2025, the carrying amount of the unlisted equity
investments was approximately US$3,723,000
(31 December 2023: US$4,255,000). Details of
information about the valuation were disclosed in
note 34.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

4.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 4.

(continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets and goodwill

The management determines the impairment loss
if circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
the CGUs may not be recoverable. The carrying
amounts of CGUs are reviewed when there are any
indicators of impairment. The recoverable amounts
are the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use.

The assessment of the value in use model is
inherently subjective as it involves the exercise of
significant management judgement and estimation,
especially in determining future revenue, future
operating expenses and the discount rate applied.

In determining the value in use, expected cash
flows generated by the asset are discounted to their
present value, which requires significant judgement
relating to level of future revenue, future operating
expenses and discount rate applied. The Group
uses all readily available information in determining
an amount that is a reasonable approximation of
recoverable amount, including estimates based
on reasonable and supportable assumptions and
financial budgets approved by the management of
the Group. As at 31 March 2025, the net carrying
amount of goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and intangible and other assets were US$Nil
(31 December 2023: US$Nil), US$930,000 (31
December 2023: US$566,000) and US$2,863,000
(31 December 2023: US$3,491,000) respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Key sources of estimation uncertainty 4.

(continued)
Estimates and assumptions (continued)
Estimated useful lives of development costs

Development costs under intangible and other
assets are stated at costs less accumulated
amortisation and impairment, if any. Development
costs represent contract costs which are amortised
using the systematic basis over the expected
duration of the contract periods for particular ICs.
The management of the Company reviews the
estimated useful lives of the development costs
regularly in order to determine the amount of
amortisation to be recorded during each reporting
period. The determination of useful lives is based
on the Group’s historical experience with similar
products. The amortisation for future periods is
adjusted if there are material changes from previous
estimates. As at 31 March 2025, the net carrying
amount of development costs under intangible and
other assets was US$2,059,000 (31 December
2023: US$2,939,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

5.

Segment information

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported to
the executive directors of the Company for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group'’s
business components and for their review of the
performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information
reported to the executive directors are determined
following the Group’s major operations.

An operating segment is a component of the Group
that is engaged in business activities from which the
Group may earn revenue and incur expenses, and
is identified on the basis of the internal management
reporting information that is provided to and
regularly reviewed by the executive directors of the
Company in order to allocate resources and assess
performance of the segment. During the period,
the executive directors of the Company received
and reviewed information on the performance of the
Group as a whole. Accordingly, it is determined that
the Group has only one single operating segment,
which is determined as sale of ICs products and
electronic components including bundled services,
for the purpose of allocating resources and
assessing performance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Segment information (continued) 5. & )
The Company is an investment holding company RAABB—REREEZERAR A& E
and the principal place of the Group’s operation WEELEWERBAERTE - 3R
is in Hong Kong and the PRC. For the purpose BAEBMBERELR)FESHRKLE D
of geographical segment information disclosures HIBBEWEBESLERMS  AEE
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments, the Group REBREREHM - NEEMAEKRE
regarded Hong Kong as its place of domicile. All INREFHIU A AL E B R AP
the Group’s revenue from external customers is EMAEEZS  MAKEIERBE
presented based on the location of the operating EMTBEASRERERERAAE
subsidiaries and the Group’s non-current assets B A AHEMEZANEN SR EE) A
(excluding life insurance policy deposits and WEEMEMZWT :
financial assets at FVTOCI) is presented based on
the location of assets as follows:
Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E2025%F #H £2023F
3A31H 12318
IE+HM@EA IEFE
Us$’000 US$'000
FEIT FETT
Revenue from external customers REINEE B A
Hong Kong BB 65,565 46,505
The PRC a3 11,398 19,811
76,963 66,316
Non-current assets ERBEE
Hong Kong BB 2,637 2,246
The PRC 1 1,156 1,811
3,793 4,057
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

5. Segment information (continued) 5. #BEHE
Revenue from customers which individually RE S ER - (RS BRI A10% A
contributed over 10% of the total revenue of the EHENEFPBALRT :

Group during the period/year is as follows:

Fifteen

months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December

2025 2023
B E2025F B E2023F
3A31H 12H31H
I+ A E A IEFE
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
Customer A EPFA 23,217 15,203
Customer B EFB N/A* 7 & R * 7,500
* Less than 10% of the Group’s total revenue * DA 5 48 U A10%
During the current period, the Group generated RABEAR  AEEHNKRAZERE
revenue primarily from the sale of five categories HE TV ABICEmREFLH - B
of ICs products and electronic components, F()VBBREREERE: ()EH
comprising for: (i) mobile devices and smart 22l (i) E RS BB ES : (iv)E K
charging; (ii) motor control; (iii) sensor and —1&E ([LEDJ) BRAR ; K (v) 5148 ([RF))
automation; (iv) light-emitting diode (“LED”) lighting; BIR - TR ZEMBRHEONE
and (v) radio frequency (“RF”) power. The following —REMERAO W ARA:

table sets out the breakdown of the revenue
recognised at a point in time by product category:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SZEMBHRFME
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A
5. Segment information (continued) 5. ##B&EH®
Fifteen
months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December

2025 2023
B 20255 #H £2023F
3A31H 12H31H
I+ A E A HFE
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FZET

Sales of IC products and electronic $E&ICERMAEF L -

components:—

Mobile devices and smart charging B E#HRENMEETE 44,231 32,271
Motor control B AT 29,253 26,612
Sensor and automation ER 2 & BB % 1,334 5,110
LED lighting LED AR BH 810 1,146
RF power 5f 48 & IR 1,335 1,177
76,963 66,316
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

6. Revenue and other income and other 6. g A\ F H fth Ul N\ B H i g 2§
gains or losses A o]
Revenue from the Group’s principal activities, REEXEXKEHN KR (TTAR
which is also the Group'’s turnover, represents the EENEEE)EHEICERRET
income from sale of ICs products and electronic THEEXNTEPIERE —KHE
components including the bundled services RN BMBXRB)AFEA R
delivered to the customers and recognised at a H/ FAERHBAREMKA R
point in time. Revenue and other income and other HMRmEEEAT :
gains or losses recognised during the period/year
are as follows:
Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E20255F #H £2023%F
3A31H 12H31H
IE+H@EA IEFE
Uss$’ooo US$'000
FET FETT
Revenue from contract with (BEEHMBHREEL)
customers within the scope of B15REEARAEFEL
HKFRS 15, types of goods or W A - E 48 3R 5 E B
services
Sale of ICs products and HEICEmMREFTH
electronic components 76,963 66,316

The Group has applied the practical expedient
in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 to its sale of ICs
products and electronic components including the
bundled services such that the above information
does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the
remaining performance obligations that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

6. Revenue and other income and other

gains or losses (continued)

6. W AR E{U A RE MU=

51 o)

Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E20255F #H £2023%F
3A31H 12 H31H
IE+HM@EA IEFE
Uss$’o0o0 US$°000
FET FET
Other income R A
Bank interest income |ITH B A 30 16
Government grants (note) BT w8 B (47 a2 ) 9 52
Imputed interest income on life ASREZENHEENR
insurance policy deposits WA 123 104
Others H fth 32 21
194 193
Other gains or losses H ftb U 23 5 16 K
Gain on early termination of lease AT EH AW s 1 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEWME - BE & & H K=
and equipment 16 —
Loss on early termination of life AERBERAIKRENEE
insurance policy (5) =
Written-off of property, plant and WEME  BEKEZE
equipment (5) —
7 —
201 193

Note:

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 and year ended
31 December 2023, government grants included the subsidy
granted by the PRC government for encouragement to local

business activities.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies
attached to these subsidies at the end of the reporting period.

Byt

B & E20254F3A31B IE+RE AR
HZE2023F12A31B L FE - FEBF AR
B & Hb 7 3 UF B AR A9 AL o

PR B OR - 5% 5 1 R BT I R 2 AR RO 16
ek EfMs A EIA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

7. Finance costs 7. RAERAE

Fifteen

months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December

2025 2023

B E2025%F #H E2023F

3A31H 12A31H

IF+HEAR IEFE

Us$’000 US$°000

FE T FET

Interest on discounted bills BEIRFZEA B 185 70

Interest on lease liabilities HEAGERE 8 16

Interest on bank borrowings RITERF B 1,653 1,396

Interest on other borrowings H b & 1 F B 1,611 802
Imputed interest on shareholder’s BREERNEERN S

loans 96 —

3,553 2,084
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

contributions available to reduce its contributions to the

retirement benefit schemes in future years (31 December

2023: Nil).

8. Loss before income tax 8. KFtFivEHBiakE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: RETFIEHAEBEBENBRUATEIER
B

Fifteen

months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E20255F  H F2023F
3A31H 12H31H
IE+A@EA FE
Notes Us$°000 US$'000
=3 FET E T

Auditor’s remuneration % SR B &

— Audit services — BB 70 114

— Non-audit services — EBEZRB — 23
Amortisation of intangible and BRRHME EHH

other assets (note (i) (K772 (1)) 15 1,122 146
Amortisation of life insurance policy A F R B & % 84

deposits 42 34
Cost of inventories recognised as  HBR ARSI 2FER A

expenses 73,783 62,148
Depreciation of property, plant and #1% - BiE L& HTE

equipment 14 315 656
Employee benefit expenses & &8 7 7

(including directors’ remuneration) (B35 & = H )

(note (i) (K &£ (i)

— Salaries and allowances — He MR 4,509 3,707

— Pension scheme contributions ~ — R K% 5t 2 fit %

— defined contribution plan — ATEMH-KETE
(note (iii)) (B &£ (iii) 527 441

Expenses relating to the BEEEHEE Y

short-term leases 14 269 36
Exchange loss, net b B 18 38R 272 620
Written-down of inventories WO ST A ER A

included in cost of sales =5 19 668 860

Notes: K it -

(i) During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025, (i) REZE2025F3[31BIE+HMEA @ &
amortisation of intangible and other assets of 2 & B b & = % §H 49821,000 T &
approximately US$821,000 and US$301,000 (year ended 301,000 Tt A AT AHE R D $HH X%
31 December 2023: US$Nil and US$146,000) were UA e — & T2 77 B % (B £2023F 12 A
included in selling and distribution expenses and general 31RIEFE : XL %146,000F L) °
and administrative expenses respectively.

(i) During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025, (i) MBZE2025F3A3HIE+HM@A « &
employee benefit expenses (including directors’ SEAAZ (BEEEHM) 491,953,000
remuneration) of approximately US$1,953,000 and 3% ot }3,083,000% jt A Bl st A SH B K&
US$3,083,000 (year ended 31 December 2023: DA R — M &7 X (8 2023
US$1,761,000 and US$2,387,000) were included in selling F12A31H IE & & :1,761,000% T &
and distribution expenses and general and administrative 2,387,000 7t) ©
expenses respectively.

(i) As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no forfeited (i) 7202543 A31H - 7 & M@ I £ 4% 08 U

1
{E ZRAT F DAL A B R R A E AR IR a8 A
=T 21 B it X (2023F12 A31H : ) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

0. EEHWN - AEREHES
REREERE

9. Directors’ remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior
management

(a) Directors’ remuneration

Remuneration paid or payable by the Company
or its subsidiaries undertakings to the directors
of the Company during the period/year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing
Rules and Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
is set out below:

(a)

E = 5

RE/FR - REERLTHRA
SENEWNCIRE SR & A /NI /9
HIfBARIAARRIESFTZ MK
MBI mT :

Pension
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees  allowances bonuses contributions Total
Be
e HeREE  BRRL  HIER ait
Usso00 Usso00 Uss000 Uss000 Usso00
FET FET F£7 F£7 i 7
Fifteen months ended B F2025%3R318
31 March 2025 L+afER
Executive directors; HITEE:
Mr. Lam MEE 15 229 38 6 288
Mr. Qing e 15 101 - 4 120
Mr. Mai Lu REEE 15 102 38 18 173
Ms. Cheng Yu Pik BFELT 15 145 - 165
Sub-fotal et 60 577 7 3 746
Independent non-executive directors:  BUFHTEE
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond HEERE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Lai Man Shun REELE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth RERLEM )
(note (i) 15 - - - 15
Sub-fotal NG 45 - - - 45
Total B 105 577 7 3 791
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

9. Directors’ remuneration, five 9. EEFHFM AEmEFHES
highest paid employees and senior EERERRE®
management (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued) (a) EFEHM )
Pension
Salaries and  Discretionary scheme
Fees allowances bonuses  contributions Total
we HeREE R AN E =H

Usso00 Ussao0 Usso00 Ussooo ussooo
FAT FAL FAL FAL FAT

Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ2023E12B31ALEE

Executive directors: HIEE:
Mr. Lam MEE 15 355 105 14 489
Mr. Qing WxE 15 137 80 2 253
Mr. Mai Lu REGE 15 87 161 21 284
Ms. Cheng Yu Pik gFERT 15 233 29 9 286
Sub-total NG 60 812 375 65 1,312
Inclependent non-executive directors:  BLH#HTEE
Mr. Dan Kun Lei, Raymond BRERE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Lai Man Shun RERLE 15 - - - 15
Mr. Chan Ngai Fan fnote (i) BREREWH ) 8 — — —
Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth REELE
(note (i) (W) 8 - - — 8
Sub-otal et 46 - - — 46
Total At 106 812 375 05 1,358
The executive directors’ remuneration shown ERBTESOHME IRERR
above were for their services in connection with RAIRAEEEREBHRY -
the management of the affairs of the Company MEMBIERTESTOMN S
and the Group while the independent non- DEERARABIEZNRE -
executive directors’ remuneration shown above
were for their services as directors of the
Company.
No any of the directors has waived or agreed RE E2025%3A318 It + A&
to waive any remuneration during the fifteen A BEEEREXIRBERET
months ended 31 March 2025 (year ended 31 fal Bl & (8 22023F12 318 1t
December 2023: Nil). FEE)-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

0. EEHWN - AEREHES
EERERE®

9. Directors’ remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior
management (continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(a) EEFMH

During the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025, no remuneration was paid by the Group
to the directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office (year ended 31 December 2023:
Nil).

During the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025, no retirement benefits, payments or
benefits in respect of termination of directors’
services were paid or made, directly or
indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable.
No consideration was provided to or receivable
by third parties for making available directors’
services. There were no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of directors, their
controlled bodies corporate and connected
entities (year ended 31 December 2023: Nil).

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the financial
statements, no significant transactions,
arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025 (year ended 31 December 2023:
Nil).

Notes:

(i) Mr. Chan Ngai Fan was resigned as an independent
non-executive director on 30 June 2023.

(i) Mr. Chan Kwok Kuen Kenneth was appointed as
an independent non-executive director on 30 June
2023.
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A ZAEERERESI e
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/) o

RE Z22025F3A31H It + A @
A rERESEESBEEIN
BB BRREEERE 2
KIE AT - I8 E AT o] FE 3K
H e WERIRHEZRBEMMASE
ZHRESRWERE - EUE
= REFEESENTELIEREE
ERAEXm AZER  BHUE
R EMR 5 (B £2023F 124
B1HLIEFE: &)

BRI mREMBOAMEES
Hh - FEE R KB 20259331
Bit+HEARERER - 8T
FEAMERASEEREBmMA
RAMERBEF—FAEARRGES
BEEEEREEEAEGNE
ARG BHRE K (B £2023
F12A31HIEFE &) -

Wit -

(i) FBRBRELEBN2023F6A30HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

9. Directors’ remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior
management (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remunerations
were the highest in the Group for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025 included 3 (year
ended 31 December 2023: 4) directors, whose
remunerations were reflected in the analysis
shown in the note (a) above. The remuneration
paid and payable to the remaining 2 (year
ended 31 December 2023: 1) highest paid
individuals during the year is as follows:

0. EEHWN - AEREHES

EERERE®

(b) AE=RBEHMAL

#H £2025F3A31H IF + & @
A AEEMEZSNRABAL
B ¥E3%Z (H £2023F12A31H
EFE 4R)EF HMeER
M@ TIEDHER - REA -
FE 1~ B #ro% (B £22023F 124
MBEEE 1B R FMAL
BT :

Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E2025%F H F2023F
3A318 1t 12A31H

+AH@EA IEFE

USs$°’000 US$’000

F 3T FET

Salaries and allowances e KoEBL 395 387
Pension scheme contributions R K& 5t 2] £ & 13 2
408 389
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRFRMEE
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543H31H i + 7 16 A
9. Directors’ remuneration, five 9. EEFHFIM AEmEFHFES
highest paid employees and senior EERERE
management (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued) (b) AEmEHFMAL ()
The number of the highest paid employees who AT AME N TR A TR &
are not the directors whose remuneration fell SFMES(LIHFES)NHE -

within the following bands is as follows:

Number of the individuals

A

Fifteen

months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December

2025 2023
B E20255F B E£2023F
3A31H 12H31H
IE+HEA IEFE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/% 7t £1,500,000
(equivalent to approximately 75 7T (89 F 129,001 7T
US$129,001 to US$194,000) %194,000% L) 1 —
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/% 7t £2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately 78 7T (495 194,001 7T
US$194,001 to US$258,000) %258,000% 7t) 1 —
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ Jt £ 3,500,000
(equivalent to approximately 75 7T (9 F 1R 387,001% 7T
US$387,001 to US$452,000) £452 000% 7T) — 1
2 1
During the fifteen months ended 31 March & Z=2025F3A31H I + & @
2025, no remuneration was paid by the Group A XEBETEREANRE®S
to any of the five highest paid individuals as an A TZREMIERMARE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or B 37 BN =X in A AN & B B Y B2
as compensation for loss of office (year ended B =k Bt B w6 18 (B £2023F 12 A
31 December 2023: Nil). B1IBIEFE: &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

10. Retirement schemes

Defined contribution retirement plans

Under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance regulated by the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority in Hong Kong, the
Group participates in a MPF Scheme operated
by an approved trustee in Hong Kong and makes
contributions for its eligible employees. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the
scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income,
subject to a cap of monthly relevant income. The
cap of monthly relevant income is HK$30,000
(equivalent to approximately US$4,000) (year ended
31 December 2023: HK$30,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$4,000)) during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2025. Contributions to the scheme
vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the
PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefits scheme being operated by the local PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a specified percentage of the average
basic salary to the retirement benefits scheme to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to
make the specified contributions.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025, the
aggregate amount of employer’s contribution made
by the Group of approximately US$527,000 (year
ended 31 December 2023: US$441,000).

10. B 4k 5T &l

RERFBAKEE
BEXEEANMELABETEEE
SE TR EIEATE ST EIEG)
AEBEL2EHBEBXESTALE
HeiEestE W AHAEWBETH#
Ko BERELTE BERERES
HAEZBREEEBABRS%AETE
R BUASREBAAB LS LR - &
Z2025%3A31HIt T+ HE AN ® A
AR A B LR A30,000/ T(HHE R
#74,000% JT)(# =2023%F12A31H
LFF : 30,0007 7T (A8 & 14 494,000
EL) e st RENEEFEB -

AEBEFENHBARNER ST
B 5 B B B KB R KA
MEEIWKE - BARIARFHE
ATEMNKRE B REKE RS
HR - URHBENES - AEEER
KEFNAETENE-EEREL

1 TE R K o

B £2025F3A31HIE+HM@A - &
EE AR H KL L AK527,000
Z T (E £22023F12A31B I F & :
441,000 JT) °

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

10. BIKEH &I ()

10. Retirement schemes (continued)

Defined contribution retirement plans
(continued)

Hong Kong employees that have been employed
continuously for at least five years are entitled to
long service payments in accordance with the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance under certain
circumstances. These circumstances include
where an employee is dismissed for reasons
other than serious misconduct or redundancy,
that employee resigns at the age of 65 or above,
or the employment contract is of fixed term and
expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable
is determined with reference to the employee’s
final salary (capped at HK$22,500 (equivalent
to approximately US$3,000)) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued
benefits derived from the Group’s contributions to
MPF scheme, with an overall cap of HK$390,000
(equivalent to approximately US$50,000) per
employee. Currently, the Group does not have any
separate funding arrangement in place to meet its
LSP obligation.

In June 2022, the Government gazetted the
Amendment Ordinance, which will eventually
abolish the statutory right of an employer to reduce
its LSP payable to a Hong Kong employee by
drawing on its mandatory contributions to the
MPF scheme. The Government has subsequently
announced that the Amendment Ordinance
will come into effect from the Transition Date.
Separately, the Government is also expected to
introduce a subsidy scheme to assist employers
after the abolition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 A

10. Retirement schemes (continued)

Defined contribution retirement plans
(continued)

Among other things, once the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism takes effect, an employer
can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory MPF contributions
(irrespective of the contributions made before,
on or after the Transition Date) to reduce the LSP
in respect of an employee’s service from the
Transition Date. However, where an employee’s
employment commenced before the Transition
Date, the employer can continue to use the above
accrued benefits to reduce the LSP in respect of the
employee’s service up to that date; in addition, the
LSP in respect of the service before the Transition
Date will be calculated based on the employee’s
monthly salary immediately before the Transition
Date and the years of service up to that date.

The Group has determined that the Amendment
Ordinance cause immaterial impacts to the Group’s
LSP liability with respect to Hong Kong employees.

10. BIKEH &I ()

SREBFR AT EI ()

Hep» —HEURBHEEH AR BE
A GEBEARBEE R ER—RRIAE
ENEMRERE (TRBBHRR
EBEBM A - BEAKZEIEL)
R B B i@ K B B /Y AR 75 4 Hi ey
KRG E - A FREREEEERHE
HIp o e =& EBXDA#ESEN L
At R HHE 5 R B B AR K B HIRT Y
REFHANRBRGE 1o ER
38 % B 8 A &) IR 75 F I e R B AR 75
Gl /‘\E{EE\EE%E?ZEFEIHH??E’JH
#ﬁ&ﬁ B B HI AT & AR 7% F B3

AEBRR (EFTHRIDBAREES
HESEENEHARBEEERET
K e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

M. FiEHEAX

11. Income tax expense

Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E20255%F & £2023F
3HA31H 12A31H

IE+H@EA EFE
Us$’000 US$°000
FETT FETT
The PRC Corporate Income Tax FEPEMREH
(“CIT") (TEEMRERD
— Under-provision in prior years — BAFERETR —_ 3
Deferred tax (note 28) B T I8 (B it 28)
— Current year — KFEE (122) 1,097
— Write-down of previously — ERIHERAIE LRI
recognised deferred tax assets & WO 208 —
86 1,097
86 1,100

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity
basis on profits arising in or derived from the
jurisdiction in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operated.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman
Islands and the BVI, the Group is not subject to
any income tax under these jurisdictions during the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 (year ended
31 December 2023: Nil).

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime in
Hong Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to approximately US$258,000) of profits
of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%
(year ended 31 December 2023: 8.25%), and profits
above HK$2,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$258,000) will be taxed at 16.5% (year ended
31 December 2023: 16.5%). The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5% (year ended 31 December 2023: 16.5%)
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

11. Income tax expense (continued)

No provision for current Hong Kong Profits Tax has
been made for the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025 and the year ended 31 December 2023, as
the Group did not have assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong Profits Tax during the period/year.

The provision for the PRC CIT was based on the
statutory rate of 25% (year ended 31 December
2023: 25%) of the assessable profits of subsidiaries
which carried on businesses in the PRC during the
period/year. No provision for the PRC CIT has been
made for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025
and the year ended 31 December 2023, as the
Group did not have assessable profits subject to the
PRC CIT during the period/year.

11.

S #HEAX e

H Z2025F3A31HIE+RHMEA &E
Z2023F12A31HILFE - AEE W
EAAEEBNERTREE AR
AEBEWBE,  FEANDGEBMNE
B ESRAOEETEREFE -

PR EEHOBENRESERM,
FEAERRNEEBOHE QR
AR A BZEE M E25% (B E
2023F12 A31HILFE : 25%) fEH
H E2025F3A31HIE+RAMEARE
F2023F12A31HILFE - AEE W
ERPRCEMGHIREE AR
AEBEHE FEANBAESMFEH
TEMSHAMGETERTEAE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRFRME
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543H31H i + 7 16 A
11. Income tax expense (continued) 1. RS #HEX e
A reconciliation of the income tax expenses RERBEFTENRTTAAGEHAE
applicable to loss before income tax at the BEAMGRAXEEZERNEE
applicable tax rates to income tax expense at the BEHFEHAIHEENAT
effective tax rate is as follows:
Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E£20255F #H £2023F
3A31H 12H31H
I+ A E A IFFE
Us$’ooo US$'000
FETT FET
Loss before income tax R EHFT 15 FR BB 1B (12,048) (8,649)
Tax at domestic rate of respective EEBREERD
jurisdiction 7N b 7 2R AR (2,367) (1,613)
Tax effect of non-taxable income U AR EE (28) (19)
Tax effect of non-deductible TAINBERAIOEETE
expenses 9 59
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 7k ## 3R &t 18 & 18 & £ 1%
T 1,817 2,293
Tax effect of temporary differences KR E I = 5B 15
not recognised B 655 377
Under-provision of tax in prior years, BAEFERBEETE
net P — 3
Income tax expense Frigfi M= 86 1,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

12. Loss per share 12. B 518
The calculation of the basic loss per share RAARBEBEAEBEEREARAEEERT
attributable to the owners of the Company is based S B ET & -

13.

on the following data:

Fifteen

months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December

2025 2023
B E20255F #H £2023%F
3A31H 12 H31H
IE+HE A IEFE
Us$’000 US$'000
FETT FET
Loss for the year attributable to the FEREANEEM T AQF
owners of the Company for the HBEAEBEENEE
purpose of basic loss per share (12,134) (9,749)
Number of shares
i 3 88
Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E20255F #H £2023%F
3A31H 12H31H
I+ A E A IEFE
‘000 ‘000
TR FR
Weighted average number of HEREAGEEMS EAERK
ordinary shares for the purpose of  Jl# FH &
basic loss per share 1,098,122 1,098,122
Diluted loss per share were the same as the basic MR B £2025F3A318 L+ RAM@A
loss per share as there were no dilutive potential MBI E2023F12A31AILFEHEA
shares outstanding during the fifteen months ended B ERNENRGD FITEIN
31 March 2025 and the year ended 31 December hEREEEERARGREANEEMNE
2023. [ o
Dividends 13. I 2
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary HE2025F3A31H I TRE AL &
shareholders of the Company during the fifteen [ AR A A) i IR IR ROK 1 32 & R
months ended 31 March 2025, nor has any dividend MEMKE - BHEEERARINE
been proposed since the end of the reporting IR EMARE (B E2023F12 4
period (year ended 31 December 2023: Nil). S1IRILEFE &) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

14. Property, plant and equipment 14. % - BERRE

Furniture, Right-of-use
Leasehold fixture and Motor assets
improvement equipment vehicles (note) Total
il RER ERELE
HENERE i RE (i) &t
Uss000 Uss000 Usso00 Uss000 Uss000
FET FET FET FE£7 FET
Cost BE
At 1 January 2023 20231718 111 654 205 897 1,867
Additions RE 365 16 - 140 521
Derecognition of expired leases BIBACEREE — - - (221) (221)
Exchange realignment ERRE ?) (6) - (15) (23)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023%12R31B &

1 January 2024 202451 A1R 474 664 205 801 2,144
Additions ME 294 91 198 169 752
Derecognition of expired leases BIEBEACEREE - - - (657) (657)
Disposal & - - (75) - (75)
Early termination of leases (note 25) ~ RATR LR A (M7 225) - - - (137) (137)
Written off i - (28) - - (28)
Exchange realignment EHHE 2) (4) - (7) (13)
At 31 March 2025 120255 3A 318 766 723 328 169 1,986
Accumulated depreciation and R REREE

impairment losses B#

At 1 January 2023 1202351418 111 386 149 40 1,056
Charge for the year (note §) Eng (e 62 108 436 656
Derecognition of expired leases RIEEACEREE - — — (221) (221)
Impairment (note 16) REW216) 46 21 1 28 102
Exchange realignment B A% 2) (4) - 9) (15)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12 4318 |k

1 January 2024 20241418 217 517 200 644 1,578
Charge for the period (note ) Bhx s 9 53 15 153 315
Derecognition of expired leases RIEEACERAE - - - (657) (657)
Disposal if-3 - - (75) - (75)
Early termination of leases (nofe 25) A& (LR £)(#/7225) - - - M) (M)
Written off i - (23) - - (23)
Exchange realignment i A 2 (3) - (6) (1)
At 31 March 2025 R2025% 30318 309 544 140 63 1,056
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 March 2025 202534318 457 179 188 106 930
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H 257 147 B 157 566
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 A

14. Property, plant and equipment
(continued)
Note:

For the period/year, the Group leased various offices and
warehouses for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 2 years (31 December 2023: 2 years to
3 years). Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessors. Leased assets may not be used as security
for borrowing purposes. None of the leases have extension or
termination option as at 31 March 2025 (31 December 2023:

14.M%¥  BERRHE®

B i -

REE/ FE AEBHEETHAZELE
EffEERAR HEANNETEFH A2F
(2023F 12 A31H : 2F £=34F) - HEHIZ AR
%%%W&EA%ETW%?X&W#Orﬁéiﬂj
AMABEHEEENERAESI  HEHH
WG IMERRE - HEEERNSBIEER
A o N2025%3A318 - Fi A TH &5 &I 5
4R IR IE M (2023412 A31H : £&) -

Nil).
Amounts included in the consolidated statements of HeRenERTEBAHEENEE
cash flows comprises the following: LU
Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E£20255F #H £2023F
3A31H 12A31H
I+EHEA LEFE
Us$’ooo US$'000
FETT FET
Within financing cash flow BMERESRENA
— fixed payments — B E K 180 458
Within operation cash flow KRERSREN
— expenses relating to short-term  — @R R A EMNFEX
leases (note 8) (H1#£8) 269 36
Total cash outflow for leases HEZIRE R ARRE 449 494

As at 31 March 2025 and 31 December 2023,
the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expenses disclosed above.

The details of impairment loss of property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 16.

7202593 A31H 202312 A31A -
MEHEEAS /\ixﬁzﬂxm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
MM ENEHEEAGHEE

BEME - BEKAE
BEE LK 16 -

IR E B 1R 27
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

15. Intangible and other assets BERHEMBEE
Customer Development
relationship costs
(note a) Software (note b Total
EERY WA )
(Hita) LA (K #b) &t
Uss 000 US$'000 US$'000 USs$'000
FET FET FET FET
Cost %
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 /1R 300 449 1,444 2,193
Additions nE — 409 1,518 1,927
Exchange realignment & 5 A& — — (23) (23)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023%F12A31A

1 January 2024 k20241 R1H 300 858 2,939 4,097
Additions nNE - 553 — 553
Written off g (300) - - (300)
Exchange realignment EREES - - (31) (31)
At 31 March 2025 12025%3A31H - 1,411 2,908 4,319
Accumulated amortisation and R &t i 8 &

impairment losses REER

1 January 2023 R2023F1A1H 297 65 — 362
Charge for the year (note 8) ER M (47i6) 3 143 - 146
Impairment (note 16) WEHZ16) — 98 — 98
At 31 December 2023 and R2023512A31A &

1 January 2024 2024F1A1A 300 306 - 606
Charge for the period (note §) IR it (#7#8) - 301 821 1,122
Impairment (note 16) BEH i 16) — — 32 32
Written off i 38 (300) - - (300)
Exchange realignment [ 5 A% - - (4) (4)
At 31 March 2025 2025%3A31H - 607 849 1,456
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 March 2025 120255 3R318 - 804 2,059 2,863
At 31 December 2023 M2023F12 4318 = 552 2,939 3,491
Notes: Wit
(@) The customer relationship has finite useful lives in the (@) FAEFPBAENEREAHRRBIZET

range from 4 to 7 years (year ended 31 December 2023: 4 & (& %2023%12)%31 HIEFE: 4587
to 7 years) and are amortised on a straight-line basis. ) IR E G E

The useful lives of the customer relationship under AR YN T B0 1 ) B fir A BR A &) (HFEI
intangible assets arising from the business combination EEN) P EBREBMEFRMAER AT
of Shenzhen IH Technology Company Limited (“Shenzhen TEBEEDERKEREREESFAR AT
IH"), Shanghai IH Microelectronics Technology Company (THKERE])MEBEHELENETLE
Limited (“Shanghai IH”) and Chengdu Flying Electronics EETHEFHEEEREHEBEE
Limited (“Chengdu Flyring”) were determined by the B D RIS  TERAFEF - 2
independent valuer at 5 years, 7 years and 4 years ERFEMREARATEBERE & /9K EF
respectively. It was taken into consideration that the mEREERAEEERERKEEER
economic benefits expected to be generated from the use mim 4 o

of the customer relationship would diminish over time due
to attrition and time value of money.
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15. Intangible and other assets (continued)

16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Notes: (continued)

(b) Development costs represent the contract costs for the (b)
sales of ICs products and electronic components and are
subsequently amortised over the expected duration of the

Hiat: (%)

contract period of 3 years and recorded in selling and

distribution expense.

The details of impairment loss of intangible and

other assets are set out in note 16.

BE P16 ©

15. B RHEMEE o)

FREKAEFEEICEMREFTHNSG
BB WHERNIFEE KB TR B F
HIAEE  IAEERDHFEX °

ERAERVREMEEREBER ZF

Goodwill 16. &8

Uss$’000

FET

Cost 5% S
At 1 January 2023 1K2023F1H1H 260
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B (5)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 1202312 H31H & 202441 H1H 255
Exchange realignment B 5, 58 B (5)
At 31 March 2025 2025%3A31H 250
Accumulated impairment losses RetiB{ERBE
At 1 January 2023 1K2023%F1H1H —
Impairment BE 257
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B (2)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 7202312318 &2024%F1H1H 255
Exchange realignment b 5, 58 B (5)
At 31 March 2025 20255 3A31H 250
Net carrying amount R % {E
At 31 March 2025 20255 3A31H —_
At 31 December 2023 R2023F12A31H —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

16. Goodwill (continued) 16. B2 (&)

Goodwill was arising from the acquisition of
Shenzhen IH on 16 November 2016 and the
management of the Company allocated goodwill to
the cash generated unit of Shenzhen IH. In addition
to goodwill above, property, plant and equipment,
intangible and other assets (including allocation of
corporate assets) that generate cash flows together
with the related goodwill are also included in the
respective cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment assessment.

When performing impairment review on goodwill
and other non-financial assets, the recoverable
amount had been determined based on a value-in-
use calculation. These calculations use cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved
by the management of the Company covering a
five-year period. The pre-tax discount rates used of
8.00% (31 December 2023: 7.00%) was adopted.
The management of the Company determined the
budgeted revenue and budgeted gross margin
based on past performance and its expectations
for the market development. The cash flows beyond
five years have been extrapolated using a steady
3.00% (31 December 2023: 3.00%) per annum
growth rate.

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use
calculations of the operating subsidiaries for the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2025. The following
describes each key assumption on which the
management of the Company has based its cash
flows projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill and other non-financial assets:—

Business growth rate — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted sales during the
five-year projection period is the sales growth rate
achieved in the prior year immediately before the
budget year.

Pre-tax discount rates — The pre-tax discount rates
used are before income tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant units.
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HmEREMIEeREEETRER
B kD eEEREFEAEAER
HET %EAETRERAERE
BEMENIFHYKEEETRS
= TER - BEF8.00% (2023412 A
318 : 7.00%) W) B AT BE IR K « REH
EEERBEAERBAREH TSR
BRHNEHETHEKRARBEER
oo BBRAFMNREESREMFAH3.00%
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H EZ2025FE3A31HIE+REAR &
2EMBATINEREBEINIERE T
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16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Goodwill (continued)

The values assigned to the key assumptions on the
operating subsidiaries are consistent with external
information sources.

As a result, impairment loss on goodwill, property,
plant and equipment and intangible and other
assets amounting to approximately US$Nil (year
ended 31 December 2023: US$257,000), US$NIl
(year ended 31 December 2023: US$102,000) (note
14) and US$32,000 (year ended 31 December
2023: US$98,000) (note 15), respectively were
recognised in the profit or loss during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025.

Life insurance policy deposits

Certain life insurance policies (the “Policies”) with
an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
US$2,543,000 (31 December 2023: US$2,734,000)
were entered into by the Group to insure two of
the directors of the Company, Mr. Lam and Ms.
Cheng Yu Pik. Under the Policies, the beneficiary
and policy holder is the Group and the total
insured sum was approximately US$9,195,000 (31
December 2023: US$10,537,000) as at 31 March
2025. The Group can terminate the Policies at any
time and can receive cash back based on the net
nominal account value of the Policies at the date of
withdrawal. Interest is earned at interest rates of at
least those guaranteed by the insurer.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025,
the Group decided to terminate one of the life
insurance policies with the carrying amount
of approximately US$274,000, a proceed of
approximately US$269,000 was received from the
insurer and recognised a loss on early termination
of life insurance policy of approximately US$5,000
(note 6).

16.

17.

BE e

PRTEZEMBARNBREBRNE
BEEINEPEBIRIRE—B -

Hit - REE2025%F3A318 1L+ 7
BA WmE - YE BEERKEAK
EELEMEENREBSESIOT
X 5t (H £2023F12A318 I F & :
257,000 7t) * T E Jr (B £20234%F
128318 IEFZ 102,000 JT)(Mf 5F
14) % 32,0003 T (# £2023%F12 A
31HIEFE : 98,000 T )(Ms£15)E
RIBZEPHER -

ASHRERS
AEBERIRAEEXA2543,000
£ 7T (202312 A31H : 2,734,000
TTINEBETASRBRE(RE]D A
KARMBESMEEREFEL
TIRERR - BERE Xm AR
REFBEABAREE - HR2025%3
HA31H M 1R bz 42 & %8 49 /89,195,000
% (2023412 A31H : 10,537,000
EL) AEBEAHERKILRELIR
EREEREMNZR FRAEWEIR
T BRBAAERNKIER X
R & o

H E2025F3A31BIE+RHEA » &
SEAERIEEF—MDASRE K
H 18 %) &274,0003% 7T © B WEUR K
A B R IE 49269,000%E 7T ¢ I #E R IR
BRIFASRERFREELS5000E
7T (M 7E6) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

17. A\ERERE

17. Life insurance policy deposits

(continued)

The directors of the Company expected that
the remaining Policies with upfront payment of
approximately US$376,000 will be terminated
at the 38th policy year in 2053, approximately
US$265,000 will be terminated at the 40th policy
year in 2058, approximately US$224,000 will
be terminated at the 45th policy year in 2065,
approximately US$300,000 will be terminated at
the 45th policy year in 2065 and approximately
US$1,248,000 will be terminated at the 39th policy
year in 2061 respectively.

There will be a specified surrender charge of
approximately US$40,000, US$31,000, US$25,000,
US$75,000 and US$159,000 (year ended 31
December 2023: US$43,000, US$33,000,
US$26,000, US$75,000 and US$167,000) in
accordance with each policy respectively. The
expected life of the Policies remained unchanged
from the date of initial recognition and the directors
of the Company considered that the financial impact
of the option to terminate the Policies was not
significant.

At the inception date, the upfront payments of
the Policies were separated into deposits placed
and prepayments of life insurance premium. The
deposits element was measured at costs adjusted
for interests and charges recognised for each year
and the prepayments of life insurance premium
were stated at cost, less subsequent accumulated
amortisation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

The Policies with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately US$2,227,000 (31 December 2023:
US$2,149,000) were pledged to a bank to secure
the bank borrowings (note 26) granted to the Group.
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ARBREEREH BEANRLHYAE
376,000 JT H | &4 1R B8 4§ 102053 F
FIBEREFELRILE - BRNROA
265,0003 7T HY Fl 84 1R B2 % A 2058 4
FAIORFREFELILE BRNROAE
224,000 JT K Tl #2 1R B 1§ 1020654
FLEREFERILE  BEHRLOAE
300,0003 JT & Fl #2 R BB 1§ 102065 F
FAEAREFERIERBARLY A
1,248,0003 JT 1) F &% 1R B #§ 12 2061
FEIVEREFELRIE -

BESRE DRBELEREER
FHEE 440,000 7T * 31,000 7T
25,000 7T * 75,0003 7T % 159,000
E L (B £22023F12HA31B It F & :
43,0003 7T - 33,0003 7T - 26,000
% JT * 75,0003 jT % 167,000 7T) ©
REMNTBHFR BV A ERBHLAK
wEFELAE BARNREZTRAERIER
ENRBETESAYERTE -

REAWBBEH  RENBENRI/EA
EREANASRRE - EREIRK
SEEANNNERERFHBROK
At 8 ARRBRRENFANFIZK
AREERTHERERERBE
BENA)SIEK -

48 BETE (B 49 &2,227,0003 7T (20234
12H31H : 2,149,000 ;L) MR EE
B F—RERTT - UIERAAEBR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 A

18. Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

18. HARBHEFARMETI
mEIERIEE

As at
"
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20255 20234
3A31H 12A31H
Us$’000 US$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at FVTOCI BERAnBEFTAEMERERK
=R B E
— Unlisted equity securities in —REBHEBRFEN
the BVI, Cosmic Paramount ELETRAES
Limited (“Cosmic”) Cosmic Paramount
Limited ([Cosmicl) 3,723 4 255
The movements of unlisted equity securities are as FETMRAZHFZEHUOT :
follows:
Us$’o0oo
F £ T
At 1 January 2023 1K2023%F1H1H 6,293
Change in FVTOCI EAnBEFAHEMCEZERKRNEE (2,038)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 722023412 H31H & 202441 H1H 4,255
Change in FVTOCI EAnBEFAEMCEZEKRNEE (532)
At 31 March 2025 ”»2025%E3H31H 3,723

In 2020, the Group entered into (i) the conditional
sale and purchase agreement together with the
supplemental agreement with the independent
vendor in relation to the acquisition of 781 shares
of Cosmic (the “Acquisition”) and (ii) conditional
subscription agreement together with the
supplemental agreement to subscribe 148 shares
of Cosmic (the “Subscription”). After the completion
of the Acquisition and the Subscription on 31
December 2020, the Group held in aggregate
9.07% equity interest in Cosmic.

R20204F + ANEBE ()ERB EF 5 5t
B CosmicB 781 IR PEI L B E
N EDS B (Mﬁz%%lﬁb X
(VFIBRHREDRE LT HE
LAR B Cosmic 148X A% 1 (R BE =
H]) - WA =18 &R E 1B RK2020
F12A31HEK®E  AEEBAEHEFR
Cosmic HY9.07% A% #E -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

18.

19.

Financial assets at fair value through 18. A REEFAHEGL2ZEEK
other comprehensive income (continued) HHEMEE
The above unlisted equity securities are designated FTHRIFLETRABTHFHEEERIER
as financial assets at FVTOCI (non-recycling) as AEEFAEMEZAKENEREE
the investment is not held for trading and is held for (TRIEE)  RARZIKRELIERFIE
long-term strategic purposes. Cosmic, through its BE ' RERHABEEER o Cosmic
operating subsidiary which is incorporated in Hong FERERBEBFMERIL2EENRE A
Kong, is principally engaged in one-stop supply AFrERE-— A EEESR TS
chain financial platform, which provide global ZTreRtEERHERERE  TER
supply chain services, booking online by clicking —ETEE] °
one button.
The details of the fair value measurement as at 31 R2025F3A31B Z AR EEEF
March 2025 are set out in note 34. 15 & B 7E34 ©
No dividends were received from this investment H E2025%63A318 It T R @ A &
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 MZIEREWER S (B 22023412
(year ended 31 December 2023: Nil). A31BIEFE &) -
Inventories 19. B &
As at
7”
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 2023%F
3A31H 12H31H
uss’ooo US$'000

FET FET

Finished goods 2 X fm 6,662 14,007

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025,
certain inventories with original costs amounting
to approximately US$668,000 (year ended 31
December 2023: US$860,000) were written-down
(note 8).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 A

20. & 5 FE W 3k 16 K FE W 32 4

20. Trade and bills receivables

As at
®

31 March 31 December

2025 2023

20255 20234

3HA31H 12A31H

Us$’000 US$'000

FE T FET

Trade receivables, gross B WFKIERE 14,880 17,457

Less: allowance for ECL on trade BB SR Iéi i‘ﬁﬁlﬂﬁ%

receivables EEEE (1,660) (1,180)

Trade receivables, net (note a) B oW RIBFRE (A ita) 13,220 16,277
Bills receivables (note b) FEW =& (K azb) 640 2,770
13,860 19,047

Notes:

(@)

As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables, net of ECL, from
contracts with customers amounted to approximately
US$20,261,000.

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit, except for new customers where payment in
advance is normally required. The credit period granted
is based on the historical trading and payment records of
each customer, generally not more than four months (31
December 2023: not more than four months). Extended
credit terms may be granted for some major long-term
customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing and the Group does
not hold any collateral in relation to these receivables.

(@)

M2023F1HA1H - RERFEHMNES
ERFRBEFEGIGKBHEESE)NA
20,261,000 7T, °

AEEHETFNESKRAEEUEE
Eﬁﬁi WEHEEHRIN HBEFE
FENFE - - EEHERKBSEFANBAER
%&ﬁ £ﬁﬁ%% BE RGN E
H<2023¢12ﬂ315 SR AMEA) -
AEEgERITH IEE%%ﬁ&%L
REEH - $§lﬁ$%hﬁ$ﬁ
W oK TH HY B A% 22 i) 37 5% jﬁ%%ﬂ%u

=EREEERR SRAEEESTH
%ﬁﬁ% tih o EHEWFGEAERER
AEBYEFETMNEZERKRIES
B e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

20. & 5 FE W 3k 16 K FE W 32 48

20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 and
year ended 31 December 2023, the Group entered into
a receivable purchase arrangement (the “Arrangement”)
with a commercial bank in Hong Kong to discount certain
trade receivables with full recourse to the bank. At 31
March 2025, the Group discounted trade receivables with
a carrying amount of approximately US$10,707,000 (31
December 2023: US$5,781,000). Under the Arrangement,
the Group may be required to reimburse the bank for
loss of interest if the trade debtor has late payment up to
120 days. The details of interest are set out in note 26(b)
to these consolidated financial statements. The Group
was therefore exposed to the risks of credit losses and
late payment in respect of the discounted debts. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the discounting
transactions did not meet the requirements in HKFRS 9
for derecognition of financial assets as the Group has
retained the substantial risks and rewards of ownership
of the discounted trade debts, which include default
risks relating to such discounted trade receivables, and
accordingly, it continued to recognise the full carrying
amounts of approximately US$10,707,000 (31 December
2023: US$5,781,000) of the discounted trade receivables.

The proceeds of the discounting arrangement were
included in bank borrowings as asset-backed financing
until the trade debts were collected or the Group
settled any losses suffered by the banks. At 31 March
2025, the asset-backed financial liabilities amounted
to approximately US$9,169,000 (31 December 2023:
US$4,993,000) (note 26(b)).

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of ECL
allowances, based on the past due dates, is as follows:

(&)

Kzt (&)

(a)

(&)

H E2025F3A31H L+ AHEA KE E2023F
12A31BLEFE ASEEF S —HEFER
TRIMEWRBEE R ([ZEHE])  AiEE
TESEKRREME  THRTEE2HER
He o A20253A31H REEKEEELN A
10,707,000 7T (2023412 A31H : 5,781,000
EL)MNESHEMGRERE - RIBFEZTHE - M
BHEBABHMRREI20K  NEB 4L
AT EEBEREERT - MEFBEHNZSE
AR ME26(0) - AL - A& B ER
EHRMREFSNEERE RaBARER -
ARREERA  WBERZUTAFE(BEBY
BHREEANFIREARIIEREREEDN
BE BERAAEBECERBENRESELESE
ERNBRIDRER KO R (EERZEL
RESEKRAEBEENENER) Bt &
BERRABBEESERA BN BETELY
10,707,000 7t (2023412 A31H : 5,781,000
ESIK

AMRZHNMSREBEEREEIHBMEA
BTER BEEESEECKRERAERE
HRITASEIMEMBEALE - R2025%F3
HA31H  EEX B & E 4 /9,169,000
7T (2023412 A31H : 4,993,000% 7t)(Kt =
26(b)) °

REAHAMEEZRKRFIR(HKREREE
EEEE) R DTNT

As at
®”

31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20255 20234
3A31H 12H31H
uss’ooo US$'000
F £ T FETT
Not past due K #0 A2f 12,113 14,547
1-30 days past due A H1E30K 938 497
31-90 days past due 8 #3312 90K 99 584
91-120 days past due B HEI91 = 120K 46 585
More than 121 days past due ® B Z 121K 24 64
13,220 16,277

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables are set out in note 34.
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20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)

(continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

20. & 5 FE W 3k 16 K FE W 32 4

(&)

Bt (&)

(a)

The movements in allowances for ECL on trade

receivables are as follows:

(%)

BoRWAIERPEESREEESHN
T

Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
# E20255 B £ 20234
3H31H 12H31H
IE+H@EA FE
uss’o000 US$’000
F £ T FET
At 1 January 2024/2023 M2024%4 /20231 A1H 1,180 939
Allowances for ECL recognised to the REZBERNTBEHREEEIE
profit or loss B 1E 521 242
Exchange realignment PE 3 58 & (41) (1)
At 31 March/31 December M3A31H 12A31H 1,660 1,180

Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, net of
ECL allowance, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

RIFFZARAMEREEE 5 EWHIA
(MREHAEEEREER) N RE T
T

As at
»®

31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12H31H
uss’ooo US$'000
FE T FET
1 to 30 days 1£230K 11,054 5,078
31 to 90 days 31290k 1,809 9,326
91 to 120 days 91E120K 196 780
Over 121 days tEiE121K 161 1,093
13,220 16,277

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

20. Trade and bills receivables (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

As at 31 March 2025, certain bills receivable with carrying
amount of approximately US$541,000 (31 December
2023: US$2,517,000) were transferred to a bank by
discounting the bills receivable on a full recourse basis.
Under these arrangements, the Group has not transferred
the significant risks and rewards relating to these bills
receivable. The Group therefore continues to recognise
the transferred assets in their entirety in its consolidated
statement of financial position and measuring them at
amortised cost. The bills receivable and the borrowings on
discounted bills with recourse will be derecognised when
the bank received settlement from the customers. On
derecognition of bills receivables, the difference between
their carrying amounts and the cash received by the bank
is recognised in profit or loss (note 26(e)).

Ageing analysis of the Group’s bills receivables, based
on the bills receipt dates as at each reporting date is as
follows:

20. & 5 FE W 3k 16 K FE W 32 48

(&)
i3

(b)

P (&)

MR2025%63A318 + BREE 4 A541,000
% 7t (2023412 531H : 2,517,000 7T)
WETERZECR 2 HEREREEN
FEWREEMA AR ERTRT - E%F
ZHT AfEEVEESBHEZERKE
BHRBHERNRREREM - Bt - A%
EEETEHEHGAVBERARTERE
BAMEEEE  WIRBHEKNATE - B
W ZE 4% R BT 3B R i 2 R BE IR fE R IR
TREIZFPHEERER TURIEER -
FERIEERERZEE  EREESER
TREMNBES 2HAMNEBERERER
(Kt 55 26(€)) °

RBEFEEUE B EPTER S SRS RS
AEBEKREEOREITAT

As at
®

31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3HA31H 12H31H
uUss’o00o US$’000
FETT FET
1 to 30 days 1£230K 1 196
31 to 90 days 31290k 102 1,804
91 to 120 days 91E120K 7 407
121 to 180 days 1212180k 530 363
640 2,770
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21. Prepayments, deposits and other

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

21. A RRIE - RERHMIEI

receivables I8
As at
»
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3HA31H 12 H31H
Uss$’000 US$’000
FE T FET
Prepayments (note (a)) BT R IB (M it (a) 3,801 3,428
Accrued purchase rebates (note (b)) FE &t E B0 (47 :# (b)) 3,304 2,921
Rental and utilities deposits MeEkAREERR 67 91
Other receivables H b e We sk 18 216 708
7,388 7,148
Notes: Biat -
(@) As at 31 March 2025, the balance included amount (@) MR2025%3A310 ' B BREAKER

(b)

of approximately US$3,256,000 (31 December 2023:
US$3,298,000) related to prepayments to the suppliers for
the procurement of inventories, which would be utilised
as cost of inventories incurred within the next financial
year. The remaining balance of prepayment at the end
of the period were paid for administrative expense such
as staff insurance, rental and management fees, etc. (31
December 2023: same).

The accrued purchase rebates primarily represented the (b)
estimated outstanding amounts for the purchase rebates

under the ship and debit arrangements as disclosed in

note 4. The directors of the Company are of the opinion

that the accrued purchase rebate would be net off the

trade payables of the suppliers when eventually confirmed

the purchase rebate within the next financial year.

& 1 T8 5 FE R ) & B8 £93,256,0003%
7t (2023512 A31H : 3,298,000% 7T) *
BRET—UREEFEXAN - HHARTE
NREBNFGESAR A TEAS (0
BTR%B HAEkEEESE)(20237F12
A318 : @) °

JR& 5T R B [0 41 = 22 45 pt MY SE4 T B R 3
B RAER T I TR RE R0 2 A5t R4
BEHIR - ARBEFRREFREDH
ERNZREERT - HRFENRBELDH
BHIRENEEEESHRE -

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

22. Pledged bank deposits and cash and
cash equivalents

2. EHBBRTERURRAER
REEEY

As at
»

31 March 31 December

2025 2023

20254 20234

3H31H 12 H31H

Uss$’000 US$’000

FE T FET

Pledged bank deposits (note (a)) ERBIRITERM Z @) 379 379

Cash in hand and bank balances RehBREEEY

(note (b)) (H i (b)) 3,682 2,536

Notes: K et -

(a)

(b)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s bank deposits
of approximately US$379,000 (31 December 2023:
US$379,000), carrying interest rate range from 0.38% to
4.78% (31 December 2023: 0.01% to 4.01%) per annum
was pledged to secure the bank borrowings (note 26).

Cash and bank balances represent cash at banks and
on hand. Bank balances carry interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history
of default.

Included in bank balances, there was approximately
US$980,000 (31 December 2023: US$829,000)
denominated in RMB and deposited with banks in the
PRC as at 31 March 2025, RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations in the
PRC, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits and cash and cash equivalents are set out
in note 34.
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(@) M2025%3A31H @ AN&EE#379,0003%
7t (2023412 A318 : 379,000% JT)°
FEFENF0.38% £4.78% (2023512 A
31H : 0.01% £4.01%) IR 1T F K E
AL B R 1T 18 5K (M 3E26) fE &R ©

b) ReRBREEBERTERRFAER
& o RITEBIBB S ERTHERFIEE
SFERFIRE S o 45174 0 7 O T B3
R R R AT MR -

MR20255E3A318 +© R 17 & # & 4
980,000 L (2023%12H31H8 :
829,000 70) A A REFH B W F A H
BlHERIT c AR AT AR LEKEA
B EREFENCNEERIEH)
(HE EERNEEERE) ~5EH
Al ATE S IR FE IR SNE SRR 1THS
ARESBAEHME -

BEERRTEIANRBES MR SEFE
W) e RE R FE B BN M RE34 o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

23. Trade payables 23. B 5 EMRIE
As at
»®
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
2025% 2023%F
3H31H 12 H31H
Uss’ooo US$'000
FETT FETT
(Re-presented)
(4 & 31)
Trade payables g 5N RIE 6,097 7,641
Ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice BEZZAHMERGERRKRES
dates, as at the end of reporting period is shown as JER RIBRIBRE D AT TR 7R -
follow:
As at
S
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12 H31H
Us$’ooo US$'000
FET FET
1to 30 days 12230K 3,021 2,081
31 to 90 days 31290k 960 3,966
91 to 120 days 91£120K 481 1,585
Over 121 days @121k 1,635 9
6,097 7,641

FEEENBEERAR 2055E% 23D



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRFME
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A
24. Accruals, contract liabilities and 24. Bt EH - S EERHEM
other payables FE& {F = 18
As at
iy
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20255 20234
3HA31H 12 H31H
Us$’000 US$’000
FE T FET
Accruals st &R 595 620
Contract liabilities (note (a)) BHBaE N F @) 683 522
Other payables (note (b)) H b &S 5B (7 a2 (b)) 2,040 1,649
3,318 2,791
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

24. Bt ER - SN ABRE M

24. Accruals, contract liabilities and
other payables (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Contract liabilities represents billings in advance of
performance regarding the provision of customised
reference designs which are bundled together with the
sales of ICs products and electronic components as a
package for the new customers. The amount of contract
liabilities is negotiated on a case by case basis with
customers and the movement is set out below:

Movements in contract liabilities is as follows:

FE f+ FR I8 (&)

B it -

(a)

EHNEBEARNFTEFRETR L ER
SF(EICERRETTHHEE R E—
BIMBRNENERR -AHNABESHE
TREERBREREREmE - &
oy

BRABEESHMT :

Fifteen months

ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
& E20254F & = 20234
3H31H 12H31H
IE+AM@EA IEFE
uss$’ooo US$°000
F £ T FZET
At 1 January 2024/2023 20244 /202341 A1H 522 729
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HAER RIS FAA L
recognising revenue during the period that BEMNKRAEREDN
was included in the contract liabilities at BERD
the beginning of the period (522) (729)
Increase of contract liabilities from customers & F & #) & (&1 0 1,969 1,350
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HAERWAEKAE W ERE
recognising revenue during the period > (1,277) (816)
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B 9) (12)
At 31 March/31 December MW3A318 12 A31H 683 522

The balance included an amount due to an executive
director, Mr. Qing of approximately US$Nil (31 December
2023: US$596,000) for settling the trade payables to a
supplier on behalf of Group. The amount is non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

The balance also included an amount due to Mr. Qing'’s
relative of approximately US$730,000 (31 December 2023:
US$1,053,000) for settling the trade payables to a supplier
on behalf of Group. The amount is non-interest bearing
and repayable on demand.

The balance also included an amount of approximately
US$1,293,000 (31 December 2023: US$Nil) payable
to a customer for the rebates received on behalf of the
customer from the suppliers at 31 March 2025.

(b)

ZERRERN—RRTESEEE
#)ZE 3 70 (2023412 A31H : 596,000
TE) O BE + PR AR 7K o A S A
EEE SR - ZKAATHE AR
BRI -

% 45 BR UNEL HE RSB SE AE LB 49 730,000
% 77 (2023412 A31H : 1,053,000 7T)
MRIE ARRAEEEEEMSEER
BH5RE - ZREATHEAAREXR
BiE -

ZAEBIM B EM2025E3A31HE R E
FREHEEEERMENEEREAELD
1,293,000 7T (2023412 A318 : T %
JT) e

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

25. Leases liabilities

The carrying amounts of the Group’s lease liabilities

are as follows:

25.HEEE

AEEHERENREENT

As at
S
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12 H31H
Uss$’ooo US$'000
FET FET
Leases liabilities payable: ERNHEERE:
Within 1 year 1F R 86 180
After 1 year but within 1F & B2F N
2 years 22 —
Present value of lease liabilities MEABRRE 108 180
Analysed into: okl
Current portion B &8 86 180
Non-current portion JEMBNE D 22 —
108 180
Analysed by: DTS
Leasehold properties MEYZE 108 180

The incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities were 6.87% (31 December 2023: 2.86% to

4.90%) per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRERME
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 &; 202543 431 H 1+ 7 i A
25. Leases liabilities (continuea) 25. HEER®»
The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation REZERANEERBESBOT:

to leases are as follows:

Fifteen
months
ended Year ended
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
B E2025%F & £2023F
3A31H 12A31H

IE+AHM@EA HFE
Us$’ooo US$°000
FETT FET
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) T E QG F B (#:£7) 8 16
Depreciation on right-of-use assets {F RE&AEFE
(note 14) (Kt 5 14) 153 436
Expense relating to short-term leases £2 58 Hi f & A BE /Y X
(note 8) (B 7E8) 269 36
Total amounts recognised in RERBERER
profit or loss 430 488
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group B E2025F3A31BLFEE - A& H
entered into an early termination of the lease of RAKIEHERAREREREE - NEEFT
office and warehouse. On the lease modification, MER  AEB SRR IEEREAE
the Group derecognised approximately US$66,000 & E#66,000% 7T (MM 14) RHER
of right-of-use assets (note 14) and approximately fE#)67,0003E T * WHERIZRI4X L
US$67,000 of lease liabilities respectively and #9 U %5 #91,0003 7T (Bt 5E6) °

recognised approximately US$1,000 of gain on
early termination of lease (note 6).

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRFRMEE
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543H31H i + 7 16 A
26. Bank and other borrowings 26. R 1T R H fth & =X
As at
7®
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
2025 20234
3H31H 12 H31H
uss’ooo US$'000
FET FET
(Re-presented)
(4% & 31])
Bank borrowings — secured RITER— BHER
(notes (a) and (b)) (%72 @) % (b)) 9,405 5,923
Other borrowings — secured Hithfg ;R — T
(note (c)) (B at(c)) — 483
Other borrowings — unsecured HihfE ;R — TR
(note (d)) (Htat(d)) 4,255 3,805
Discounted bills with recourse BERBMBEER
— secured (note (e)) — BT (A Z ) 538 2,504
Bank borrowings under supplier #EERE L HE TH
finance arrangements — RITER—BEM
secured (note (f)) (K77 (f) 4,075 7,850
18,273 20,565
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

26. Bank and other borrowings (Continued)

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings are as

26. SRIT R HEMBER @
AEBEMERREROT:

follows:
As at
S
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12A31H
uss’ooo US$'000
FETT TE7T
(Re-presented)
(4 E3)
Variable-rate borrowings FEER 13,811 15,917
Fixed-rate borrowings EEBX 4,462 4,648
18,273 20,565
Notes: Bt -

(@)

As at 31 March 2025, several bank borrowings with
carrying amounts of approximately US$29,000 (31
December 2023: US$27,000 and US$60,000) were
secured by an assignment over the Policies (note 17)
and pledged bank deposits (note 22). Interest rates were
variable and charged in the range from 5.33% to 6.77%
(year ended 31 December 2023: from 4.53% to 7.75%) per
annum during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025.
The borrowings were repayable by monthly installments
and due on April 2026 (31 December 2023: November
2024 and April 2026), respectively, the amounts were
classified as current liabilities due to the borrowings
contain a repayable on demand clause.

As at 31 March 2025, the balance also included a loan
with a principal amount of RMB1,500,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$207,000) (31 December 2023: a loan
with principal amounts of RMB6,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately US$843,000)) which was guaranteed
by Shanghai Administration Center of Policy Financing
Guarantee Funds for Small and Medium-sized Enterprises
and a director of Shanghai IH and his spouse with fixed
interest rate at 2.95% (31 December 2023: 3.15%) per
annum and repayable in September 2025 (31 December
20283: September 2024).

(a) M2025%3A31H @ Bk m 1 %29 ,000
% 7T (2023412 A31H : 27,000% 7T &
60,0003 Jt) M9 & F R 77 8 3 B B & (R
B (M aE17) R BE R 1773 5% (K 222)
E4K 0 - & =2025%F3A318 I+ A @
BAREFEEZE) - N F5.38%%E6.77%
(B 2202312 A31HILFE : 453% =
7.75%) - BB Ao HEE X 5Bl
MN20264 4 A (20234128318 : 2024
FI1AKR2026F48) 58 - ARERE
SEREREENGER  WZEXRES
MARBARE -

MR2025F3A31H » £ BE—F XK
& % A& A R 1,500,000 (# & B 4
207,000% Jt) W B X (20234F12 A31
H: —Z£4X&£58AAR%6000,0007T
(FE M #843,000kT)MER) | L
RN EBREEREERESEEF
DR EGRE—ZEERERBER -
B A =& A& F2.95% (2023412 A31
B :3.15%) * I R 202549 F (2023412
H318 : 2024%98) B & -

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

26. Bank and other borrowings (continued)

Notes. (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

As mentioned in note 20, the Group entered into the
Arrangement with the bank to discount certain trade
receivables with full recourse to the banks. As at 31 March
2025, the corresponding bank borrowings amounted
to approximately US$9,169,000 (31 December 20283:
US$4,993,000), which were secured by an assignment
over the Policies (note 17) and pledged bank deposits
(note 22).

The bank facility provides 1) US$ financing with interest
charged at 2.16% per annum over USD Reference
Rate (31 December 2023: 2.16% per annum over USD
Reference Rate); 2) HK$ financing with interest charged
at 2% per annum over 3-month HIBOR (31 December
2023: 2% per annum over 3-month HIBOR); and 3) RMB
financing with interest charged at 2% per annum over
3-month HIBOR (31 December 2023: 2% per annum over
3-month HIBOR).

As at 31 December 2023, the balance included a loan
from an independent third party with carrying amount
of approximately US$483,000 and guaranteed by a
subsidiary of the Company, carried a variable interest rate
at 2% over 1-month HIBOR and repayable in December
2024 by monthly installment.

As at 31 March 2025, the balance included three (31
December 2023: two) loans from independent third parties
with the principal amounts of approximately US$2,360,000
(81 December 2023: US$2,360,000), US$1,831,000
(81 December 2023: US$1,445,000) and US$64,000
(31 December 2023: US$Nil), respectively which were
unsecured with fixed monthly interest rates at 2.5%
(31 December 2023: 2.5%), 2.5% (31 December 2023:
2.5%) and 1% (31 December 2023: nil), respectively and
repayable on demand.

As at 31 March 2025, all borrowings from discounted
bills with recourse with carrying amount of approximately
US$538,000 (31 December 2023: US$2,504,000) with
variable interest charged in the range from 1.0% to 3.3%
(31 December 2023: from 0.8% to 3.3%) per annum as at
31 March 2025 (note 20).
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26. #R 17 % H i 18 ™K )

Hiat: (%)

(b)

a0t FE20FT # - A KB B AR 1T AT

T ABETEZEWRIEME @ I
HIRITE D E0E R - N2025F3H31

B - 18 FE /9 IR 17 {8 X 4 /£ 9,169,0003E
7t (2023412 A31H : 4,993,000 7T) °

A A15m§u§1% (M 5£17) R B K 7 48
TR (M sE22) fEIEHH -

R 1T B & B fE 1 )%ﬁ’ CE R R
BERETZ2ENEN24 (2023@12

A318 : iﬂ%@%}z%n%%ﬂ%m
216%) 1 2) B LBk & + F F K & Z3(E
ARBBRITRERE 2% (20234F12
B318 : FAREEIEANTHERITR
EFBEM2%)  RHAARE @M E + F F
R EL3MEBNEBIRITRERSIMN2%
(2023F 12 A31H : FF| K & %318 A &Y
BBRITRFERE M2%) ©

MR2023F12A31H ' £#BIE—2F®
fﬁi,%iﬁztssooo%ﬁ%m%ﬁsﬁzm’u

EX YHAQE —HHBRRIER
/ﬁbfwz%ﬂ BAMEBBRITRER
B N2% - W B R2024512 A% A 5 8
B o

MR202553A31E & 4 B & = £
(2023F12A31H : M £) KA & % » Al
#92,360,000% 7T (2023%F12A318 :
2,360,000% 7t) * 1,831,000 7t (2023
12 A31H : 1,445,000 JT) }64,000
%ﬁ(2023¢12ﬂ315 EEIL)REE
j%‘ﬁﬁﬁ%* 2B A EEE - &

& A F X 525% (2023412 A31H
2.5%> + 2.5% (2023512 A31H : 2.5%)
1% (202312 A31H : £) - WIRER
B o

R2025F 38310 ' Al BRABF EER
Er A& BR M {E 4 5 538,0003% 7t (2023
12 A31H : 2,504,0002 7T) @ 12025
F3A31BETE A Z B FFIEN F1.0%
%3.3% (2023412 A31H : 0.8%%3.3%)
(Fff £ 20) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

26. Bank and other borrowings (continued) 26. R 17 X H fib 18 ®K ()

Notes: (continued) HtaE - (&)
(fy  The Group has entered into certain supplier finance () AEEE-—HRTIIETHEDR
arrangements with a bank. Under these arrangements, B BEZZLH  RITHNREER
the banks pay suppliers the amounts owed by the Group HA A () 1t P& 7 S A AN &2 (B BT R Y FRIE o
at the original due dates. The Group's obligations to AEBHHERm BEERAEARTEE
suppliers are legally extinguished on settlement by the RrOERIE - REERRITHEEZIOE
relevant banks. The Group then settles with the banks 1208 2 M ERITEHEE - ZEFFEN
between 90,120 days after settlement by the banks with T6.80%%7.82% ° Z ELHE E KN
variable interest ranging from 6.80%, 7.82% per annum. HHREHAEENREHRZ%E
These arrangements have extended the payment terms
beyond the original dates of respective invoices.
The Group has presented the payables to the bank AEBBEZELHETEMNRITAR
under these arrangements as bank borrowings under BRI RHtEEREZHE THRT
supplier finance arrangements and included in bank and fask - WET ARIT R E M fE K - K2025
other borrowings. At 31 March 2025, bank borrowings F3A31H - RIT1E KA /4,075,000
of approximately US$4,075,000 (31 December 2023: 7t (2023412 A31H : 7,850, OOO%E)
US$7,850,000), were secured by an assignment over the EEL%ﬁﬁ(BTEW)&EE&W%E%TE%(
Policies (note 17) and pledged bank deposits (note 22). (Bt 3E22) fE4R R -
As at 31 March 2025, a bank borrowing of R2025%3H31H ©  #I8,000% T
approximately US$8,000 (31 December 2023: (2023124318 : 35,0003 jT) Ky iR
US$35,000) was not scheduled to be repaid within TERRAETFTER—FANEE  MH
one year but was classified as a current liability as BARBEE TDERNEEERBR
the related loan agreement contain clauses that BERTERANIBHEREEHEEX
provide the lender with an unconditional right to ERHENMOBGR  MEZRITE
demand repayment at any time at its own discretion. KER — ELAJ:EEWEI’J Ho(BEK
None of the portion of the bank borrowing due EREEGRESBINERDERE)
for repayment after one year, which contains a i‘fﬁ\,ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ—iﬁﬂﬁ% °
repayment on demand clause and that is classified
as a current liability, was expected to be settled
within one year.
At end of the financial period/year, bank borrowings REERERE,FER © BITHROE
were scheduled to repay, including those subject to SEFAH(BEXBRRBERERE
a repayable on demand clause, as follows: RIERWERWT
As at
®
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3HA31H 12H31H
Uss ‘000 US$'000
FETT FETT
(Re-presented)
(4EE3)
Within one year —F A 14,010 16,242
More than one year, but not ZR—FETHBME
exceeding two years \ 8 26
More than two years, but not ZRMEETBBRSF
exceeding five years —_ 9
14,018 16,277
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FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

26.

27.

Bank and other borrowings (continued)

During the period, in respect of bank borrowings
with an aggregate carrying amount of
US$13,273,000 as at 31 March 2025 which are
subject to the fulfilment of covenants, certain
covenants have not been fulfilled. The directors of
the Company consider that it is not probable that
the bank will exercise its discretion to demand
immediate repayment.

At end of the financial period/year, other borrowings
were scheduled to repay, including those subject to
a repayable on demand clause as follows:

26. SRIT R H B =)

REAR - 5t R2025F3A31HBRE 42
513,273,000 Tt B BEITRHEN
RITERME ETRERKER
7o ARAIEERAE - RITIH T AI8E
ITHEBIBENERKBEFEERK -

RUBEEFER - HMEHREO
SEFNEH(BRIRNARERE
RIETEF)WT

As at
»®

31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20255 20234
3A31H 12A31H
uss’ooo US$'000
FET FET
Within one year —F AR 4,255 4,288

Shareholder’s loans

The Group entered into certain loan agreements
with a shareholder, Mr. Lam during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025 with loans principal
amounted to approximately of US$474,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB3,415,000),
US$1,184,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB8,532,000) and US$1,956,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB14,100,000) respectively, which
are unsecured, interest free and will be matured on
31 July 2027, 31 August 2027 and 31 March 2028.
The difference between the shareholder’s loans
principal amount of approximately US$3,614,000
and fair value of the shareholder’s loans of
approximately US$2,383,000 were US$1,231,000,
which was credit to the other reserve of the Group
for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025,
representing a deemed contribution from the
shareholder.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amounts
of the shareholder’s loans were approximately
US$2,459,000 with the effective interest rates
ranged from 13.01% to 16.32%.

244 Contel Technology Company Limited Annual Report 2025

27. KRR E

RE E2025F3A31HIE+REA -

AEEEBREMEETZIE TER
W ERAEE DR A 4474000
X Tl E RN D A R 3415000
JC) 1,184,000 T(HHE RN A R
#8 532,0007T) &% 1,956,000 T (48
BN 4 A R#14,100,0007T) © & &
EH - %8 W R2027F78318 -
20278 H31H &202843H31H Z|
B - MR E KA % 43,614,000% 7T
B2 % R B 3 A F1E 42,383,000 7T
2 ZFE 51,231,000 7T © Bt ARE
B & £2025F3A31BIE+RMEAZ
HmEE  BERERENRETE -

R2025F3A31H  MEERZEME
B %) 52,459,000 T BB F XN
F13.01% £16.32% ©
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FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

28. EEBIEEE (BR)

28. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

The movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

during the year are as follows:

R BEHEEE (AR HED
T -

ECL on
trades Tax Development
receivables losses costs Total
ESEKRRIE
BHEEBHE RERE RERE &t
Uss000 Uss000 Uss000 Uss$000
FET FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 202351 H1H 163 517 — 680
Deferred tax credited/ Ef]\/(fﬂ B8 2 K
(charged) to the profit or ERHIAM Z11)
loss (note 11) 46 (517) (626) (1,097)
Exchange realignment B i, 38 & 1) — 3 2
At 31 December 2023 and 72023512 A31A &
1 January 2024 2024%1R1A 208 -~ (623) (415)
Deferred tax credited/ A/ (ERA) B
(charged) to the profit or BERHEN 711)
loss (note 11) (208) - 122 (86)
Exchange realignment B ¥, 38 B — - 6 6
At 31 March 2025 2025438318 — — (495) (495)
At 31 March 2025, the Group’s Hong Kong 2025 3A31H © & & 7B

subsidiaries have aggregated unused tax losses
of approximately HK$111,574,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$14,814,000) (31 December
2023: HK$69,215,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$9,348,000)) available for offsetting against
future assessable profits sourced in Hong
Kong. Such unused tax may be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to unpredictability of future profit
streams. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
a reversal of deferred tax assets of approximately
US$517,000 was recognised in relation to the
unused tax losses due to unpredictability of future
profit streams.

MEBARZF AABHEERED
111,574,0007% 7T (48 & 714,814,000
% 7£)(2023%12 A31H : 69,215,000
7 7T (F8 8 1R 499,348,0003 JT)) Al K
HREEBHRKRERBEF - ZZF
REAMRBAIERBLEE - ARKRK
AE RN TERIME - ERRELT
RIBEE - HiE2023F12A31HIEF
§ - BRARKRFE RS TE8 M -
MADABEEERRECHIEE
E [0 47517,0003 7T °

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

28. EEHIEEE (BB

28. Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

(continued)

Also, at the end of the reporting period, the
Group had unused tax losses of approximately
RMB53,894,000) (equivalent to approximately
US$7,423,000) (31 December 2023:
RMB27,308,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$3,761,000)) incurred by subsidiaries in the
PRC, which can be carried forward for 5 years
from the year in which the losses were incurred
and available for offset against future profits of the
PRC subsidiaries, subject to approval from the local
tax authorities. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised due to unpredictability of future profit
streams.

Pursuant to the PRC CIT Law, 10% withholding tax
is imposed on dividends declared in respect of
profits earned from 1 January 2008 wards on to
non-PRC tax resident investors for the companies
established in the PRC. For qualified investors
incorporated in Hong Kong, a treaty rate of 5% will
be applicable.

As at 31 March 2025, temporary withholding tax
differences relating to the undistributed profits of
the PRC subsidiaries amounted to approximately
US$Nil (31 December 2023: US$1,173,000).
Deferred tax liabilities amounted to approximately
US$Nil (31 December 2023: US$59,000) have not
been recognised in respect of the tax that would
be payable on the distribution of these retained
earnings as the Company is in a position to control
the dividend policy of the PRC subsidiaries and
it has been determined that it is probable that
undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries will not
be distributed in the foreseeable future.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025, a
write-down of deferred tax assets of approximately
US$208,000 was recognised in relation to the ECL
on trades receivables due to unpredictability of
future profit streams.
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AN RREBE R AEB A X
AN IEE B LA R53,894,0007T
(HE N 47,423,000% 7T ) (2023412
A31H : A R#27,308,0007T (}& ®
3,761,000%7T)) * % IBEBEHR—H
PEMBARIELS WA RBHEHES
FERASFANLEE  UHEEEPH
MEBARZRKKFE  EEARGHS
RGBT - BRRKRFERHT
AEAMY MY EERELERESL
E_ o

RIEFBEEEMEHE - 5102008
F1A1E R 2 & BRERA ) 71 17 7 1 B
R RRZFFEREERREE
TR BB EI0% BN FART < Bt
REBEMKINEEBRREEM
5 BEBEMS%MHEMREK

R2025%F3A31H B+ BH W B
NAIE A 2K @ A R TR =
AT X T(2023F12A31H :
1,173,0003 7T) © AR AN Al BS 12 5%
ZHENBRARMNBRERREREE
EHRBRKM B AR ZNAI DK @FMEE
ARETERAERRRKADIK @ Htt
ERPERZERBEEMNMAZNHH
TEHER A Z 30 (2023F12A31H -
59,000 L) MELEHRIBEE o

R & £2025%3A31H I + &7 @ A
A BAEERRRKFBERMERE
5 W I /) 78 B 15 & &5 18 7 R
§H 15 & 7 18 & E= £9208,000E T ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

29. Share capital 29. g &
Number of
ordinary Share
shares capital
EiERHE S
uss’o0o
FET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 5 §%0.01# T 89 & & I}
Authorised: JETE -
At 1 January 2023, 1#2023%1818 -
31 December 2023, 2023%12A318
1 January 2024 and 2024%F1A1B R
31 March 2025 2025%3A31H 2,000,000,000 2,579
Issued and fully paid: EZFTREHE -
At 1 January 2023, 22023%1A18
31 December 2023 and 2023%12A318 -
1 January 2024 and 202451A1B R
31 March 2025 2025%3A31H 1,098,122,380 1,417
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FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

30. Reserves

Details of the movements on the Group’s reserve
are as set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

(i) Share premium

Share premium includes the premium arising
from issue of shares of the Company at a
premium. Under the Companies Law (revised)
Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium of the Company is available
for paying distributions or dividends to
shareholders subject to the provisions of
its Memorandum or Article of Associations
and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividends, the Company is able
to pay its debts as they fall due in ordinary
course of business.

(ii) Financial assets at FVTOCI reserve

The financial assets at FVTOCI reserve
comprises the cumulative net change in the fair
value of financial assets at FVTOCI held at the
end of the reporting period and is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policy in note
3 to the consolidated financial statements.

(iii) Other reserve

Other reserve includes (i) capital injection
from shareholders, Mr. Qing and Mr. Lam and
the family member of Mr. Qing, before listing
and the amount of bargain purchase arising
from acquisition of Shanghai IH and Chengdu
Flyring and; (ii) the deemed contribution from
the shareholder, Mr. Lam, with respect of the
shareholder’s loans during the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2025, details are set out in
note 27.
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30. it &

RE

()

(ii)

(iii)

EHERDREDRNGAE
B -

B 1 its {8

B aERIEREREERITART
BHELEHNRE - RIEFSHS
NalE (BIBET) F22E + ARF]
P19 s BRI E A D IR IR B X
FTRE HAFAREAHKHER KX
MMAAETE  BEEEDIRRE
% ARFIAEEAEERDPE
HIRERS -

BRARBESAREMBZEY
mzEMEERME

BAnBEAAREMEE K Z
CREEMBERENREHE
RFEENEAREBEFARE LR
mlRm s EMEENREE
RETEHFE - WIREHFEAWTE
R EIAN ZEFTBRERE -

H b fi# 18

H b {7 B2 45 (i) 1= 7 AT AR SR B 55
A R R B RB K
B & RWHE EEEE R KE
REFMEENZERBESRE K
(i =2025% 38318 I+ A &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

30. f# &)

30. Reserves (continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Merger reserve

Merger reserve represents the difference
between the investment costs in subsidiaries
and the aggregate amount of issued share
capital of subsidiaries acquired in the group
reorganisation.

Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the
PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries registered
in the PRC are required to appropriate 10%
of the annual statutory profit after tax (after
offsetting any prior years’ losses) determined
in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the PRC to the
statutory surplus reserve until the balance of
the reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity
registered capital. The statutory surplus
reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’
losses or to increase capital, provided the
remaining balance of the statutory surplus
reserve is not less than 25% of registered
capital.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the
translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in
accordance with the accounting policies set
out in note 3.

(iv) &R

v)

EOHfREEREMNBRARMNRENX
AESESHKRENNE AR
ERTERARNZENEHE -

ZEBRBAESR
RIBHPBECRFNE)  ARERH
BTN ERR A FEEE
BERMNE(ERETABAEFE
BR)#10% (REFEBERER
HRET)BREZEIT BB LR
T EERBESEHKRERE
BAMRARS0% ° JEEREBRA
BerA AR EEEEFEREEX
BB - HERE BB ATEEH
N N W N R 1 N
25% °

(vi) A &

BRERBEERDHBREBIE
B ERREENELEZHE -
& IE R IR I RESFT B ) & 5T K
KRR -

BEEEMEZERAR 20254 F &
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GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

31. Particulars of subsidiaries of the 31. XA B ASI TS

Company
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of RREBR  ARFHMHB AR
the reporting period are as follows: BT :
Place of Particulars of issued Percentage of ownership interest
incorporation and and fully paid-up held by the share capital/l ~ Principal activities and
Company name form of legal entity registered capital Company as at place of operation
dRAIRER EETREARER RUTEHRE /%48
ARER ERREEY B4 RERFEELDEN  EEREDRERNY
313.205  3112.2023
2025538318 20235 12A31R
Directly held
E&RE
Contel (BVI) Limited The BVI, limited liabiliies 10 ordinary shares of 100% 100%  Investment holding
company Us$10
Contel (BVI) Limited REEEREE ARAT OREKIOXTHERRK REAR
IH Technology (BVI) Limited The BVI, limited liabilities 10 ordinary shares of US§10 100% N/A fnofe) - Investment holding
company
IH Technalogy (BVI) Limited REABRES BRAF 10RBRI0OETHERR NERWE)  REER
Contel Tech (BVI) Limited The BV, limited liabiliies 10 ordinary shares of US$10 100% N/A Investment holding
company
Contel Tech (BVI) Limited FREBRES ARDA ORSROETHLER TER  RERR
Contel Technology Limited The BV, limited liabiliies 10 ordinary shares of US$10 100% N/A~ Investment holding
company
Contel Technology Limited ABEAREE BROF WRERI0ETHERRK TER  RERRK
IH Technology Company Limited Anguilla, limited liabilities 10 ordinary shares of US§10 100% N/A Inactive
company
IH Technology Company Limited ZE - BRAT 0RERI0ELHEER TER TR
Indirectly held
R&RE
Flyring Electronics Limited Hong Kong, limited 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
liabilities company components in Hong Kong and the PRC
REETERAT &k BRAT 1RERER REERPEHEEICERREF Ll
IH Technology Limited Hong Kong, limited 11 ordinary shares 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
liabilities company components in Hong Kong and the PRC
AEMRERAT % ARAR NRERR REBRTERECERRET Ll
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

31. Particulars of subsidiaries of the 31. XA ASIMEBATIMER @
Company (continued)

Place of Particulars of issued Percentage of ownership interest
incorporation and and fully paid-up held by the share capital/  Principal activities and
Company name form of legal entity registered capital Company as at place of operation
dREIRHR EEfREMRER RUTEHRE/ 448
EER EREREY RN REARREAENN  ERBEDRERNY

313205 31122023
2025F3R318 20235127318

Shenzhen IH The PRC, limited liabiliies ~ Registered capital of 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
company RMB2,000,000 components in the PRC
RAIE P8 FRAT ARE2,000,0007 KM &2 RPEHECERRET LA
Shanghai 1H The PRC, wholly foreign-  Registered capital of 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
owned limited liabilities RMB2,000,000 components in the PRC
company
R:EY nE - AEEEARAA  ARK20000007 MM AR ReBEEICERRET T
Chengdu Flyring The PR, limited liabilties ~ Registered capital of 100% 100%  Sales of ICs products and electronic
company RMB6,000,000 components in the PRC
RBRE PE - ARAT AR%6,000,0007 3t &K ROEHECERRET LA
Contel Technology (H.K.) Company Limited ~ Hong Kong, limited 1 ordinary share 100% 100%  Investment holding
liabilities company
RRENRBR)ARLD & BRAR REER REER
H Technology (BVI) Limited The BVI, limited liabilities 10 ordinary shares of US§10 NIA (nofe) 100%  Investment holding
company TERKH)
IH Technology (BVI) Limited ERARRES ARAF WRER0ETHEBR RARER
Contel Technology Pte. Ltd. The Republic of Singapore, 10 ordinary shares of Singapore 100% 100%  Inactive
limited liabiltties dollars 10
company
Contel Technology Pte. Lid. EMRENE ARAT  0RSRIOFMATHEER NEE
Contel Tech Company Limited Hong Kong, limited 10,000 ordinary shares 100% NA Inactive
liahlties company AER
Contel Tech Company Limited &k ARAR 10,000 E & R NER
Note: Bt it -
IH Technology (BVI) Limited become directly held (31 December IH Technology (BVI) Limited A2025% 3 A31
2023: Indirectly held) by the Company as at 31 March 2025. BRARE EE#EE(2023412A318 : @ #
A
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt #H £ 20254 3H31H & 2023412 A 31
securities as at 31 March 2025 and 31 December H BMENBARIZRTENGEBE
2023. % °
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

32. Related party transactions

(a)

(b)

(c)

No other related party transactions were
occurred during the period except as
mentioned below (year ended 31 December
2023: Nil).

Save for disclosed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group
had the following balances with related parties
during the period/year:

R2.HABAXS

(a)

(b)

BT Arati &SN - BRI EE £
HEM R AR5 (H 22023412
A31BILEFE #&)-

BRI AN 7 & B 7 3R E Al BB 0 P
BEEIN  AEERHFARZ
BARE T A ERIA T

As at
?
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20255 20234
3A31H 12A31H
Us$’000 US$'000
FE T FET
Amounts due from related JE i B8 Bk R /) 3R IR
companies (notes (i) and (ii)) (BT &2 (1) % (ii)) 26 26

Notes:

(i) P. Grand and Kingtech (BVI) Limited are the related
companies controlled by Mr. Lam and Mr. Qing,
respectively. The maximum amount outstanding
during the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025
was approximately US$26,000 (year ended 31
December 2023: US$26,000).

(i)  The amounts due were unsecured, non-interest
bearing and repayable on demand.

Compensation of key management
personnel

The details of the remuneration paid to the
key management personnel during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2025 and year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in note 9.
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Wit -

(i)  P. Grand EKingtech (BVI) Limited
2 Bl A R A Ko 0D O A I R
Bt N A o & £2025%3831H 1t
+HEA ARG ERBHNA
26,0003 7T (& Z=2023412 A31
B4 fE : 26,0005 T) °

(i) WHREBmER - THaRA
RERMEE -

FEEE A S8 H M

#H Z20253A31HIE+RHE A
REE2023F 12 A31BAILFEX
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FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

33. Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

33. 2 TESE
REREHEK  SELBIANE

financial instruments as at the end of each reporting HEM:
period are as follows:
As at
®
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
2025 2023%F
3H31H 12 H31H
uss’ooo US$'000
FET FET
(Re-presented)
(4% & 31])
Financial assets EHMEE
At FVTOCI: BRAAEBEFAREMEE
W &5 3,723 4,255
At amortised cost: 12 8 BH BN ¢
Trade and bills receivables BN FIE Kk EREIE 13,860 19,047
Deposits and other receivables e R HAMEWKIE 283 799
Amounts due from related parties & Uz B8 B 75 X IA 26 26
Pledged bank deposits ERFRITER 379 379
Cash and cash equivalents RekBAaFEEY 3,682 2,536
18,230 22,787
21,953 27,042
Financial liabilities SHER
At amortised cost: 12 B KA
Trade payables B 5 RN RIE 6,097 7,641
Accruals and other payables FEET & A Kk H A B KIE 2,635 2,269
Bank and other borrowings MITRAME R 18,273 20,565
Shareholder’s loans R E R 2,459 —
29,464 30,475
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For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

3&2&@%%&&&%%@%
==}

34. Financial risk management and fair
value measurement

The Group’s principal financial instruments
comprise financial assets at FVTOCI, trade and
bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amounts due from related parties, pledged bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, accruals and other payables, bank
and other borrowings and shareholder’s loans.
These financial instruments mainly arise from its
operations. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments at amortised cost approximated to their
fair values as at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value estimates are made at a specific point in
time and are based on relevant market information
about the financial instruments.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. As the Group’s
exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum, the
Group has not used any derivatives and other
instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does
not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for
trading purposes. The board of the directors of the
Company reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

Interest-bearing financial assets/liabilities issued at
variable rates expose the Group to interest rate risk.
Interest-bearing financial assets/liabilities issued at
fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk. The Group’s income and operating cash
flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk mainly
arises from bank and other borrowings which bear
floating interest rate. The Group has not used any
derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. However, the management of the Company
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider
other necessary actions when significant interest
rate exposure is anticipated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Interest rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for variable-
rate bank borrowings at the end of each reporting
period. The analysis is prepared assuming these
borrowings outstanding at the end of reporting
period were outstanding for whole year. A 100
basis points increase or decrease in HIBOR and
Prime rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest for the year.
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I+ A E A IEFE
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BRBERBE KRNEEIE
(), gD CGgm), md
100 basis point increase 3 AN1001E = 2 (115) (133)
100 basis point decrease B A 10018 2 25 115 133
Foreign currency risk o B 2 B
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value NERBREemIANR REEK
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will AERREREARIINEEXRESHM

fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk
related primarily to sales and borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of the operations to which they relate. The
currency giving rise to this risk is primarily RMB
and HK$. The Group does not hold or issue any
derivative financial instruments for trading purposes
or to hedge against fluctuations in foreign exchange
rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency
risk arising from recognised monetary assets or
liabilities denominated in RMB, a foreign currency
compared to the functional currency of the entity to
which they relate.
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As at
S

31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12H31H
Uss$’ooo US$'000
FET FET
Trade and bills receivables B SR ERIE K e EE 1,661 10,234
Deposits and other receivables e kHAMEKRKIE 52 127
Cash and cash equivalents ReELREEFED 980 829
Trade payables B 5 e~ I8 (210) (854)
Accruals and other payables JEEtE AR H A BT 5IB (451) (1,886)
Bank and other borrowings MITREAMBER (745) (3,346)
1,287 5,104

At 31 March 2025, if the US$ had weakened/
strengthened 5% (31 December 2023: 5%) against
the RMB with all other variables held constant, the
Group’s loss after income tax for the year would
have been approximately US$49,000 (year ended
31 December 2023: US$191,000) lower/higher
respectively.

In the opinion of the directors, the rate of exchange
of the HK$ to the US$ is reasonably stable under
the linked exchange rate system and, accordingly,
the Group does not have any significant foreign
exchange risk arising from HK$. As a result, no
sensitivity analysis is performed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment
Risk management

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not
meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The
Group is exposed to credit risk from its operating
activities (primarily for trade and bills receivables).
The Group performs ongoing credit evaluation of
the debtors’ financial condition and maintains an
account for allowance for ECL of trade and bills
receivables based upon the expected collectability
of all trade and bills receivables.

At 31 March 2025, the Group has a certain level of
concentration of credit risk as 25.0% (31 December
2023: 22%) of the gross trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customers.

The bank balances were deposited with
creditworthy banks. Bank balances of the Group
are with counter parties with sound credit ratings to
minimise credit exposures.

The Group does not provide any financial guarantee
at the end of the reporting period which would
expose the Group to credit risk.

Impairment of financial assets

The following types of financial assets are subject to
the ECL model:

— trade and bills receivables;

— deposits and other receivables; and

— amount due from related parties.

While pledged bank deposits, and cash and cash
equivalents are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified impairment
loss was immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

4. MBEBEERAREBER

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade and bills receivables

The credit risk on bills receivables is limited
because the bills are guaranteed by banks for
payments and the banks are either the state-owned
banks or major banks located in the PRC with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

The Group applies HKFRS 9 and measures ECL
based on a lifetime expected loss allowance for all
trade receivables.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables have been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL
for trade receivables. The estimated ECL loss
rates are estimated based on the Group’s historical
settlement experience of various groups of debtors
that have similar loss patterns and are adjusted by
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.
The Group has identified gross domestic product,
unemployment rate, loss-making enterprises in the
electronic product industry and producers price
index of manufactured products in Hong Kong
and the PRC to be the most relevant factors, and
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based
on expected changes in these factors.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

34. Financial risk management and fair 34.
value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Trade and bills receivables (continued)

The Group uses debtors ageing to assess the
impairment for its trade receivables because
trade receivables consist of balances due from a
large number of customers which share common
risk characteristics that are representative of
the customers’ ability to pay all amounts due
in accordance with the contractual terms. The
grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors
is updated. On that basis, the loss allowance as
at reporting periods was determined as follows for
trade receivables:

MBRREERALEER
B

15 & B b %% i 1B 5F fl (@)

BEEEEE)
ESENZ AR EKZELZE)

AEBEFHAEEARKREEZEZER
REETREFTHE BAEZER
HEDHERAEEEHAFRRF
BHEP(REZEREFPBEALIE
R BRI R IER N ML %A
e EREerHENZOAE  UE
REFEEETRUARENHEEAE
B e ML ERB F RIESHENES
FEWRBEBEREBETHOT

Gross Net
carrying carrying
ECL rates amount ECL amount
EHEE EHEE
BEE HRELE BE REFE
Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo
FET FET FET
Ageing based on the past due date E R & 50 82 Rk
As at 31 March 2025 120255 3R 318
Not past due K8 0.08% 12,123 (10) 12,113
110 30 days past due BENEI0R 0.11% 939 (1) 938
31 to 90 days past due R R ES P 13.91% 115 (16) 99
91 to 120 days past due AHINEI20K 6.12% 49 (3) 46
Over 121 days past due AMERI2IR 98.55% 1,654 (1,630) 24
14,880 (1,660) 13,220
As at 31 December 2023 2023612 A31H
Not past due A H 0.04% 14,553 (6) 14547
1 to 30 days past due BBIEIOK 0.20% 498 (1) 497
31 to 90 days past due aRERIEX PN N/A
TEH 584 — 584
91 to 120 days past due #H91E120K 5.65% 620 (35) 585
Over 121 days past due aBMERI2IR 94.68% 1,202 (1,138) 64
17,457 (1,180) 16,277
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GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

4. MBEBEERAREBER

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost,
including amounts due from related parties and
deposits and other receivables, are assessed on
12m ECL basis as there had been no significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

In order to minimise the credit risk on deposits
and other receivables, the management of the
Group closely monitor the follow-up action taken
to recover any receivable balances outstanding
over 180 days. In addition, the Group monitors
expected settlement of each of the receivables to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made
for irrecoverable amounts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
in accordance with HKFRS 9 on other balances
individually. In this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk on
the deposits and other receivables is immaterial.

The management of the Company performed
impairment assessment on amounts due from
related parties based on the sufficiency of
accessible highly liquid assets, or the expected
manner of recovery in the next 12 months. In
addition, equity interest of the director in the
Company is also considered. The ECL will be the
effect of discounting the expected repayments at
the loans effective interest rate over the period until
cash is realised.

On that basis, as at 31 March 2025 and 31
December 2023, the ECL of the amounts due from
related parties were immaterial.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

34. Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will
encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet
commitments associated with financial instruments.

Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a
financial asset quickly at close to its fair value.

The maturity profile of the Group’s non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the contractual
undiscounted payments and the earliest dates the
creditors can demand repayment, is as follows:

M. HHEBEERARBES

= (5)
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RBESCRRIECEEEELS
HRESBMITAABAMAEREE
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Weighted
average Over Over 2 Total
interest  On demand 1 year years contractual
rateper ~ orwithin  butwithin  butwithin  undiscounted Carrying
annum 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
MmEEY REX Bi#1E Bl EITHRER
EHE iR BR2ER ERSER  RERELE REfE
Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2025 1#2023%12A318
Trade payables BIEMNNE NATER 6,007 - - 6,097 6,097
Accruals and other payaples B EAR
Htf R 508 NAT &R 2,635 - - 2,635 2,635
Bank and other borrowings RITREBER 12.21% 18,392 - - 18,392 18,273
Shareholder's loans RRER 14.68% - - 3,614 3,614 2,459
Lease liahilities HEARE 6.87% 90 23 - 113 108
21214 23 3,614 30,851 29,572
At 31 December 2023 2023512318
(Re-presented) (BE7)
Trade payables EAENA NATE R 7,641 — — 7,641 7,641
Accruals and other payables ~ EEERAR
HEtERTE NIAT &R 2,269 - - 2,269 2,269
Bank and other borrowings RTR AR 10.55% 20,779 - - 20,779 20,565
Lease liabilities HERR 6.87% 185 - - 185 180
30,874 - - 30,874 30,655
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued)

Certain portion of the Group’s bank borrowings
entered into supplier finance arrangements with
certain a bank and this results in the Group
having obligations of settlement concentrated with
certain banks rather than individual suppliers.
The directors of the Company do not consider the

4. MBEBEERAREBER
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WITTTHERNRERY  ERAE
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B TeEHALEENTHES
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supplier finance arrangements result in excessive
concentrations of liquidity risk of the Group.
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The table below summarises the maturity analysis
of bank and other borrowings with a repayment on
cross default clause based on agreed scheduled
repayments set out in the loan agreements. The
amounts include interest payments computed
using contractual rates. As a result, these amounts
were greater than the amounts disclosed in the
on-demand time band in the maturity analysis
contained in the above table.

RRAREZRRRITTIAAIREITEE
BB BRAEHER - ARRES
15 - HERTEFBRIEEXHE
e tE @ XEHTUER -

The directors of the Company do not consider that it
is probable that the bank will exercise its discretion
to demand immediate repayment. The directors of
the Company believe that such bank borrowings
will be repaid in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements.

Total
Over1year Over2years  contractual
Within but within but within  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
2lE gl ETHRER
£ BR2ER BRSER HERE4E REE
Uss000 Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo Ussooo
FEr FEr FEr FEr FEr

#2025%3R31H
BARERER 18,383 9 - 18,392 18,273

At 31 March 2025
Bank and other borrowings

At 31 December 2023 (Re-presented)  #2023%12R31H
(=5
RITREMER

Bank and other borrowings 20,743 21 9 20,779 20,565
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Going concern

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately
US$12,134,000 for the fifteen months ended 31
March 2025. Though the Group’s current assets
exceeded its current liabilities by approximately
US$4,223,000, the Group’s current assets consisted
of trade and bills receivables and cash and cash
equivalents of approximately US$13,860,000 and
US$3,682,000, respectively whilst the Group’s total
bank and other borrowings under current liabilities
amounted to approximately US$18,273,000 in
aggregate which included discounted bills with
recourse of approximately US$538,000 that the
customers will settle to the bank directly. These
conditions indicate the existence of uncertainties
which may cast doubt about the ability of the Group
to continue as going concern.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of
the Company have given careful consideration of
the future liquidity and operating performance of
the Group and its available source of financing in
assessing whether the Group will have sufficient
financial resources to continue as a going concern.
The directors of the Company have reviewed the
cash flow projection of the Group prepared by
the management covering a period of not less
than twelve months from the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements taking into
account the below consideration:

(i) The directors of the Company believe that the
existing bank facilities will be further renewed
when their current terms expire given the good
track records and relationship the Group has
with the banks;

(i) The Group will keep closely monitoring the
collection status of existing trade receivables
taking into consideration contractual terms with
customers;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Going concern (continued)

(iiiy The Group remains committed to implementing
stringent expense controls as a continuous
effort to manage costs effectively and optimise
operational efficiency. By closely monitoring
and scrutinising expenses, the Group aims to
identify areas for potential savings and ensure
that resources are allocated judiciously; and

(iv) The Group has obtained the continuing
financial support from the immediate and
ultimate holding company, P. Grand and
believe that P. Grand is ready, willing and able
to offer such other assistance (financial or
otherwise) to enhance the Group its financial
flexibility and capability as and when the
circumstance arises.

The directors of the Company, after due
consideration of the basis of management’s plans
and measures as well as the reasonably possible
downside changes to the cash flow projections, are
confident that the Group will have sufficient working
capital to fulfil its financial obligations as and when
they fall due in the coming twelve months from the
date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements.

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders, to support
the Group’s stability and growth; to earn a margin
commensurate with the level of business and market
risks in the Group’s operation and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of
equity attributable to the owners of the Company,
comprising share capital and reserves.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)
Capital management (continued)

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group actively monitors, reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholder returns that might be
possible with certain levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the
capital structure in light of changes in economic
conditions.

No material changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during
the period/year.
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4. MBEBEERAREBER

34. Financial risk management and fair

value measurement (continued)

Fair values of financial instruments
(continued)

Financial assets at FVTOCI — unlisted equity
investments

The fair value of the Group’s investment in unlisted
equity securities held as at 31 March 2025
has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by International Valuation Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuers (31
December 2023: same).

As at 31 March 2025, the financial assets at
FVTOCI is measured at fair value and is classified
as a Level 3 fair value measurement using income
approach based on the financial performance of
the investment. The discounted cash flow method
was used to capture the present value of the
expected future economic benefits to be derived
from the ownership of this investee, based on an
appropriate discount rate and terminal growth rate
(31 December 2023: Same).

Discount rate, taking into account weighted
average cost of capital determined using a Capital
Asset Pricing Model, of 15.00% (31 December
2023:14.00%) was adopted.

Should the discount rate increase or decrease
by 5% (31 December 2023: 5%), the fair value of
the financial assets at FVTOCI would decrease
or increase by approximately US$284,000 or
US$322,000 (81 December 2023: US$281,000 or
US$317,000) respectively.

Terminal growth rate of 2.50% (31 December 2023:
2.50%) was adopted.
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35.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

Financial risk management and fair
value measurement (continued)

Fair values of financial instruments
(continued)

Financial assets at FVTOCI — unlisted equity
investments (continued)

Should the terminal growth rate increase or
decrease by 2.50% (31 December 2023: 2.50%),
the fair value of the financial assets at FVTOCI
would increase or decrease by approximately
US$17,000 or US$17,000 (31 December 2023:
US$22,000 or US$22,000) respectively.

During the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025,
there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities. The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value
hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in
which they occur (31 December 2023: Nil).

Cash flows information
(@) Major non-cash transactions

The Group had non-cash additions to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
US$169,000 (Year ended 31 December 2023:
US$140,000) and US$169,000 (year ended
31 December 2023: US$140,000) respectively
during the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025 in respect of lease arrangements for the
properties (notes 14 and 25).

During the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025, the Group discounted bills to a bank
with recourse amounting to approximately
US$4,421,000 (Year ended 31 December
2023: US$8,587,000). The relevant cash inflows
from the bank have been presented under
financing activities.

Settlements of the relevant discounted bills by
the customers to the bank directly amounting to
approximately US$6,354,000 (Year ended 31
December 2023: US$9,727,000) represented
non-cash transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBHRFRME
For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z202543H31H i + 7 16 A
35. Cash flows information (continued) B.HEREEH »
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) MEEEFFELANERE S

financing activities
TR ANEERE LB AEL
BENEH(ERERENFER

HEFEB MEIDAELSR
BERERESRECNAREKR

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including
both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are liabilities

for which cash flows were, or future cash flows ERERRAEELEE iﬁibm%
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated XPDERBEZBFAEFEHRESM
statement of cash flows as cash flows from ENBE:
financing activities:
Lease  Bank and other
liabilities borrowings
HEBERE HOREMER
(note 25) (note 26)
(i 7#25) (Ht3t26)
US$000 US$000
FET FETT
(Re-presented)
(4EE )
At 1 January 2023 R2023F1 718 489 22,167
Changes from financing cash flows: HERSRERE:
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITIEHABRE — 42,062
Proceeds from other borrowings H 8 5T ?% oA — 2,257
Repayments of bank borrowings 15 BRTEN — (71,186)
Repayments of other borrowings BEEMER — (318)
Interests paid ERFE — (2,268)
Repayments of lease liabilities — principal BER ff\’% E— 4% (442) —
Repayments of lease liabilities — interest EEHEAGE—FE (16) —
Total changes from financing cash flows RERERELHLET (458) (29,453)
Other changes: Hip28:
Addition of new lease RENHE 140 —
Bank borrowings under supplier finance BRESENFIEN
arrangements transfer from trade payables HEPRELHEET
(note 35(c)) RITER AT #35()) — 35,415
Interest expenses ﬂ 5 FﬁEHZ 16 2,268
Settlements of discounted bills with recourse RUREBRLEE
(note 35(a)) ( /7/7’ i£35(a) — (9,727)
Exchange realignment B % 38 B 7) (105)
Total other changes Hih & el 149 27,851
At 31 December 2023 1220235128318 180 20,565
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /31 H i + 7 1 5

35. Cash flows information (continued) 35. EE ﬁ ﬁ, E_ ﬁ *il- (&)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from (b) IEFHRELENEREE S
financing activities (continued) (%)
Lease Bank and other  Shareholder’s
liabilities borrowings loans
HEERE SRITREMER BEER
(note 25) (note 26) (note 27)
(Hfat25) (Hf2#26) (Hfat27)
Ussooo Us$000 Us$000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2024 ?20245%1H1H 180 20,565 -
Changes from financing cash RZERE&HELH:
flows:
Proceeds from shareholder’s BREERMEHE
loans - - 3,614
Proceeds from bank borrowings 3R 17 f& 7 BT 15 %8 — 73,016 —
Proceeds from other borrowings £ {& X F7 5 508 — 1,733 —
Repayments of bank borrowings & i& $R 17§ 3% - (101,317) -
Repayments of other borrowings & i H b & - (1,760) -
Interests paid EATFI B — (3,449) —
Repayments of lease liabilites EEREEE — K&
— principal (172) — —
Repayments of lease liabilites EEBEEEE — 78
— interest (8) — -
Total changes from financing ~ BEREREZ LR
cash flows (180) (31,777) 3,614
Other changes: Hibes:
Addition of new lease ANETHE 169 — —
Bank borrowings under supplier B8 5 &t 7 EH
finance arrangements transfer  HEEBEZHE T
from trade payables RITIE R (AT i235(c)
(note 35(c)) - 32,440 -
Deemed contribution fromthe ~ REREBHRIETE
shareholder — — (1,231)
Early termination of lease RATK RS (67) — —
Interest expenses ﬂ BERX 8 3,449 96
Settlements of discounted bills BRURZEEE
with recourse (note 35(a)) ( K1 :#35(a)) — (6,354) —
Exchange realignment B 5 38 & (2) (50) (20)
Total other changes Hih & ae 108 29,485 (1,155)
At 31 March 2025 12025%3A31H 108 18,273 2,459
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
GEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & 2202543431 H i1 + 7 18 A

35. Cash flows information (continued)

(c)

Information of supplier finance
arrangements

35. He R BE R
(c) ft B 7 Bl iR 2 A

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, RiZEHRESMER  RWITZN
payments to the bank are included within B 5K 18 %Eﬁﬁ M E ST AR
financing cash flows based on the nature of the BEREMENA °
arrangements.
As at
S
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12318
Uss’ooo US$°000
FETT FETT
(Re-presented)
(4 E %)
Carrying amount of the financial ZRX{HEFME
liabilities that are subject to ZHHNEHEE
supplier finance arrangements BRmEE
Presented as part of “Bank and 25 BIRIT R HAt
other borrowings” Bl —En 4,075 7,850
— of which suppliers have — HEhHtEnR
already received payment from B B iR 77U ER
the bank (NN 4,075 7,850
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20254 20234
3A31H 12318
Days Days
X & X &
Range of payment due dates 1 % 5 2 B & =
For liabilities presented as part of 25 BIRT R EMEK
bank and other borrowings —HMoWBE
— liabilities that are part of — RHEERE T
supplier finance arrangements —HMoHER 90-120 90-120
— comparable trade payables — WIHHEERE
that are not part of supplier ZH—E D A A L
finance arrangements 2 5 N IE 0 0

Changes in liabilities that are subject to supplier
finance arrangements are primarily attributable
to additions resulting from purchases of goods
and services and subsequent cash settlements.
During the fifteen months ended 31 March
2025, borrowings under supplier finance
arrangements of US$32,440,000 (year ended 31
December 2023: US$35,415,000) represent the
payments to the suppliers by the relevant banks
directly.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBRRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 & Z202543 /431 H it + 7 18 A

36. Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

(a) Statement of financial position at the

36. g’&ﬂﬂﬁ%ﬂkﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁ%

(a) FATMHFBKIAR

Company
As at
7
31 March 31 December
2025 2023
20255 20234
3A31H 12 A31H
Notes Uss’000 uS$'000
oh=3 FETT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
Non-current asset ERBEE
Investments in a subsidiary NN E § —* —*
Current assets REEE
Prepayments KNG 17 23
Amounts due from subsidiaries  JE Yt [ B A &) 71 I8 14 84
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBSEFED 3 72
34 179
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals EsTE A 81 12
Amounts due to subsidiaries J& 1~ B B 2 B 3R 0B 4,279 3,515
Other borrowing H & 5K 26(c) — 483
4,360 4,010
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (4,326) (3,831)
Net liabilities Effi%E (4,326) (3,831)
EQUITY i
Share capital AR 29 1,417 1,417
Reserves & (b) (5,743) (5,248)
Capital deficiency XG4 (4,326) (3,831)

*  ltem with value below US$1,000

The statement of financial position of the
Company were approved and authorised for

* BERKM1,000%THIER

KA A B 7S AR R 3R R 202546 A
SOBREESHE LIRETZ -

issue by the board of directors on 30 June
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Lam Keung
I AE

Director

EF

HATESKERZE:

Ms. Cheng Yu Pik
BFExt
Director

EF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FEMBBMRME

For the fifteen months ended 31 March 2025 # Z2025F3 A31H i + 7 18] A

36. Statement of financial position and
reserve movement of the Company

(continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

36. gﬁﬂﬂﬁ%ﬂkﬁ%&ﬁ%ﬁ%
(%)

(b) EATIREEEE

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
I 1 i B AitBHE -5
Ussooo Ussooo Uss0o0o
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 #2023%181A 14,700 (15,608) (908)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ FRABERZA
loss for the year BEAR — (4,340) (4,340)
At 31 December 2023 and 2023512 A31A &
1 January 2024 202441818 14,700 (19,048) (5,248)
Loss and total comprehensive ~ HAEBE K 2@
loss for the period BRAES - (495) (495)
At 31 March 2025 11202534318 14,700 (20,443) (5,743)
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AEMBEME

RESULTS ¥i5
Year ended 31 December
BE12ABLEE
Fifteen
months
ended
31 March
2025 2023 2022 2021 2020
B=E
20255
3A31H
Lt+A@A 20234 20224 20214 20204
Uss’o0o us$000 us$000 us$000 us$ 000
FETT FET FET FETT FETT
Revenue KA 76,963 66,316 121,710 222,040 153,919
(Loss)/profit before RETFTS AT
income tax (B18),/ F 8 (12,048) (8,649) (2,077) 2,486 2,549
Income tax (expense))  FIB# (FX),/
credit ) (86) (1,100) 493 (315) (528)
(Loss)/profit FE/HHE
for the period/year (E1#8)/ F 8 (12,134) (9,749) (1,584) 2,171 2,021
(Loss)/profit attributable  ARNA B A A B
to owners of (E18)/ F
the Company (12,134) (9,749) (1,584) 2,171 2,021
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEMBME

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERBE
As at 31 December
»12H31H
As at
31 March
2025 2023 2022 2021 2020
120254
38318 20234 20224 20214 20204
uss$ooo  US$000  US$000  US$000  US$000
FETT FET FETT FET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FERBEE 10,059 11,046 12,546 9,059 9,009
Current assets REEE 31,997 43,143 53,259 68,141 58,780
Total assets EEBE 42,056 54,189 65,805 77,200 67,789
LIABILITIES BfE
Current liabilities mEAE 27,774 31,177 31,219 42,708 35,770
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 2,976 415 108 160 67
Total liabilities BELE 30,750 31,592 31,327 42 868 35,837
Net current assets REBEEFE 4,223 11,966 22,040 25,433 23,010
Net assets BEFE 11,306 22,597 34,478 34,332 31,952
EQUITY i
Equity attributable ZAN/NIEZZ =N
to owners of the JE {5 #E 25
Company:
Share Capital % 1,417 1,417 1,417 1,032 1,032
Reserves =] 9,889 21,180 33,061 33,300 30,920
Total equity RSk 11,306 22,597 34,478 34,332 31,952
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